KWAME NKRUMAH UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY, KUMASI

Geoinformation Modelling of Peri-Urban Land Use and Land Cover Dynamics for Climate Variability and Climate Change in the Bosomtwe District, Ghana

by

Divine Odame Appiah

(MPhil, BA (Hons); Geography & Res. Dev't; MSc. Environmental Eng. & Sust. Infra.)

A Thesis Submitted to the Department of Civil Engineering College of Engineering In Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the

Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

CORSHE

WJSAINE

Climate Change and Land Use



DECLARATION

I hereby declare that this PhD thesis is my own production under supervision of my academic advisors. To the best of my knowledge, except for the references cited which have been duly acknowledged, no section of the work is a reproduction or submitted wholly or in part, for the award of any degree in any University elsewhere.

| Divine Oda | ame APPIAH | | |
|-------------|-------------------------|-----------|------|
| (Candidate | e) | Signature | Date |
| Certify by: | Prof. Eric K. Forkuo | | |
| 1 | (Supervisor) | Signature | Date |
| Certify by: | Prof. John T. Bugri | | ~ |
| | (Supervisor) | Signature | Date |
| Certify by: | Prof. Dr. Dietrich Schr | oec | MAR |
| | (Supervisor) | Signature | Date |
| | WJSI | ANE NO | |
| Certify by: | | | |

Prof. Yaw Adubofour TUFFOUR

Signature

KNUST HIRSAD W J SANE BADH 220

Date

ABSTRACT

This study modelled the socioeconomic drivers and the actual land use and land cover (LULC) changes, with special reference to vegetation cover and local climate variability and change, in the peri-urban Bosomtwe District of the Ashanti region of Ghana. A triangulation of qualitative and quantitative design was used among 270 household respondents. Using a multistage sampling technique, partially pre-coded questionnaires were administered in 14 communities. Data were analyzed using non-parametric tools as Pearson's Chi-square, Nagelkerke R^2 and Cramer's V, and step-wise binary logistic regression analyses embedded in the Statistical Package for Social Scientists (SPSS v.16). Remote Sensing and Geographic Information System algorithms were used in ENVI, ERDAS Imagine ESRI and ArcGIS environment, to classify LULC, using maximum likelihood classifier to analyze Landsat Thematic Mapper and Enhanced Thematic Mapper+ images, and Landsat 8, Operational Land Imager and Thermal Infrared Sensor (OLI/TIRS) images of 1986, 2002, 2007/2008, 2010 and 2014 respectively. The best Kappa hat statistic of classification accuracy is 83%. A MannKendall trend analysis was also done on the climatic data, using MAKESEN Solver in EXCEL. At a confidence level of 99.9%, perceived drivers of peri-urban land use changes in the communities were significant at p < .000. The Cramer's V test of a strong association between two nominal variables was 0.412. The logistic regression model reported confidence intervals (CIs) of $1.218 \le CI \le 4.234$, for the three main predictors of the land use conversion outcome, indicating the odds of up to 4 times of conversion likelihood. The normalized difference vegetation indices (NDVIs) for forest cover, plantation and other cultivated lands ranged between 0.384 and 0.570; while recent fallows and grassland as well as bare lands had NDVI values of between 0.081 and 0.250. Over the period, dense forest decreased by 1380 ha in 2014, while low forest (which included some oil palm and citrus plantation farms), increased by 1766 ha in 2014. However, Built up, bare and concrete land uses increased by 3360 ha, while recent fallows and grasslands decreased by 3356 ha, over the same period. Inter-quarterly rainfall and temperature anomalies depicted generally increasing trends in the mean monthly temperature over the last two inter-decadal periods (1990-2000 and 2001 to 2011). Land surface temperature profile extracted from the satellite images cohered with the LULC characteristics, expressed in the novel concepts of Rural Cool Troughs (RuCT) and Peri-urban Heat Troughs (PuHT). The study indicates major changes in the deteriorating livelihoods, easy access to, as well as changing demand for land are affecting peri-urban landscape of the Bosomtwe district. The study recommends that a strict enforcement of district land use plans by the Bosomtwe District Assembly. For further research, the use of high resolution images is recommended to forestall the inherent minor misclassification. Relationship between DEM and LULC in a mountainous landscape as the Bosomtwe district should be explored along-side policy mechanisms.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

-

| Declaration | i |
|-------------------|--------------|
| Abstract | ii |
| Table of contents | iv List |
| of Tables | xi List of |
| Figures | xiii List of |
| Acronyms | xvi |
| Acknowledgement | xix |

CHAPTER 1: SYNOPTIC PERSPECTIVES OF THE STUDY

| 1.1 Introduction The Research Problem and Knowledge Gaps | 1 1.2 |
|---|--------------|
| 1.2.1 Research problem | 4 |
| 1.2.2 The knowledge gap | |
| 1.3 Research Objectives and Questions | 7 |
| 1.3.1 Main Objective | |
| 1.3.2 The Specific Objectives | |
| 1.3.3 The Research questions | |
| 1.4 Hypotheses | |
| Justification of the Study | |
| Structure of the Thesis Report | 10 |
| | |

| 2.1.1 Peri-urbanization and land use competitions | .15 |
|---|-----|
|---|-----|

2.1.2 The Land Use and Land Cover and the Climate Change Arguments16

| 2.2 General and Operational Definition and Measurement of Terminologies |
|---|
| 2.2.1 Peri-Urban Areas and Peri-Urbanization 18 2.2.2 Concepts and Conception of LULC Change 18 |
| Overview of Land Use Policy of Ghana20 |
| 2.3.1 Land Ownership and Use Dynamics in Ghana |
| 2.4 Theories and Models of LULC Change Underpinning the Study22 |
| 2.4.1 Introduction22 |
| 2.4.2 Political Ecological Theory24 |
| 2.4.2.1 The relevance of human ecological thinking to the |
| <i>study</i> 25 |
| 2.4.3 Urban and Regional Mathematical Ecology (URME)27 |
| 2.4.4 Statistical Modelling29 |
| 2.5 Applying the Driver-Pressure-State-Impact and Response (DPSIR) Model |
| 2.5.1 The Modified DPSIR Model for the Study |
| 2.6 Application of Integrated Models of Land Use Change |
| 2.6.1 Situational Perspectives of LULC Dynamics in Ghana |
| 2.7 Drivers of Peri-Urban Land Use |
| 2.7.1 Outcomes of Intrinsic and Extrinsic Peri-Urban Land Use |
| Conversion Decision |
| 2.8 Implications of LULC Drivers for Climate Variability and Climate Change |
| Summaries and Conclusions of the Literature Synthesis 50 |

| CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 3.1 |
|---|
| of the Bosomtwe District |
| 3.2.1 Profile of the Study Area533.2.2 Climate and vegetation56 |
| 3.3 Land Related Practices 58 3.4 Occupational Distribution 59 3.5 Materials and Methods 61 |
| 3.5.1 Acquisition of Satellite Images for LULC Analysis61 |
| 3.5.2 Other Materials Used65 |
| 3.6 Socioeconomic Survey Method |
| 3.6.1 The Research Design66 |
| 3.6.2 Sampling Techniques |
| 3.6.3 Sample Size |
| 3.6.4 Survey Instrument Used |
| 3.6.4.1 Focus Group Discussions and Key Informant |
| Interview70 |
| 3.7 Data Analysis and Results Presentation |
| 3.8.1 Spatial Analytical Methods71 |
| 3.8.1.1 Building and Creation of Geodatabase for |
| ArcMap Applications |
| 3.8.1.2 Satellite Image Sub-setting for LULC |
| Classification |
| 3.8.2 Test Classification |
| 3.8.3 Selection of Class Spectral Signatures |
| 3.9 LULC Classes Separability77 |
| 3.9.1 Jeffries-Matusita Distance Separability and Kappa |
| v i i |

| Statistic Accuracy Assessment77 | |
|--|---|
| 3.9.1.1 Spectral Separabilty | |
| 3.10 The LULC Classification Procedure78 | |
| 3.10.1 Kappa Classification Accuracy Assessment | |
| 3.11 LULC Change Detection and Transition Analyses79 3.11.1 LULC Change Transition80 | |
| 3.11.2 Normalized Difference Vegetation Index | |
| Analysis of Climatic Data82 | |
| 3.12.1 Data validation and analysis | |
| 3.12.2 Time Serial Analysis of Temperature | |
| 3.12.3 Mann-Kendall analysis if trend in Rainfall data | |
| 3.12.4 Sen's Slope estimate | i |
| 3.13 Land surface temperature extractions | |
| 3.13.1 Procedural Algorithms of LST Extraction from | |
| Satellite Images | |
| 3.13.2 Spectral Radiance Scaling Method | |
| 3.13.3 Apparent Brightness Temperature | |
| 3.14 Summary of Materials and Methods90 | |

| CHAPTER 4: SOCIOECONOMIC DRIVERS AND RESPONSES T PERIURBAN LAND USE CHANGES 4.1 | ro st |
|--|------------------------|
| Introduction from the socioeconomic survey | 92 4.2. Results |
| 4.2.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents | 93 |
| 4.2.2 Main Causes of Peri-Urbanization in the Bosomtwe District. | 96 |
| 4.2.3 Major Human Activities that mostly Affects Land | |
| Uses as by the Community | 97 |
| V | |
| i | |
| i | |
| i | |

| 4.3 Peri- Urban Land Uses, Drivers and Change99 |
|--|
| 4.3.1 Land Use Activities Altering Peri-Urban LULCS in the |
| Bosomtwe District |
| 4.3.2 Drivers of competition for peri-urban land use in the Bosomtwe |
| District |
| 4.3.3 Relationship between peri-urbanization and peri-urban |
| land use change in the Bosomtwe district100 |
| 4.4 Past Peri-Urban Land Use Conversion and Modifications Patterns in the |
| L and Use Conversion and Perceived Future L and Use |
| Trends |
| use patterns |
| 4.6.1 Factors influencing selected households' land use |
| conversion decisions106 |
| 4.6.2 Gender differentials and household decisions on LULC change110 |
| 4.6.3 Household Agents' Decision on Original |
| Land Use Conversions113 |
| 4.6.4 Implications of the Land Use Conversion Decisions113 |
| 4.7 Conclusion 114 |
| Culation 1 |
| CHAPTER 5: SPATIAL ANALYSIS OF LAND USE AND LAND COVER AND VEGETATION COVER DYNAMICS 5.1 |
| Introduction115 |

| 5.1.1 Results of LULC Accuracy Assessment | 115 |
|--|-----|
| 5.1.2 The satellite images and LULC classes Analyses | 118 |
| 5.1.3 Analysis of LULC classes for 1986 image | 118 |
| 5.1.4 Analysis of LULC classes for 2002 image | |
| 5.1.5 Analysis of LULC classes for 2007 image | |
| 5.1.6 Analysis of LULC classes for 2010 image | 123 |

| 5.1.7 Analysis of LULC classes for 2014 image125 |
|--|
| 5.1.8 LULC Classes Change Trends Between 1986 and 2002128 |
| 5.1.9 LULC Classes Change Trends Between 2002 and 2007129 |
| 5.1.10 LULC Classes Change Trends Between 2007 and 2010130 |
| 5.1.11 LULC Classes Change Trends Between 2010 and 2014130 |
| 5.1.12 The Rate of LULC Change |
| 5.2 Land Use and Land Cover Change Transition Matrices 132 5.2.1 Introduction132 |
| 5.2.2 Land use class Transition Matrix from 1986 to 2002133 |
| 5.2.3 Land use class Transition Matrix from 2002 to 2007134 |
| 5.2.4 Results of Land use class Transition Matrix from 2007 to 2010137 |
| 5.2.5 Land use class Transition Matrix from 2010 to 2014 |
| 5.3 The LULC Projections |
| 5.3.1 Projections of LULC by 2018141 |
| 5.4 Vegetation Cover Change Analysis In The Bosomtwe District143 |
| 5.4.1 Introduction 143 |
| 5.4.1.1 The Underpinning Theory for NDVI144 |
| 5.4.2 Analysis of the NDVI and LULC maps from 1986 to 2007145 |
| 5.5 Relationship between LULC and NDVI for the Study Area145 |
| 5.5.1 Estimated NDVI Values with LULC Classes of 2002 Image |
| 5.6 Conclusion |

CHAPTER 6: ANALYSIS OF RAINFALL AND TEMPERATURE FOR CLIMATE VARIABILITY IN THE BOSOMTWE DISTRICT 6.1

| Introduction | |
|---|-----|
| Results of the analysis of rainfall data | |
| Analysis of trend in the maximum Temperature values | 157 |
| 6.3.1 Inter-annual Temperature Variability | |

| 6.3.2 Intra-annual Variability of Temperature | 159 |
|---|---|
| 6.4 Forecasting from the Time Serial Analysis and Regression | Fitting the 162 6.5 Conclusion 164 |
| CHAPTER 7: LAND SURFACE TEMPERATURE F 7.1Introduction | EXTRACTS 166 ugh (PuHT) and |
| Rural Cool Trough (RuCT) | |
| 7.2 Results of LULC of land surface temperature extr Analysis of LULC classes for 2002 image Analysis of LULC classes for 2007 and Land Surface | racts167 7.3 168 7.4 Temperature for 2008 |
| image | 5 Analysis of LULC classes for6 Analysis of LULC Classes for |
| 2014 Image 172 7.7 | |

8.4.1 Gender differentials and household decisions on

of LULC dynamics on NDVI values as

proxies to vegetation health......183

8.6.2 Changing patterns of LULC with respect of vegetation cover.....187 8.7

Juxtaposition of the perceptual and actual outcomes of the

| analyses | 188 8.8 The |
|---|--------------------|
| implications of rainfall and temperature variability on local | |
| climate190 | |
| 8.8.1 Discussions of Rainfall variability | 190 |
| 8.8.2 Discussions of Temperature Variability | 191 |
| 8.9 Implications of LULC Change on Rural and Peri-Urban LST | |
| Regime 192 | |
| 8.10 Conclusion | 193 |

CHAPTER 9: SUMMARIES OF KEY FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 9.1

| Intro Probl Findi | duction | 195 9.2 The 5 9.3 Key 5 |
|-------------------------|--|---|
| | 9.3.1 Socioeconomic Drivers of LULC Change | 197 |
| | 9.3.2 LULC Dynamics and Trends | 197 |
| | 9.3.3 Vegetation Cover Change Trends | 198 |
| | 9.3.4 Rainfall and Temperature Analyses for Climate Variability an | d |
| | Change | 198 |
| | 9.3.5 Land Surface Temperature for RuCT and PuHT Regimes | 199 |
| 9.4 C Reco | onclusions mmendations | |
| | 9.5.1 Recommendations for Policy | 202 |
| | 9.5.2 Issues for Further studies | 203 |
| | 9.5.3 Contributions to Knowledge and Literature | 204 |
| | 9.5.3.1 Contribution to Knowledge | 204 |
| | 9.5.3.2 Contribution to the Literature from the Thesis | 204 |
| REFI | ERENCES | 206 |
| Arri | | |

i

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 5.12: Land use class Transition Matrix from 1986 to 2002 | 134 |
|---|------------|
| Table 5.13: Land Use transition Probability Matrix 1986 to 2002 | 134 |
| Table 5.14: Land use class Transition Matrix from 2002 to 2007 | 135 |
| Table 5.15: Land Use transition Probability Matrix 2002 to 20075.16: Land use class Transition Matrix from 2007 to 2010 | .136 Table |
| Table 5.17: Land Use transition Probability matrix 2007 to 2010 | .138 |
| Table 5.18: LULC transition matrix between 2010 and 2014 | .139 |
| Table 5.19: Land Use transition Probability matrix from 2010 to 2014 | .139 |
| Table 5.20: LULC transition matrix between 2002 and 2014 | .141 |
| Table 5.21: Land Use transition Probability matrix 2002 to 2014 | .141 |
| Table 5.22: Projected LULC classes Areas in Hectares by 2018 | .142 |
| Table 5.23: Projected LULC classes Areas in Hectares by 2028 | .143 |
| Table 5.24a: Composite table of the NDVI values from 1986 to 2007 | .149 |
| Table 5.24b: Composite table of the NDVI values from 2010 and 2014 | 150 |
| Table 6.1: Result of Mann-Kendall and Sen's Slope Statistics of | 1 |
| Rainfall Values | 153 |
| Table 6.2: Slope Estimate of the Inter-Seasonal | |
| Rainfall Trends (1981-2011) | 155 |
| Table 6.3: Result of Mann-Kendall and | |
| Sen's Slope Statistics | |
| Table 7.1: Extracted Maximum, Minimum, Mean and Standard | \$ |
| Deviation of Land Surface Temperature from Images | .174 |
| WJ SANE NO BADY | |

- х
- i
- v

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 2.1: The Driver, Pressure State Impact Response Model |
|---|
| Figure 2.2: The Modified DPSIR framework adapted from |
| Smeets and Weterings (1999) |
| Figure 3.1 Map of the Bosomtwe District showing the study |
| communities in Ghana57 |
| Figure 3.2: District Occupational Structure Source: 2000 Population and |
| Housing Report, 200560 |
| Figures 3.3 (A-F): The Landsat ETM/ETM+ Satellite Images for 1986, 2002, |
| 2007, 2008, 2010 and OLI/TIS Image of 2014 respectively, used |
| in the classification of the LULC types62 Figure 3.4: The flow |
| chart of the sequence of socioeconomic survey |
| methods71 |
| Figure 3.5: Example of <i>Jeffries-Matusita</i> Distance measurement of class |
| separation |
| Figure 3.6: Example Bands Separability by signature mean plots |
| Figure 3.7: Methodological work flow in ERDAS Imagine and ArcGIS82 |
| Figure 3.8: Methodological flow chart of the LULC and LST Extraction |
| procedures |
| Figure 4.1: The main causes of peri-urbanization according to |
| respondents in the district97 |
| Figure 4.2: Main human activities that alter peri-urban LULCs |
| Figure 4.3: Main factors driving LULC changes |
| Figure 4.4: Land use activity trend over the past 10 years |
| Figures 4.5: Land use trend in the next 10 years104 |
| Figure 4.6: Proportional Change in LULC105 |
| Figure 4.7: Responses of reasons to convert land use types109 |

| Figure 5.1: LULC Map of 1986 Landsat 5 TM image119 |
|---|
| Figure 5.2: LULC classes Area (ha) for 1986 |
| Figure 5.4: LULC classes Area (ha) for 2002121 |
| Figure 5.5 LULC Map of 2007 Landsat 7 ETM+ image122 |
| Figure 5.6: LULC classes Area (ha) for 2007123 |
| Figure 5.7: LULC Map of 2010 Landsat 7 ETM+ image124 |
| Figure 5.8: LULC classes Area (ha) for 2010 |
| 5.9: LULC Map of 2014 Landsat 8 OLI/TIS image125 |
| Figure 5.10: LULC classes Area (ha) for 2014126 |
| Figure 5.11: Composite LULC classes per year128 |
| Figure 5.12: LULC change trends from 1986 to 2014132 Figure |
| 5.13a: Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) |
| map of 1986 image146 |
| Figure 5.13b: LULC map of 1986 image147 |
| Figure 5.14a: Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) |
| map of 2002 image147 |
| Figure: 5.14b: LULC map of 2002 image 148 |
| Figure 5.15a: Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) |
| map of 2007 |
| Figure 5.15b: LULC map of 2007 image150 |
| Figure 6.1: Frequency of Trend types in rainfall over the 31-year |
| period154 |
| Figure 6.2: Inter-decadal rainfall variability (1981-2011) |
| Figure 6.3: Mean Annual rainfall anomalies from 1981-2011156 |
| Figure 6.4: Seasonal variability from 1081-2011 157 |
| Figure 6.5: Temperature variability about the baseline |

- x v i

| temperature (1981-2011) | | |
|--|----|--|
| Figure 6.6: First intra-quarterly mean monthly temperature variability | | |
| between 1981and 2011160 | | |
| Figure 6.7: Second intra-quarterly mean monthly temperature variability between 1981 and 2011161 | | |
| Figure 6.8: Third intra-quarterly mean monthly temperature variability | | |
| between 1981 and 2011 16 | 52 | |
| Figure 6.9: Final intra-quarterly mean monthly temperature variability | | |
| between 1981 and 2011162 | | |
| Figure 6.10: Regression of Maximum Temperature with Forecasted Maximum | | |
| Temperature163 | | |
| Figure 6.11: The time series forecast of mean annual temperature of | | |
| the Bosomtwe District | 1 | |
| Figure 7.1: LULC classes Area (Ha) for 2002169 | | |
| Figures 7.2 (a & b): Land Surface Temperature extracts of the 2002 Image with | | |
| corresponding surface temperature fluxes170 | | |
| Figure 7.3: LULC classes Area (Ha) for 2007171 | | |
| Figures 7.4 (a & b): Land Surface Temperature extracts of the 2002 Image wit | th | |
| corresponding surface temperature fluxes172 | | |
| Figure 7.5: LULC classes Area (Ha) for 2007 | | |
| Figures 7.6 (a & b): Land Surface Temperature extracts of the 2008 | | |
| Image with corresponding surface temperature Fluxes | | |
| AD SOL | | |
| WJ SANE NO | | |

x v i i

LIST OF ACRONYMS

AFOLU - Agriculture, Forestry and Other Land Uses

AGRA - Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa

APF - African Partnership Forum

BMBF- Federal Ministry of Education and Research

CCAFS - Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security

CDM - Clean Development Mechanism COMESA - Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa

CO₂ - Carbon Dioxide CVCC – Climate Variability and Climate Change

DFID- Department for International Development

DPSIR - Driver, Pressure, State, Impact and Response

ENSO - El Niño-Southern Oscillation EPA- Environmental Protection Agency

ETM+- Enhanced Thematic Mapper plus

FANRPAN - Food, Agriculture and Natural Resources Policy Analysis Network

G-META- Ghana Meteorological Agency

FAO - Food and Agricultural Organization GDP - Gross Domestic Product GHG -

Greenhouse gases

IET - International Emissions Trading

IPCC – Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

ITCZ - Inter Tropical Convection Zone JI - Joint Implementation

LULC- Land use and Land Cover

LST – Land Surface Temperature

LULUCF – Land Use Land Use Change and Forestry

MICCA - Mitigation of Climate Change in Agriculture

MoFA - Ministry of Food and Agriculture

NAMAs - National Appropriate Mitigation Actions

NAPAs - National Adaptation Programs of Action NCAR - National Center for

х

Atmospheric Research

NCCC- National Climate Change Committee

NDPC- National Development Planning Commission

NDVI- Normalized Difference Vegetation Index

NGO - Non-Governmental Organizations

OLI- Operational Land Imager

PuTH- Peri-Urban Heat Trough

REDD - Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation REDD+ -

Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation with conservation and

sustainable management RuCT- Rural Cool Trough

SPSS – Statistical Package for Social Sciences

SSA - Sub-Saharan Africa

TIS - Thermal Infrared Sensor

UNFCCC - United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

USAID - United States Agency for International Development

WASCAL – West Africa Science Service Centre for Climate Change and Adapted Land Use

WMO - World Meteorological Organization

ZEF - Centre for Development Research



x i

х

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

To God be the Glory Great thing He has done! I thank God Almighty for giving me life, wisdom and great health to do this work. I am particularly grateful the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF), Germany and the West African Science and Service Centre of Climate Change and Adapted Land Use, for the award of the PhD Scholarship and financial support for this study. I also appreciate the Centre for Development Research (ZEF), University of Bonn, for their immense monthly support, whiles in Germany. I am highly appreciative of my academic supervisors Professor Eric K. Forkuo and Professor John T. Bugri of the Departments of Geomatic Engineering and Land Economy and Real Estate respectively, in KNUST for their indefatigable guidance and mentoring during the PhD process. I am also appreciating with great thanks, Professor Dr. Ing. Dietrich Schroeder, Dean of the Department of Photogrammetry and Geoinformatics, Stuttgart University of Applied Sciences. Particularly, by disposing resources and logistical support in the form of their Remote Sensing and GIS laboratory to get access to some current software for this study during my academic visit in Stuttgart, Germany. I also thank Messrs Miguel Vallejo, Abdullah Rahman, Sampson Yamba and all my Teaching Assistants (Balikisu, Stephanie, Lois, Clement, Afia, Osei and Bernice) for their assistance during the Data Collection. I thank my colleagues Raymond, Badabate and Mahmoud, for their support. I also thank Miss Jemimah Abena Nyamekye for proofreading the thesis for language and grammatical coherence. I thank my family for their support and tolerance during my absence in the fields and on writing retreats. I finally thank the External Assessors and Prof A. A. Duker for their constructive critique and facilitation of the correction of the thesis.



CHAPTER 1: SYNOPTIC PERSPECTIVES OF THE STUDY

1.1 Introduction

Peri-urbanization has been identified as a ubiquitous process caused by the rapid population growth (Shalaby and Gad, 2010). Expanding the urban frontiers onto arable lands has potentials to degrade vegetation (Shalaby *et al.*, 2004), with dire implication on climate variability and change.

In earlier studies, land-use changes have been established to have had some influence on local climate and may further impact on climate variations at the regional level (Salvati *et al.*, 2013). Globally, reduced precipitation for instance, is a clear evidence of variable climates under changing land use and land cover (LULC) in peri-urban areas. The continuous vegetation decrease in peri-urban areas leads to greater surface sensible heat which enhances convective circulation. The reduced vegetation also decreases the latent heat flux at the surface, which reduces the amount of moisture available for cloud formation (Cheng and Chan 2012).

Although climate change is not a new phenomenon, it has in this present age, taken the centre stage in the development agenda due to the alarming rate of anthropo-driven land use activities and their adverse impacts on the climate system. This is, perhaps due to the compelling evidence it has shown in the areas of aggressive human demands on the nature for resources, considered as critical drivers for socio-economic development

(IPCC, 2008). According to Fall *et al.*, (2010), recent scientific studies have demonstrated that climate forcing from LULC dynamics have significantly impacted on temperature trends.

In this study the operational definition of LULC are defined as follows; *land cover is the entire complex attribute coverage on the earth surface; while land use is the anthropogenic value put on a particular land cover type*. The Bosomtwe district is one of the fast expanding peri-urban settings in the Kumasi Metropolis (Afriyie *et al.*, 2013). It has one of fastest growing rates of private land acquisition and residential sprawl in response to the changing human populations' choice of relocation, away from the Kumasi city centre. The ever-increasing concentration of residential and commercial activities, however, are reducing the vegetation cover and gradually urbanizing the rural landscapes through peri-urbanization continuum.

The real life manifestation of this LULC conversion problem is that climate change is a global phenomenon that has attracted a lot of attention in recent years. Governments and policy makers are now considering climate change in their policy framework and national programmes (IPCC, 2008). According to CARE (2010) climate change scenarios for Africa present an even bleaker picture for the future. This study seeks to address the research questions that have enormous potential for Regional Planning Units, the Bosomtwe Local Government Agencies (LGAs) and indeed the entire country to address

and monitor rural-urban land uses and land cover and their impacts on climate variability and change.

The tenets of human ecology as applied to this study, is engraved in the core discourse of human and environment interactions, based on certain identified and, sometimes the unknown, yet inherent drivers of the spatial processes. These processes, are driven by such factors as type of location of phenomena (rural, peri-urban and urban), human demographic change dynamics, location of settlements, the income of the people, the type of natural resources and the elasticity of the demand for them, technology as well as legal and political considerations as intrinsic attribute of social cohesion.

In view of the dominance of agrarian households in the district, it makes analytical convenient to offer a household level analysis and explanation between human and their environment relations (Zimmerer, 2004). This is because, unlike the macro-scale district and regional level analysis of peri-urbanization and land use, household-level analysis as prescribed by this study can offer a much-needed level of finer resolution relative to the spatially aggregated attributes of human-environment interaction that are up-scaled to the community, region and national levels. This assumption underpins the choice of this study to consider the various variables of interest that impinge on the LULC and climate variability and climate change nexus at the various scales of decision making.

1.2 The Research Problem and Knowledge Gaps

This sub-section, espouses the research problem and the research knowledge gaps identified from the literature review. These gaps are the driving forces of the problem statement and hypotheses underlying the study.

1.2.1 Research problem

There is general paucity of scientific data and information on the nexus between LULC dynamics coupled with the vagaries of climate variability and climate change, particularly in the Bosomtwe district and Ghana in general. Although some studies have demonstrated this linkages, these researches concentrated efforts in the arid and semiarid regions (Olesen and Bindi, 2002; Danfeng *et al.*, 2006; Sivakumar, 2007; Verstraete *et al.*, 2008; Lindner *et al.*, 2010). As a result, very little research attention has been offered to the semi-deciduous forest eco-climatic zones, especially in Ghana and in the Bosomtwe district in particular.

It suffices to note that earlier scientific works undertaken in the lake Bosomtwe District, concentrated on the paleogeological, geotechnical paleoclimatic analysis of the origins of the lake bed materials (Shanahan *et al.*, 2012). The climate change dimensions of these earlier researches did not consider *per se*, the LULC dynamics, which have greater social, political and economic implications for the populations of the 66 agrarian communities in the district.

The ever-increasing human populations with its concomitant growth in settlements, has had considerable effects on the land uses in the Bosomtwe District. Forest cover in the district is reducing as a result of the conversion of forests and agricultural lands into commercial and industrial land uses. Again, human activities of sand winning, tree logging, slush and burn agriculture, among other land uses, are also altering original

LULCs.

The processes of peri-urbanization in the Bosomtwe District of the Ashanti region of Ghana are considerably rapid (Afriyie *et al.*, 2013). There are conversions of arable lands and forest covers into residential and commercial land uses. These land use and cover processes with potentially adverse effects on sensitive local climatic variables such as rainfall, temperature, humidity and wind systems have not been adequately explored by research, for the Bosomtwe district. The absence of adequate reliable LULC data has the potential, to hamper effective policy planning for rural and urban space under climate variability and climate change for the Bosomtwe District.

1.2.2 The Knowledge gap

Remote sensing and geographic information system (RS/GIS) hold much prospect for analyzing the urban and peri-urban environment with a higher degree of effectiveness and clarity (Appiah *et al.*, 2015; Olokeogun *et al.*, 2014; Weng, 2001; Rimal, 2011; Asiyanbola, 2014). In spite of the potentials of the strengths of the application of this tool,

within the context of the Bosomtwe district and indeed Ghana, the literature has remained sparse on the integration of the application of the geoinformation tools with socioeconomic surveys in studying the synergy between changing peri-urban land use dynamics and climate variability and climate change in the Bosomtwe district of the Ashanti region of Ghana.

Many studies have concentrated attention on the generation of temperature profiles to measure the urban heat island (UHI) fluxes (Liu and Zhang, 2011; Srivastava *et al.*, 2010; Mbithi *et al.*, *nd*; Weng *et al.*, 2004; Weng, 2001). Climate change may well modify the urban heat island and rainfall effects, but the quantitative extents are unknown at this time (Blake *et al.*, 2011). Most of these studies have not considered explicitly, the potential effects of peri-urban heat trough (PuHT) systems that become heat islands in transition from the rural cooling troughs (RuCT), into ultimately, the socalled urban heat islands (Liu and Zhang, 2011). Operationally, this study defines the Peri-urban heat trough concept as the concentration of surface up-welling heat energy that can be sensed as evidence of changing land use patterns, in a peri-urban environment. These PuHT have the potential to become UHI as LULC change into urbanized landscapes.

Furthermore, various studies on land surface heating fluxes have largely focused on core urban heat islands as surrogates of extraction local urban climates (Liu and Zhang, 2011; Widyasamratri *et al.*, 2013). There is limited literature, however, on the conspicuous role of peri-urban areas in generating the ultimate heat island system. This study proposes that, considering the rapidity with which rural landscapes are being modified into periurban land uses with different surface reflectance as well as the increasing trends in built up and paved land uses, it is imperative to analyze the connections between the RuCT and PuHT systems, as potentially driving cells of full-fledge heat island areas.

In view of this the study sought to fill this yawning lacuna by applying the coupling methodology of Remote sensing and Socioeconomic sensing (RS/SS) approaches to address the problems of changing LULC dynamics and climate variability and climate change in the Bosomtwe District of the Ashanti region of Ghana. In this context, the study examined the intricate nexus between the consequences on the peri-urban LULC dynamics on vegetation cover changes as well as the local land surface temperature profiles as proxies of analyzing the local climate variability and change for the Bosomtwe district of the Ashanti region of Ghana.

1.3 Research Objectives and Questions

This sub-section also elucidates the main objective and the specific objectives underlying the study. It does so, by identifying and disaggregating the main objectives into the specific objectives as well as their corresponding research questions, from which the hypotheses are also derived for the study.

1.3.1 Main objective

The main objective of the study was to apply spatial correlation of Remote Sensing of earth observing data and socioeconomic data based on spatial analysis with the help of

BAD

Geographic information systems (GIS), to analyze the peri-urban land-use and land cover dynamics and their impacts on vegetation cover and local climate variability and climate change.

1.3.2 The specific objectives are to:

- Determine the extent and trends of peri-urban LULC dynamics of the Bosomtwe District
- 2. Assess the effect of LULC Change on vegetation abundance and resilience in the Bosomtwe district
- Identify and map the socioeconomic drivers of peri-urban LULC change in the Bosomtwe district
- 4. Analyze temperature and rainfall data from 1981—2011 for local climatic trends
- 5. Analyze satellite data for land surface temperature dynamics as proxies for local climate variability and climate change in the district

1.3.3 The Research questions

Within the perimeters of the identified problem and objectives, the research questions

are:

1. To what extent and trends are the peri-urban land uses and land cover in the Bosomtwe District changing?

- 2. What are the effects of LULC Change on vegetation abundance and resilience in the Bosomtwe district?
- 3. What are the socioeconomic drivers of peri-urban LULC change in the Bosomtwe district?
- 4. What are the climatic (temperature and rainfall) trend patterns in the district over 31 year (1981-2011) period?
- 5. How can satellite data be used to analyze land surface temperature dynamics as proxies for local climate variability and climate change in the district?

1.4 Hypotheses

The study is guided by the surmises that:

H0: There is no significant relationship between socioeconomic drivers and LULC change patterns.

H1: There is a significant relationship between socioeconomic drivers and LULC change patterns

H0: There is no significant relationship between peri-urban LULC dynamics and vegetation cover reduction in the district.

H1: There is significant relationship between peri-urban LULC dynamics and vegetation cover reduction in the district.

H₀: There is no significant difference between land surface temperature and LULC types.

H₁: There is a significant difference between land surface temperature and LULC types.

1.5 Justifications for the Study

There is the need to ascertain the current impacts of surface LULC changes on climate. The essence is to fill the knowledge gaps that exist as identified by the problem statement. The availability of knowledge generated on these conditions in the area, would help predict the future scenario for land use; particularly agriculture and forest land uses. This study has replicable prospects for the Kumasi Metropolitan and other District Assemblies nationwide, in their effective urban and peri-urban land use zoning and planning policies under climate change.

In recent times, knowledge generation and dissemination put emphasis on the exigencies for integrated approach and interdisciplinary knowledge cross-fertilization. The research is clearly an attempt of integrating the social science with the natural science that has blended techniques of the two disciplines to communicate the research results. In view of this, the research deliverables could be up-taken by both the scientific and nonscientific oriented persons, especially at the local government institutions, for their planning purposes. The research deliverables have the flair to deliver that crossdiscipline communication to the target audience. The research output (data, thesis report and scientific publications etc.) therefore, would be made available from local to national government scales, for policy formulation and implementation. This is especially crucial in our preparation to take-off with the United Nation's Global Development Agenda (UNGDA) of Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), especially the goals numbers 11, 13 and 15, which emphasize sustainable cities and communities, climate action and life on land respectively into the next 15 years.

1.6 Structure of the Thesis Report

Chapter one sets the tone of the study with the general introduction, research problem and knowledge gaps, and the objectives of the study as well as the outline of the hypotheses. To place the study in its theoretical perspective, Chapter two was devoted to the analysis, review and synthesis of the relevant literatures as well as the conceptual and theoretical ramifications of the study. These have been structured under relevant themes with subsections.

Chapter three describes profile of the Bosomtwe district and the Material and methods; both the socioeconomic and geoinformation procedures used to collect and analyze the data. Chapter four presents the results of the socioeconomic survey, by delivering the outcomes of the drivers of the peri-urbanization and the peri-urban land use dynamics in the Bosomtwe district. Chapter five is also devoted solely to the presentation of the analyses of the geo-spatial data from the use of remote sensing and GIS techniques to extract and model the LULC dynamics in the Bosomtwe district. In order to realize the objective of analyzing the effect of peri-urban land use changes on the vegetation cover of the district, Chapter Six was developed to present the results of the normalize difference vegetation index (NDVI) analysis in the district. Chapter seven contained the results of the analysis of rainfall and temperature as surrogate for local climate variability in the district.

Chapter eight also details the results from the land surface temperature extraction and analysis from the satellite images. This was used to explain the new concept of the Periurban Cool and Peri-urban Heat Troughs of the Bosomtwe district. The implications of the results so obtained were discussed in Chapter nine, to discuss and synthesize in the context of the study objectives as well as, for policy recommendations. Finally, Chapter ten summarizes the key findings, Conclusions and contributions to knowledge, policy recommendations and further research.



CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

In chapter one, the study espoused the main tenets of the nexus between land use and land cover dynamics and its implication for local climate variability and climate change. It does so, by highlighting, from global to local perspectives the definition of the problem statement and the identification of the knowledge gaps as well as the enumeration of the main and specific objectives set for the study.

In the context of the Bosomtwe district, which is the focus of area of study, this chapter is a review of the contextual arguments and dissection of the relevant literature on the nexus between peri-urban land use dynamics and climate change, using geo-information modelling techniques.

This chapter is structured under the following broad and sub-headings for analytical convenience. These include; peri-urban area and associated land use dynamics, drivers of the peri-urban LULC dynamics, application of geo-information models in LULC dynamics and the nexus between climate variability and climate change and land use dynamics in peri-urban areas. This has been done from the general global picture to the local perspectives of the study.
There is a complex relationship between peri-urban LULC change dynamics and the local climate variability and climate change (Davoudi *et al.*, 2010; Blanco *et al.*, 2009; Simon, 2008; Ewing *et al.*, 2007). The direction of these interactions usually depends on the strength of the two phenomena in influencing the other. The impacts of LULC on climate change is invariably translated from the depletion of the earth surfaces vegetation cover, which serve as a global sink to carbon dioxide emissions and other greenhouse gases (GHGs) emissions (Pielke *et al.*, 2011; Verburg *et al.*, 2011; UNFCCC 2012).

Land use and land cover dynamics are the defining features of the morphologic picturesque of every naturally or human-organized space. Using appropriate policy instruments, Dutta (2012) suggests that urbanization and for that matter periurbanization becomes synonymous with frequent land use changes that have varying impacts on the environment. In addressing the issues of sustainability, Allen *et al* (2006; 21), suggest that the peri-urban interface comprises a heterogenous mosaic of environmental and productive ecosystems working in combination with socioeconomic peculiarities.

In the peri-urban milieu, the lifestyle of land owners both old and new may still be strongly linked to the immediate urban areas in terms of social, cultural and occupational relationships (Busck, *et al.*, 2006). These are made possible, by improved infrastructure and mobility (Ravetz *et al.*, 2013). In addition, the structural development within the

agricultural sector in the peri-urban areas has forced many former full-time farmers to seek stronger relations to nearby urban areas.

Land use configuration in peri-urban areas therefore, follows a certain pattern of hierarchy which, depending on the direction and strength of force of influence would control the spatial spread of populations, infrastructure and the entire space economy. The directions and strengths of the rates of influences are measured by the various pull and push factors in the rural and the urban settings respectively. All these migration determinants, to a larger extent, are regulated by relevant community and state actors. In the event of laxed controls LULC on peri-urban to urban continuum there would be a disjointed and a disarray of peri-urban infrastructural development springing up, ahead of planning.

2.1.1 Peri-urbanization and land use competitions

According to Simon (2008), peri-urban areas are increasingly attracting middle-class and higher-income people whose lives exhibit lifestyles, reflective of inner-city dwellers in a predominantly rural setting. Conversely, the integration of such infrastructure as transport, information and communications technology (ICT) revolutions and the introduction of super-structure with its commercial replicates in the peri-urban areas, have enabled people from the core urban areas to relocate to these semi-urban localities; such areas described as, the edge cities (Simon, 2008:169) or peri-urban fringes (Narrain and Nischal (2007), Afriyie *et al.*, 2013).

Peri-urban land use alterations have dire implications for climate change. In the works of Gimona *et al.*, (2012), many landscapes including rural to the peri-urban landscapes that are object of conservation policy, are increasingly becoming a part of a network of exchanges of agricultural and forest commodities on the national to the international exchange arenas. These changes in rural to urban land use conversions lead to local climate changes. For instance the removal of vegetation and emissions of greenhouse gases that characterized urban life dynamics, alter the local climatic patterns. These climate variability and climate changes are expressed in the form of erratic rainfall patterns, increasing temperature, intense solar radiation and associated derived storms.

In peri-urban environments, scramble for land and its associated use conversions are due to economic globalization and land speculation in the peri-urban milieu due to urban expansion (Salvati and Carlucci, 2014). This has caused intensification of land use with a consequent increase of the human footprint (Appiah *et al.*, 2014a) and reduction in natural ecosystem habitat diversity (Appiah *et al.*, 2014a; Kleijn and Sutherland, 2003). Land fragmentation and attendant degradation have climate variability and climate change implications (Gimona *et al.*, 2012).

2.1.2 The Land Use and Land Cover and the Climate Change Arguments

Over the years, concerns on the impacts of LULC change have been increasing both locally and globally because of their impacts on land management practices, economic sustainability, social processes and climate change (IPCC, 2007). The rapidly

accelerating change in the landscape is associated with a wide variety of issues, including declining biodiversity global climate change and food security as well as land degradation, which amply applies to soils, vegetation, and water depletion (Darkoh, 2003). Much of the LULC changes occur by the anthropogenic forces (Kok *et al.*, 2001), impacting negatively and creating avenues for increased greenhouse gas emissions and accumulation in the atmosphere, with potential for climate variability and climate changes (Pielke, 2011; Houghton, 2012).

In recent decades, issues relating to land use and climate variation have come to the forefront of many environmental activists. Equally, specialized scientists and international organizations have realized the extent of influence of land surface dynamics on climate. In response to this, institutions have been established at international and national levels to research into land use and climate change, predict likely changes, assess likely impacts, and propose responses in terms of adaptation to climate change and mitigation to reduce the likely rate of change (Garnaut, 2011; Department of Environment and Resource Management, 2011).

Practicably, the most influential of these international organizations is the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), which was established in 1988 by two United Nations organizations, the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) (Kaindji *et al.*, 2007; Sara *et al*

17

2009). Although human activities have continually been causing changes to the land from one use to another, the IPCC was, yet to include these effects in their future climate reports (Kaindji *et al.*, 2007). Increasingly, more studies are pointing to how crucially important it is to include these LULC changes and their effects to better predict how climate will change in the ensuing years.

2.2 General and Operational Definition and Measurement of Concepts and

Terminologies

2.2.1 Peri-Urban Areas and Peri-Urbanization

Peri-urbanization occurs as a complex suite of processes of change, including counterurbanization and trends towards non-urban lifestyle preferences, pressure for urban expansion. They include the context of declining suburban housing affordability and increased mobility and the expanding reach of urban employment opportunities. Periurban regions have become central to international debates about urban expansion. They further present the uncertainties of future rural land management and the identity of rural communities in a globalizing and urbanizing countryside (McCarthy, 2008; Cadieux and Hurley, 2011), or processes of rural gentrification involving the entry of a postindustrial middle class (Hines, 2010).

2.2.2 Concepts and Conception of LULC Change

The conceptual perspective of land use changes and their environmental impact in rural areas is a research theme that has attracted considerable attention (Libby, 2002;

Polyakov and Zhang, 2008; Heimlich and Anderson, 2001; Dale *et al.*, 2005). The terms LULC are not synonymous and the literature point to their differences so as to be clearly understood in their rightful context of study. Land cover is the biophysical state of the earth's surface and immediate subsurface (Kummer and Turner, 1994).

In other words, land cover describes the physical state of the land surface: as in cropland, mountains, or forests including the quantity and type of surface vegetation, water, and earth materials (Moser and Dilling, 1997; Meyer 1996). The term originally referred to the type of vegetation that covered the land surface, but has broadened subsequently to include human structures, such as buildings or pavement, and other aspects of the physical environment, such as soils, biodiversity, and surfaces water (Houdon *et al.*, 2014). Land use involves both the manner in which the biophysical attributes of the land are manipulated by human within models for environmental decision making (Addison *et al.*, 2013).

In a similar vein, Moser and Dilling (1997), state that land uses are the purposes to which human beings employ the land and its resources. Lambin and others expand further and state that Land use itself is the human employment of a land-cover type, the means by which human activity appropriates the results of net primary production (NPP) as determined by a complexity of socio-economic factors (Lambin *et al.*, 2000).

Finally, the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) has defined the term land use to concern the function or purpose for which the land is used by the local human population

SAME

and can be defined as the human activities, akin to that submitted by Kummer and Turner (1994). The distinction between land use and land cover, although relatively easy to make at a conceptual level, is not so straightforward in practice as available data do not make this distinction clear all the time, a fact that complicates the explanations of either one of them.

2.3 Overview of Land Use Policy of Ghana

The national land use planning guidelines regulates the judicious use of any land in Ghana for the purposes of sustainable development (EPA, 2010). It does so by protecting environmental resources from land use activities purported to be a threat on these resources (Appiah *et al.*, 2014a). This is in tandem with the recognition of the fact that land is increasingly seen as a crucial factor of production. To buttress this view, Bugri (2007) in his study of the perception of stakeholders on land in Ghana's Northeast, observed that land is considered more as a means of production than was seen as an

ancestral heritage.

In this regard, Appiah *et al.* (2014a); Longa *et al.* (2007), stipulate that land use policies meant to promote economic development should integrate the pluralistic uses for sustainable development. It therefore suffices to posit that human settlement, industry, large-scale intensive agriculture or their expansion will have to make adequate provisions

of land, in anticipation of the changing demographic characteristics and mobility patterns in response to the changing location preferences.

With the exception of compulsory land acquisition by the state, of private lands for which compensations are paid (WaterAid, 2009), there are no comprehensive legal provisions that guarantee the right to compensation for loss of livelihood, specify resettlement and rehabilitation procedures, or assign responsibilities to this effect

(Kasanga and Kotey, 2001). Although the Lands Commission has to approve and ultimately allocate the formal leasehold title to the investor, land laws fail to specify criteria for approval; they merely stipulate that the Lands Commission determines whether or not the project is in congruence with existing development plans (Ghana Land Policy, 1999).

Currently, there are over 166 legal instruments in the statute books with some overlapping and others conflicting (Bugri, 2012a). These laws operate alongside customary laws in the country, creating a plural legal environment for land administration. Key among these laws are: Local Government Act, 1993 (Act 462);

Town and Country Planning Ordinance of 1945 (CAP 84); the Fourth (4th) Republican Constitution of the Republic of Ghana, 1992; and the Administration of Stool Lands Act, 1994 (Act 481) which repealed the Administration of Stool Lands Act, 1962 (Act 123).

2.3.1 Land Ownership and Use Dynamics in Ghana

The essence of regarding land as the main pillar for measuring economic growth in terms of capital and wealth in addition to its agrarian value cannot be overemphasized (Ding, 2004). Land ownership in Ghana can be classified into two broad categories: customary ownership (constituting 78% of the total land ownership) and that controlled by the state (20% of the total land area), with the remaining area under some form of mixed ownership (Kasanga and Kotey, 2001).

The Ghanaian Constitution of 1992 forbids the sale of customary land; it only allows for temporary alienation through leasehold titling. Customary land can only be reclassified to state land through the use of the state's right to eminent domain, which enables involuntary expropriation of customary land for the provision of public utility.

Customary law freehold (or usufruct title) can be acquired by sub-groups or individuals within traditional areas⁴, typically by being the first to cultivate that land, through inheritance or through allocation by traditional authorities (Fiadzigbey, 2006) with *allodial* title holding capacities.

Thus far, the land use policy and use dynamics in Ghana assumes a complex mix of institutions, regulations and ownership as well as the use dimensions. In view of this there is compliance confusion about the use of land within the confines of the laws/regulations, especially in areas such as peri- and urban areas, where the demographic changes create pressure on existing lands. This explains why, in most cases land use plans and

development activities in peri-and urban areas, seem tangential in their trajectories, towards any form of sustainability.

2.4 Theories and Models of LULC Change Underpinning the Study

2.4.1 Introduction

A theory is typically a model that tries to provide a general explanation for how some part of the world works as the ultimate abstraction (Weiss and D'Mello, 1997). Models on the other hand are the replication of the reality under controlled conditions, embedded with assumptions, which help in the evolution of and explanations in spatial dynamic systems (Batty *et al.*, 1999; Spicher *et al.*, 2014; Wilson, 2006). A theory is not just a description of what happens in a system (model), but a statement of the underlying rationale for why something (model) works in the way it does. Consequently, these approaches underlie the analysis of land use change (Alcamo *et al.*, 2011).

Theories are important to different categories of people and research-based activities. They have diverse applicability depending on the type of profession and intent for which they are applied, succinctly. They are relevant, whether teachers, researchers and policy makers. They guide our decisions about what to observe and how to make meaning out of the data gathered for a particular purpose (Huitt, 2009). Theories help us to find a coherent structure for organizing our data, and to predict beyond isolated observations by transforming the data into evidence from which to make generalizations. Sometimes inquiry helps to confirm a theory, and at other times the theory has to be modified in view of unexpected outcomes.

In view of this, the test of theory validity does not only depend on the empirical evidence but, the coherence and, especially, the applicability of same (Barlas, 2013). Realists argue that because societies are open systems in which the same conditions are rarely reproduced, theories cannot, operate as universal dictum, as asserted by positivist. At best, they can only enlighten the present of the events and meanings of events in the past whiles providing guidance to a clearer appreciation of the future (Johnston *et al.*, 1994).

The most plausible macro state of land use dynamics is subject to some constraints and opportunities. These include constraints of LULC change possibilities, especially occurring in a dynamically upward setting, like the Bosomtwe peri-urban area. Given the myriad of driving factors embedded in the demand and supply of land and associated resources, the hedonic tendencies of an area, as well as policy restrictions for instance, need to be tackled from multi-level power play discourse. Consideration must also be taken in the analysis of the inherent (in)abilities of potential changing agents to effect any change due to environmental, social and political opportunities and limitations in place. These interactions are usually considered appropriate for ensuring peri-urban space optimization. These approaches have been used, to explain the approximate distribution of actual LULC patterns in the Bosomtwe peri-urban district.

2.4.2 Political Ecological Theory

Political ecology (PE), according to Walker (2006) offers powerful analytical tools to understand more holistically the social and environmental problems. It places the analytical discourse of the relationship between environmental processes and societal interactions into perspective (Forsyth, 2008). PE obtained its structure from the interdisciplinary interplay of established subject areas as the new material from different social science disciplines such as Economics, Anthropology, Sociology, Geography, Environmental Sociology and Political Science. These social science disciplines, by virtue of their constant interaction with nature, needed a framework of socialenvironmental unison, to understand human societies and spatial organization in a holistic way. PE therefore, presented the possibility of a new organizing framework where natural sciences and social sciences could re-negotiate their subjects (Blaike, 2008).

PE is a combinative approach using a myriad ecological perspectives applied to different aspects of social sciences (Little, 2007). These sub-themes have their respectively, peculiar body of knowledge-generative capabilities, with variant insights, which can be used to understand different dimensions of socio-environmental realities. It must be understood that PE discourse does not intend to synthesize the respective knowledge generated from other socio-environmental analyses (Blaike, 2008). As was posited by Walker (2006: 391) *that "…if political ecology can mean almost anything, it can also mean almost nothing. The danger is that, to those outside, political ecology may come to appear as little more than disarticulated intellectual sprawl under a catchy label"*. The

main intents of PE in bridging the cultural and natural ecological divide, however, is to place the human environment interactions within a power and influence perspective. This means that PE approach to the human-environment dichotomy provides unique theoretical perspectives for understanding of the complex interrelations existing between human and environmental equilibrium (Muldavin, 2008).

2.4.2.1 The relevance of human ecological thinking to the study

For the purpose of this study, human ecology (HE) which aptly places the roles of human beings and their interactions with the natural and social environments is identified as more appropriate sub-theme/theory under the PE (Stokols et al., 2013). HE is a term originating from a sociological approach which borrows concepts and ideas from the field of Ecology and applies them to the analysis of human interactions with their physical and social environment (Lawrence, 2001). The issue of concern was the application of the concept to the explanations of the complex relationships existing between urban populace and their environmental milieus (Alberti et al., 2003). HE advances the conception of cities as areas of outward manifestation of processes of spatial competition and adaptation by social groups; these spaces correspond to areas of ecological struggle for environmental and social adaptation. An expression of this dictum tends to characterize the Bosomtwe district and the changing land use and land cover dynamics in response to the changing population dynamics as well as the out-push of the pressures on land from the urban core to the peri-urban fringes.

In this context, the study examined the intricate nexus between peri-urban residents' responses to peri-urbanization and its consequences on the peri-urban LULC dynamics of the Bosomtwe district of the Ashanti region of Ghana. The tenets of HE is engraved in the core discourse of human and environment interactions, base of certain identified and, sometimes the unknown, yet inherent drivers of the spatial processes. These processes, are driven by such factors as type of location of phenomena (rural, peri-urban and urban), human demographic change dynamics, location of settlements, the income of the people, the type of natural resources and the elasticity of the demand for them, technology as well as legal and political considerations as intrinsic attribute of social cohesion.

Considering the demographic dynamics of the district, predominated by agrarian households, it was analytically convenient to offer a household scale explanation between human and environment relations (Zimmerer, 2004). This is because

household-level analysis can offer a much-needed level of finer resolution relative to the spatially aggregated attributes of human-environment interaction that are scaled to the community, region and national scales. This assumption underpins the choice of this study to consider the various variables of interest at the household level.

2.4.3 Urban and Regional Mathematical Ecology (URME)

Urban and Regional Mathematical Ecology (URME), is another theoretical stream concerned with the study of processes leading to some complex patterns of urban systems approach to understand complex theory in the context of systems theory (Batty *et al.*,

RADH

1999 and Wilson, 2006). It borrows ideas and concepts from Ecology as well as from the general concept of Human Ecology and applies theories from urban entropy (Cabral, *et al.*, 2013; Wilson 2006; Lawrence, 2001; Mugerauer, 2010), to explain the changing dynamics of the peri- and urban regions.

Urban and rural populations residing at the peri-urban areas of the Bosomtwe district can be likened to the ecological system, where species' interactions are governed by symbiotic, predator-prey, competitive and other types of ecological relationships (Elmqvist and Maltby, 2010; McPherson and DeStefano 2003). These parallels are transferred to land uses which are seen emerging in certain places and growing while other land uses in other locations dwindling in size or disappear completely. The socioecological characteristics of the Bosomtwe district as a peri-urban area, certainly, exhibits traits of both rural and urban LULC mixes. These land use and cover mosaic is based on the inherent, interactions between humans (predations) and the land and its resources as the prey at the receiving end of the interactions.

Human agents, wielding the power of decision making, are able to influence their immediate as well as expanded territorial domains, leading to various LULC change outcomes. These ecological relations are analyzed both within and between cities, and in this context, the rural to the peri-urban interface even in a regulated rent market, with the ultimate aim to obtain the spatial and growth patterns which result from these relations (Alberti *et al.*, 2003).

The main tenet of this theoretical stream is based on macroscopic features of urban and regional phenomena. This can, however, be analyzed by focusing on the most important qualitative features of an urban area looking at it from peri-urban evolution perspective and progressing over a particular time frame (Kombe, 2005). Urban and Regional Mathematical Ecology attempts further to analyze the dynamic behaviour of urban and indeed peri-urban area systems in response to the existence of urban and peri-urban cycles of rapid growth or disappearance of certain land uses, arbitrary sub-urbanization, urban sprawling into slum settlements and associated conundrums (Cabral, *et al.*, 2013). It addresses the issue of dynamic, non-linear interdependencies, stability, orderly and heuristic changes, with multiple equilibra of spatial interactions.

Although these principles form the bases of most agent-based modelling, their assumptions are such that they tend to marginalize the erratic human behavioural changes in response to environmental and social conditions. In this regard, URME has been described as adulterated from origin in its quest to solve social and environmental dynamics. Indeed these theories have been described as having theoretical ambitions of delivering to the social-sphere, their insufficiencies in solving explicitly socioenvironmental problems. The criticisms though may contain some merits, their ability to first pushing the social frontiers towards some law and order seeking tendencies and secondly their ability to integrate human behaviour under some tenable assumptions, makes them worth trying.

2.4.4 Statistical Modelling

Application of statistical techniques to derive the mathematical relationships between dependent (response) variables and sets of independent or predictor variables data exploration is widespread in modelling socio-economic and other systems of interest (Stephenson, 2008). The most commonly used statistical technique is simple and multiple regression analysis. These also have their variations such as stepwise logistic regression in their very simple to more complex dimensions (Davison, 2008). The application of other multivariate techniques is also not uncommon; such as factor analysis, principal components analysis, etc. in the analysis and interpretation of data.

The direct object of statistical models is to analyze land use change, using determinant variables in a statistical model. They constitute components of larger models employed for the analysis of land use changes and their determinants (Odoemena, 2010). A distinction can be drawn between continuous models which treat land use as a continuous variable, with land devoted to a specific use type, and discrete models those which treat land use as a discrete variable in which different land use types are categorized (Irwin and Wrenn, 2012). In modelling land use change, usually, the study area is categorized into a group of pixels (gridded system) the size and shape of each corresponding to the collection of the particular land use type. The aggregation of the land use types employs the principles of some maximum likelihood of cell allocation to particular cell category.

In the continuous instance, for each zone, the distribution of land use types identified as the dependent variables as well as the values of other environmental and socio-economic

SANE

determinants, also called the predictor variables, such as population, employment, soil conditions, slope and climate are given. A multiple regression equation for each land use type is fit to these data (usually referring to a given year). The general form of the equation is:

$LUT_i \square a \square \square_1 X_1 \square \square_2 X_2 \square \square_3 X_3 \dots \square_n X_n \square \square$ 2.1

Where; LUT is the area of land occupied by land use type i (in each pixel) and X1, X2, X3 ... Xn are the predictor variables. The β_n are the coefficients of the predictor variables while the term \mathcal{E} is the error term of the model, usually resulting from heuristic tendencies

in the predictor variables.

This model format can be used to assess the degree and probabilities of land use types conversion and changes under various assumptions of the predictor variables characteristic in the equation.

2.5 Applying the Driver-Pressure-State-Impact and Response (DPSIR) Model

The conceptual framework underpinning the study is the Driver-Pressure-State-ImpactResponse (DPSIR) model. The Model framework was first adopted by the European Environment Agency (Zacharias *et al.*, 2008; Smeets and Weterings, 1999). The DPSIR approach is an upgraded development form of the Pressure–State–Response (PSR) framework developed by OECD (1993).

This framework is used to organize information about the state of environmental resources and the relationship between human activities with possible environmental changes. The DPSIR analysis is a valuable model, as it enables the parallel assessment of socio-economic and environmental parameters (Walmsey, 2002; Elliot, 2002) and cited in Zacharias *et al.*, (2008). Social and economic developments acting as the drivers, exert pressures on the environmental resources and result in changes in its state; i.e. the physical, chemical and biological features of the environment (Pirrone *et al.*, 2005).

Furthermore, these changes lead to Impacts on ecosystems, human health and natural processes and these impacts eventually, generate social and political Responses (Smeets and Weterings, 1999), which are needed for remedies to ensure environmental equilibrium. Such responses can affect any element of the DPSIR variables which can then create a feedback directly on the state of the environment or on the driving forces, hence, on human activities.

The DPSIR was particularly used for the analysis of sustainable management of the periurban LULC changes in the Bosomtwe district. This is because in such an area the major anthropogenic drivers derived from activities (Lin *et al.*, 2007), were the conversion of agriculture (arable) lands for the purposes of commercial and residential facilities. On forest frontiers, agricultural land expansion has led to the modification of some dense (closed canopy) and low (open canopy) forests to recent fallows/grassland covers.

This theoretical framework (Figure 2.1) is amenable to the study in order to detect and analyze the driving forces and their pressures on the LULC conditions, assess their state, identify the associated impacts and eventually, propose the necessary responses in order to restore, protect and preserve to ensure sustainable land uses in the Bosomtwe district. The development of the DPSIR model incorporated a profound analysis of the vegetation and non-vegetation land uses and covers in the district, taking the local social and economic characteristics into consideration.





Figure 2.1: The Driver, Pressure State Impact Response Model; After Smeets and Weterings (1999).

2.5.1 The Modified DPSIR Model for the Study

The modified model, encapsulates the human and natural attributes with their outcomes under interactions governed by spatial mathematical and statistical analyses. These entail the dependent (LULC changes and/or climate variability) and independent variables (human decisions on social and natural environment) based on plausible, as well as feasible assumptions. The LULC changes exhibit interactive forward and backward impacts linkages on climate variability and climate change in the Bosomtwe district (Figure 2.2).

These variables operating within the geographic information system (GIS) environment, yield varying spatial variability and configuration of the LULC types. It is upon these that human decisions are based for effective land use management. Thus, the drivers can be defined as the social and economic activities and processes in the broader Bosomtwe periurban area. These drivers create and exert the pressures for land in terms of demand and use competitions, resulting in the alteration of status of natural habitats (Kristensen and Alongi, 2006).



Figure 2.2: The modified DPSIR framework; Adapted from Smeets and Weterings (1999).

This approach is based on the concept of causal links that start with the increasing human populations and activities mixtures within the Bosomtwe district (driving forces); in the form of migration, rapid urbanization, demand for residential housing, commercialization of the landscape and recreation. These result in land use types that claim different territorial areas hitherto reserved for vegetation conservation and arable land purposes. The exerting pressures on the LULC changes affect the quantity of natural resource, expressed in the form of reduced forest covers, agriculture land expansion as well as built up and open up areas, replacing forested areas. Certainly, the state of the LULC lead to certain impacts (outcomes) which would require both positive and negative responses. These can be categorized as promotional as well as restrictive responses, depending on the rate and type of use categories of the resources (land) by human societies.

The utility of the DPSIR model (Smeets and Weterings, 1999; Pirrone *et al.*, 2005) with its variables/indicators (sets of physical, biological or chemicals variables) is limited because of the absence of the balanced choice of management offered to policy makers. It fails to offer clear and specific strategies for sustainable management of LULC, in the case of the peri-urban system of the Bosomtwe district.

The DPSIR framework approach has over-emphasized only the negative impacts without the due consideration to the possible positive connotation it could also bring. Impacts component of the framework could be highlighted as per the recommended enhancing and restrictive responses that is used to manage the resources. The response variable 'R' of the DPSIR, should also be seen as a managerial, rather than a remedial tool with both positive and negative dimensions to address the positive impacts (outcomes) and negative impacts (outcomes) of the use of the environmental resources, respectively.

2.6 Application of Integrated Models of Land Use Change

LULC dynamics are the current defining features of the peri-urban morphologic picturesque of every naturally or human-organized space, particularly in the Bosomtwe district of the Ashanti region of Ghana. This viewpoint has been supported by (Mandere *et al.*, 2010) that the peri-urban area seems to be characterized by a flux of rapid changes in land-use, built forms, economic activities, defined as places of conflict or competition which exist in between new (urban) and traditional (rural) land uses (Obeng-Odoom, 2012).

The changing land uses in the peri-urban areas have considerable impact on the local environmental changes in the Bosomtwe district. Using appropriate policy instruments Dutta (2012), suggests that urbanization and for that matter peri-urbanization becomes synonymous with frequent land use changes that has varying impacts on the rural environment. Supporting this assertion further, Vejre (2008) submits that land in urban and peri-urban areas in particular have become extremely important objects for planning and management, with increasing conflicting interests for their uses.

In addressing the issues of sustainability, Busck *et al.*, (2006), suggested that the periurban interface comprises a heterogeneous mosaic of environmental and productive ecosystems working in combination with socio-economic lifestyles of land owners' peculiar relationships with the immediate urban areas. In sub-Saharan African cities, functional decentralization and infrastructure provisioning are often advocated as sustainable solutions for improving unplanned and underserviced lands (Ricci, 2011). However, these postulates alone do not actually solve the problem of plausible unplanned land use at emerging urban fringes. It is widely argued that improved urban planning and provision of public services and infrastructure are crucial for the development and promotion of resilient cities (Stern, 2007) and for addressing individual and community interests (Arko-Adjei, 2011). In a similar manner, Larbi and KakrabaAmpeh (2013), have argued that land use in the peri-urban and rural areas of Ghana consists of a complex interdependence of different factors of livelihood support.

In the peri-urban milieu, the lifestyle of land owners both old and new may still be strongly linked to the immediate urban areas in terms of social, cultural and occupational relationships (Busck *et al.*, 2006). These are made possible, by improved infrastructure and mobility (Ravetz *et al.*, 2013), as well as the changing socio-economic demands of society with respect to rural and peri-urban land uses. In addition, the structural development within the agricultural sector in the peri-urban areas has forced many former full-time farmers to seek stronger relations with nearby urban areas; this is due to little incentive for farmers to invest fully in any conservation measures, particularly with land tenure insecurity (Marshall *et al.*, 2009 and Busck *et al.*, 2006).

The response of subsistent farmer land owners and users, expressed as human agents to the changing conditions of the environment, determines to a larger extent the main determining factors of peri-urban LULC change. However, differentiating the complex of new peri-urbanisms in aggregate is diverse (Butt, 2013); yet such an approach can move towards an appreciation of the morphology and distribution of peri-urbanization. These are evident by fragmented and uneven landscape that facilitates decentralization and encourages suburban sprawl. It then makes the formulation and implementation of strategic urban plans in major emerging cities untenable (Bourne *et al.*, 2003).

These multiple motivations for movement into peri-urban regions are not necessarily geographically discrete, although landscape character, urban accessibility, housing affordability, and the patterning of land use and land markets play a role in influencing the characteristics of inward migration to peri-urban regions (Lawanson *et al.*, 2012; Butt, 2013). According to Simon, 2008 peri-urban areas are increasingly attracting middle-class and higher-income people whose lives exhibit lifestyles, reflective of innercity dwellers in a predominantly rural setting.

Conversely, the integration of infrastructure in the form of transport and information and communications technology (ICT) revolutions as well as introduction of super-structure commercial centres has been replicated in the peri-urban areas. These have enabled people and industries to relocate to engage in work, from high-amenity rural or semiurban localities; area described as the edge cities (Simon 2008; *p.169*) or peri-urban fringes (Afriyie *et al.*, 2013).

KNUST

2.6.1 Situational Perspectives of LULC Dynamics in Ghana

The LULC configuration in peri-urban areas therefore, follows patterns of hierarchy which, are dependent on the direction and strength of force of influence. These forces of influence are the main determining factors, which induce people to acquire and put to use the land, to a particular purpose. These land use patterns are based on availability and accessibility, including tenure securities. In particular, the gender disparities in terms of access to land and use are invariably unfavourable to women.

Accordingly, Kasanga and Kotey (2001), have indicated that in peri-urban Ghana, landlessness is pronounced among women. This has the tendency to control the spatial disaggregation by gender, of populations, infrastructure and land use patterns in the entire space economy. The directions and strengths of the rates of influences are measured by the various pull and push factors in the rural and the urban settings respectively. All these forces are to a larger extent according to Bugri (2008), regulated by the relevant state departments and agencies responsible for preventing anthropogenic causes of environmental degradation.

The Bosomtwe district is one of the fast-expanding peri-urban settings in the Ashanti region of Ghana. It has one of fastest growing rates of private land acquisition and residential sprawl in response to the changing human populations' choice of relocating away from the city centre. The ever-increasing concentration of residential and commercial activities, are having different implication for LULC dynamics. As the region is gradually urbanizing the rural landscapes are merging into the changing periurban continuum. Characteristics of most peri-urban areas, the Bosomtwe district is faced with the dilemma of rational land use conversion and modification decision among land owners.

In spite of the far-reaching implications this complex land use changes could have on the district's land use plans, however, there is the limited scientific information to inform appropriate policy direction (Appiah *et al.*, 2014b). These thorny questions that shroud the future uncertainties include; what are the land use change potentials in the peri-urban areas as well as; what are the probable future land use conversion and modification direction in the peri-urban Bosomtwe district? Occasionally, systemic laxity in controls by the district assembly on land use plans in the urban to the peri-urban areas has invariably engendered chaotic physical development ahead of land use plans (Larbi, 1996). The Peri-urban land use and land cover dynamics operate in the moderate probability outcomes of conversions and modification in the Bosomtwe district (Appiah, 2016).

2.7 Drivers of Peri-Urban Land Use

The processes of environmental change and their implications for the sustainable management of the resource base and quality of life of peri-urban areas are different from the urban and rural landscapes, in so far as they constitute particular ecological and socioeconomic systems (Simon *et al.*, 2009). The transformations of the peri-urban environment are, to a large extent, driven by the pressures exerted through external, and often nearby, systems. These pressures underlie the driving forces behind the spatial land use changes in the peri-urban area. According to Adriana *et al.*, (1999), these pressures includes; inadequate development processes, unequal distribution of services and investments, the conditions of the natural environment, the lack of provision of adequate services, the scale and nature of demographic growth etc.

2.7.1 Outcomes of Intrinsic and Extrinsic Peri-Urban Land Use Conversion Decision Human interactions with the bio-physical environment create the usable spaces of land that are extracted from the original land uses and land covers (LULC). Converting or modifying these land uses from their original states, require agents to make certain decisions that are endogenically determined by the individual intrinsic households circumstances. These are usually done with special reference to the main decision taker in that social-arrangement domain; say the land owner, or heads of household (Fenske, 2011). These decisions usually rest on those human agents that have the ownership and or access right to the use of the land in question. Operating under human rationality *a priori*, land use economics hypothesizes that land use modification and conversion are purely driven by changing economic variables which are measurable and ascertainable in econometric models (Irwin and Georghegan, 2001). The impacts of systematic policies, expressed in socio-political directives, notwithstanding, human decision in converting or restraining are balanced within individual rational choices. These are purported to work out gains and relative opportunity costs forgone, within reasonable time continuums. By modelling the human behavior directly, rather than the outcome of human behavior within the uncertain decision rules, makes it possible to predict human behaviours better than under direct human outcomes which are indeed subjected to individual whims and caprices.

Spatial land use conversions therefore are driven invariably by both exogenous and endogenous factors, some extrinsic and others intrinsic. Hence, land use conversion patterns and pathways as they trend within time frames are therefore, characterized by complex decisions in order to establish the equilibrium between the net gains and the opportunity costs expropriating the land for a different use (Fenske, 2011). The later decision point is also a gain of a sort, at different time lag changes of LULC changes (Kline *et al.*, 2009).

By identifying the potential values as well as the intrinsic probabilities of converting an original land use to another, it stands to reason from economic modelling perspectives

that land owners are rational agents. It suffices to posit that some of these agents operate within local to national policy constraints, yet manage to maximize land use conversion gains. The aforementioned argument characterizes the peri-urban land use conversion probabilities of the Bosomtwe district of the Ashanti region of Ghana.

Apart from the economic gains of converting land uses from one type, say, agriculture to residential and sometimes residential to commercial, it is also imperative to expand the conversion spectrum to embrace the dimensions of all spatial and temporal as well as exogenous that serve as both positive (desirable) and negative (repulsive) incentives and influences of land use conversion in dynamic urban areas (Alcamo *et al.*, 2011), especially in the peri-urban milieu. These aspects of the broader decision include the heterogeneity of the bio-physical environments and the degree of landed resources endowments, population density variations, spatial differentials in the social and economic infrastructure bases of the area of interests, the proximity and nearest neighbourliness of land uses, as well as other non spatial intangible attributes such as satisfaction, desire to own a particular land use type.

This is because, according to Fenske (2011), land use conversion probabilities are governed intricately by land owner investment decision models. These models tend to relate the actuality of known decision variables that are parameterized and the unknown variables that serve as the uncertain terms under reasonable assumptions (Parrott, 2011). To be able to establish to any degree of certainty the land use conversion probability in any given area, a conscious effort to unravel the extent of uncertainty surrounding other

plausible decisions. This would justify the relative significance and confidence for land use conversion model predictions (Kline *et al.*,

2009).

KNUST

2.8 Implications of LULC Drivers for Climate Variability and Climate Change Land use is a significant and inescapable driver of environmental change with a lot of implications specifically to climate change, such as vegetation cover depletion. The IPCC defines Climate Change to be the statistical change in climatic variables, whether due to its natural variability or as a result of human activities (IPCC, 2007). Ghana has experienced dramatic peri-urban land use changes including decline in agricultural land, decrease in forests, and accelerated expansion of urban areas. These are not quite different from the trends identified in other areas over previous decades (McCusker and Carr, 2006; Schindler, 2009).

These rapid changes in land use produce noticeable undesirable effects with implications for ecosystem reduction, biodiversity degradation and global climate change. Several land use issues in Ghana have been figured out prominently in most international negotiations on climate change. Under the Kyoto Protocol and the Global Carbon Partnership Trade, Ghana is entitled to incentives and credit for equalizing carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions through changes in land use and land management (Simon,

2008; Ewing et al., 2007).

The dynamism of peri-urban landscapes attests to the different evolution of land cover changing over time in response to numerous interacting drivers of change. These drivers include economic growth and decline, demographic change and politics. Improving understanding of this dynamism is an important, yet under-researched, element of recognizing the implications and developing adaptation responses towards climate change. It is broadly acknowledged that spatial land use planning has a strong role to play in the development of climate change adaptation responses (Blanco *et al.*, 2009; Davoudi *et al.*, 2010). Processes linking the development and use of peri-urban lands in Ghana are highly influenced by spatial planning. Thus, the implications, nature and severity of climate change impacts and the form and function of adaptation responses that can be employed will highly depend on the institutional forces.

The effects of changes in land cover on weather and climate is dependent on land use practice. Land cover changes affect the exchange of water, energy, and gases within the atmosphere through changes in surface albedo and transpiration. This alters surface temperature and latent heat flux, ultimately leading to changes in regional temperature and precipitation patterns (Dale *et al.*, 1993). Land-cover changes can also initiate a wide range of other global changes including water-resources alterations and modifications to habitat as attested by Verburg *et al.* (2011) and UNFCCC (2012). These are eventually manifested into long-term adversities of weather and climate variability and change.

Fall *et al.* (2010) held firmly, a standpoint on LULC changes and its implications for climate change. They provided that, air temperatures and near-surface moisture have been changing and will continue to change in areas where natural vegetation has been converted to agriculture, grazing lands and other injudicious land uses. Bonan (2001) and Karl *et al.* (2012) have also corroborated Fall *et al.*, that, regional daily maximum temperatures have experienced fluctuations in areas where uncultivated and conservation forest are being cleared for agriculture and increases in areas of forests re-growth due to abandonment of agriculture.

It has succinctly been argued that LULC change modifies the physical properties of the land surface thus influencing radiation, momentum as well as the water cycle between the atmosphere and land surface (Pielke *et al.*, 2011). This can produce noticeable impacts on regional precipitation and atmospheric general circulation (Fu and Yuan, 2001; Gao *et al.*, 2007). If the above arguments and assertions (Pielke *et al.*, 2011; Verburg *et al.*, 2011; UNFCCC, 2012) are correct then it's worth bringing to light that LULC alters greenhouse gas emissions (e.g., CO₂, N₂O, CH₄) in the atmosphere, affect climatic variable and lead eventually to climate change.

Finally, scientists have come to a better understanding of the role that forests play in the carbon cycle, and how forests burning in certain part of the world are contributing to greenhouse gases emissions and climate change. Clearly, all of these changes impact on the environment and society. The dual role of humanity in contributing to both the causes and experiencing the effects of global climate change processes emphasizes the need for

better understanding of the interaction between humans and the terrestrial environment. This need becomes more imperative as changes in land use become more rapid. Understanding the driving forces behind land use changes and developing models to simulate these changes are essential to predicting the effects of climate change and its variability (Veldkamp and Lambin, 2001).

2.9 Geo-Spatial Methodologies for LULC Change Analysis

Globally, quite a substantial amount of research has been done on the use of satellite remote sensing and GIS to model the land use and cover dynamics (Mallupattu and Reddy, 2013; Al-Bakri, *et al.* 2013; Uchegbulam and Ayolabi, 2013 and Forkuo, 2011). Geographic Information System (GIS) is a computerized system, capable of capturing, storing, manipulating, transforming, retrieving, analyzing, and displaying many forms of spatially referenced data (Clarke, 1999).

It further provides a unique platform for spatially referenced data to be assembled, visualized, analyzed and represented. GIS has been adopted and applied in sectors of development worldwide. The main areas of focus have been natural resource mapping and management, transportation planning, urban and regional planning, academic research and private sector uses. It has also contributed significantly to participatory planning and research as well as urban, environmental, population, climatic, land use, and natural resource management studies (NRC, 2002; Ottichilo *et al.* 2002).

In peri-urban research, GIS has been useful in the identification, measurement and description of spatial patterns and change, leading to a more informed understanding of urban growth in the fringe, hence widening the scope of geographic inquiry (Anderson, 2000; Gichuhi, 2002). GIS representations on these rapidly transforming peri-urban landscapes have continued to reflect directly observable impacts of urbanization as perceived from social or environmental scientists' perspectives (Lupton and Mather, 1996; Snel, 1993).

2.10 Influence of Climate Change on Peri-Urban Environment

The peri-urban environment is characterized by dynamic and dramatic changes in its landscape. This obviously demonstrates the potential future climatic influences on various land uses. The underlying climatic influences/forces on the peri-urban system can be synthesized and organized into the following environmental effects: water resources, agriculture and ecosystems.

Climate change is likely to worsen peri-urban agricultural systems. This has gained significant attention over the past few decades due to its potential detrimental effect on food security (Parry *et al.*, 2004; Olesen *et al.*, 2007; IPCC, 2007). Much of the world's urbanized and urbanizing areas depend on agriculture produce from the peri-urban zones for industrial and subsistence use. The influx of population from urban and rural area also contributes to the increasing demand for agricultural produce (Burow *et al.*, 2010).
Agricultural production and land-use practices are influenced by climate, land, and water resources. In the peri-urban areas, the climatic change influence on agricultural activities is vividly significant. The anticipated increase in climate variability may influence crop production and agricultural profitability (Wheeler *et al.*, 2000; Schär *et al.*, 2004; Leckebusch *et al.*, 2007; Siva Kumar and Hansen, 2007).

To confirm this further, Garnaut (2008) asserted that, climate change is likely to result in changes in long term weather conditions and an increase in the variability of an already variable climate. The potential impacts include increased fire danger, damage to crops and soils due to flooding, land degradation, crop failure and livestock heat stress and even death. However, the productivity losses in the agriculture sectors as a result of climate change are likely to lead to a fall in gross regional product, and farm incomes in most peri-urban areas. Empirical studies have attested that income loss in peri-urban communities can lead to a range of impacts including increased workload, family conflict and withdrawal from social groups and communities (Paull, 2010).

According to Pielke *et al.*, (2011), LULC change can result in meso-scale and regional climate change if the areal extent of the landscape conversion is large enough. A spatial heterogeneity of approximately10–20 km has often been considered sufficient for creating meso-scale circulations under convective conditions; though smaller scales approximately 2–5 km are also often sufficient to trigger changes in boundary layer dynamics.

Pitman *et al.* (2009) used the Atmospheric General Circulation Models (AGCMs) in their studies on the climatic effect of land cover changes from pre-industrial period to present day, to extrapolate how LULC change affects climate variables. The simulations provided substantial changes in latent and sensible heat fluxes, albedo, and therefore absorbed shortwave radiation, and near-surface air temperature over the regions with considerable LULC change, but the magnitude of those bio-geophysically induced changes differed considerably among the models.

Similarly, reduced precipitation is a clear evidence of variable climates under changing LULC in peri-urban areas of the world. The continuous vegetation decrease in periurban areas leads to greater surface sensible heat which enhances convective circulation over the region. However, reduced vegetation also decreases the latent heat flux at the surface, thus the amount of moisture available for cloud formation reduces (Cheng and Chan, 2012). In the summer, there is a great reduction in rainfall over the inland areas of urban fringes, but an increase in rainfall is observed over the coastal areas of urban fringes due to strong positive moisture advection (Zheng *et al.*, 2002).

As a consequence, negative impact on winter precipitation is found in most of the periurban areas of the world. This hypothesis has been demonstrated by the numerical model results in a study on land use changes and climate change in China by Cheng and Chan (2012).

2.11 Summaries and Conclusions of the Literature Synthesis

Human driving forces or macro-forces are those fundamental societal forces that in causal sense link humans to nature and which bring about global environmental changes (Moser and Dilling, 1997). Examples of those forces include: population change, technological change, socio-cultural and socioeconomic organization (economic institutions and the market, political economy, ecology, political institutions). LULC are connected through the proximate causes of change translate the human propelling goals of land use into changed states of land cover. Land use change, which to an extent drives land cover change, is shaped by human driving forces in the form of socio-ecological activities that determine the direction and intensity of land use (Turner and Meyer,

1994). These observations, offer valid, though not sufficient conclusions for the land use conversion probability and intensity in the Bosomtwe district in the Ashanti region of Ghana.

Because of the multiple land uses conversion potentials that compete for space with time trending (Vejre, 2008), certain variables may be multiple correlated in determining the effect of the decision response. This is because land use conversion proxies exist *in tandem* with viable and no-viable land use types. These have various degrees of conversion probabilities for lands located in the communities in the Bosomtwe District. These show different spatial contiguity and relatedness in terms of the biophysical land features to the socio-economic infrastructure. These also have spatial and non-spatial attributes either

positively or negatively on land use conversion categories in the district. For instance, in an area experiencing considerable urbanization relocation activities definitely had some degree of land uses conversion potential with competing functionalities (Lambin and Mayfroidt, 2010).

In this regard, non-farm and off-farm economic activities that exhibit high economic and social wellbeing and some extent environmental sustainability should be a new economic model paradigm of sustaining peri-urban livelihoods. Contrary to these rollercoaster expectations, will be the drawback force of emerging and evolving land tenure system in peri-urban areas. This is because while some land tenure arrangements would promote the new paradigm, others would be too rigid to yield to the enticements to any appreciable extent.

Again, considering the obvious environmental connotations of these potential land use conversions, it would be imperative for regulatory authorities to be extra rigorous to ensure that any such conversion undertakings do conform appropriately to rules and regulations. Suffice to say that in the wake of environmental regulatory laxity, an accusation level against spatial land use planning authorities, would present opportunity to the district assemblies and their town and country planning departments (TCPD) to prove their mettle to the general populace.

Given the need for models to explain of LULC changes, the use of these models are not difficult to derive. At first, general use is to provide decision support in various decision

SANE

and policy making contexts. More specifically, models can be used to describe the spatial and temporal relationships between the drivers and the resulting patterns of land uses and their changes. Concisely, well-specified descriptions grounded on rigorous theory are the cornerstones of understanding and defining the exact problem that land use change decision makers are facing (or, simply, interested in) and act accordingly (if necessary). Models of land use change can be used also as explanatory vehicles of observed relationships. This is a debatable aspect of model use, however, as it depends on what one means by 'explanation'.

Finally, there would be a change in category land use from productive to non-productive land use patterns, in as much as human social and economic needs change over space and with time. This perpetual demand for land use, particularly for residential, commercial and recreational purposes, may ultimately explain the continuous dwindling from time to time in the size of arable land meant for crop production within the study area. The literature has pointed out that in establishing reasonable trade-off between the land use typologies; the various models have prescribed land use prudence in taking the decision for LULC change dynamics.

BADH

THE CORSERVE

CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

The theoretical bases of the study were laid in chapter two, which identified and placed in context, the conceptual and theoretical underpinnings of the study. It discussed the salient aspect of the political ecology and the state of the environment reporting model, the drivers, pressure, state impacts and response (DPSIR) framework, within which the analyses of the results from the study were performed.

This chapter is devoted to the description of the profile of the study area, research materials and methods applicable to the various aspects and sub-sections of the thesis. It entailed the identification and the enumeration of the materials and methods used in the processes of the data analysis, display and reportage. In all, the chapter is segmented into four main parts.

The first part of the thesis was a socioeconomic survey of the driver of LULC change among the inhabitants in the Bosomtwe district. Since this aspect of the research was socioeconomic in nature, it was undertaken using the survey method and the analysis of the same data using the statistical package for social scientist (SPSS V. 17).

The next component was the spatial modelling aspects of the thesis. This section employed the techniques of satellite Remote Sensing with Geographic Information

System in the generation and analysis of geospatial data on LULC dynamics. **3.2 Profile of the Bosomtwe District**

This sub-section describes the study area in context. It does so, by outlining the profile of the district in terms of the physical and social characteristics.

3.2.1 Profile of the Study Area

The Bosomtwe District is located in the central part of the Ashanti Region. It lies within Latitude 6°28'N–Latitude 6°40'N and Longitudes 1°2'W–Longitude 1°37'W. Kuntenase 2 is the District Capital. It

spans over a land area of 330km (Figure 3.1). The District is bounded to the North by Atwima Nwabiagya and the Kumasi Metropolis as well as to the East by Ejisu-Juaben Municipal. The southern section is bounded by Amansie West and East Districts, all in the Ashanti Region of Ghana (Appiah *et al.*, 2014). The population of Bosomtwe district according to the 2010 population and housing census, is

93,910, representing 2% of the region's total population (Ghana Statistical Service, 2014). Males constitute 47.7% and females represent 52.3%. The population of the district is 70% rural in nature (Ghana Statistical Service, 2014).

Lake Bosomtwe, the largest natural (crater) lake in Ghana is located in the district. With the exception of the lake which has an outer ridge that maintains a constant distance of 10 km from the center of the lake and stands at an elevation of 500 to 1500 m, the rest of the district has other varying unique topographical features. The drainage pattern of rivers and streams draining the Bosomtwe District is dendritic and centripetal in outlook. Around Lake Bosomtwe, there is an internal drainage where the streams flow from surrounding highlands into the lake in a centripetal fashion. The streams form a dense network due to the double maxima rainfall regime. Notable rivers in the district are rivers *Oda*, *Butu*, *Siso*, *Supan* and *Adanbanwe*.

3.2.2 Climate and Vegetation

The district falls within the equatorial zone of climate with a rainfall regime typical of the moist semi-deciduous forest zone of the country. There are two well-defined rainfall seasons. The main season occurs from March to July and September to November with mean annual rainfall of about 1400 mm. The mean monthly temperature is about 32°C with a relative humidity of between 60 and 85%.





Figure 3.1 Map of the Bosomtwe District showing the study communities in Ghana

The district falls within the Moist Semi-Deciduous Forest zone where different species of tropical hard woods with high economic value can be found. Species of trees found in the district include Wawa (*Triplochiton scleroxylon*), Mahogany (*Khaya ivorensis*), and

Onyina (Ceiba pentandra), among others. In certain parts of the district, however, the original forest cover has been turned into secondary forest and grassland through indiscriminate exploitation of timber and inappropriate farming practices such as the slash and burn system and illegal gold mining activities.

The physical growth of settlements in the district is influenced by distance between the settlement and the Kumasi Metropolis. Further, the presence of infrastructure, socioeconomic activities, the tourism sector improvements are all value additions to various land uses and cover. These make the district one of the potentially boisterous in the Ashanti Region.

3.3 Land Related Practices

The topography of the district is undulating. Cultivable lands are relatively flat with the exception of areas around Lake Bosomtwe where hilly lands are found. Unauthorized lumbering activities are found in most communities. Notable among them are *Mim, Asisiriwa* and *Brodekwano*. Food and cash crop cultivation provide employment for about 53% of the inhabitants in the district (Bosomtwe District Assembly, 2010). The slash and burn land preparation is the main mode of agricultural activities undertaken by the people. Most of the inhabitants use fuel wood obtained from the forest as their main source of energy.

According to the district assembly report, there is substantial indiscriminate bush burning by farmers and other people annually. This attitude by people results in soil degradation, distribution of flora and fauna are affected. Teak trees have been cultivated in most part of the District in afforestation efforts. *Tetrefu* area, records the highest number of these afforestation efforts. There is also a Non-Governmental Organization with Agroforestry programme along the Lake Basin.

Some wildlife sanctuaries in areas of up to 12 ha and exempted from all farming activities can be located at *Jachie* and *Behenase*. Some inhabitants also depend on sand mining and stone quarrying as source of livelihood in the district. This is quite notable among *Adagya*, *Sawuah*, *Ayuom*, *Tetrefu*, *Atobiase*, *Jachie*, *Abuontem* communities.

Lake Bosomtwe, with an area of about 4900 ha, holds prospects for the tourism industry in Ghana. There are about 24 surrounding villages by the Lake. At the moment, only one settlement *Abono*, a fishing community with a population of about 1549, has its tourism potential relatively developed. There is good road network leading to *Abono* from Kumasi, a 30-minute drive. There is also the availability of 24-hour electricity, lake transport, telecommunication and toilet facilities.

3.4 Occupational Distribution

The major occupation in the district is agriculture that employs 62.6% of the labour force (Bosomtwe District Profile, 2010). Of this, crop farming employs 57.4% and fishing 5.2%. About 41% of those engaged in other occupation still take up agriculture as a minor occupation as indicated in Figure 3.2.

SANE



Figure 3.2: District Occupational Structure Source: 2000 Population and Housing Report, 2005

The second highest occupation is service. It employs about 19.1% of the working population. This sector comprises government employees, private employees and other workers (Figure 3.2). The educated labour force dominates this sector. Industrial activities are undertaken in both small and medium scales. It also employs 16.7% of the working population. The problem with the industrial sector is its weak backward and forward linkages with the agricultural sector. Most of the industries are agro-based.

The average household income is Gh¢ 7.40 a month, with a per capita income of about Gh¢1.48 a month (*USD 1.00 = Gh¢ 3.70 as at 14/11/2015*). This gives an indication of the low standard of living in the district (Bosomtwe District Profile, 2010).

3.5 Materials and Methods

This sub-section enumerates the material and methods as outlined and explained in terms of, the data and procedures employed in arriving at the results generated.

3.5.1 Acquisition of Satellite Images for LULC Analysis

To do the temporal LULC change detection, Landsat satellite images obtainable from the United State Geological Survey (USGS) at their earth explorer website, were classified and analyzed. The Landsat images obtained for the purpose of the study were images with Path 194 and Roll 55 (P195R55), for Landsat Thematic Mapper (TM) 1986, Landsat Enhanced Thematic Mapper (ETM) 2002, Landsat Thematic Mapper plus (ETM+) 2007 and 2008, Landsat Thematic Mapper plus (ETM+) 2010 and Landsat 8 Operational Land Image and Thermal Infrared Sensor (OLI/TIRS) image for 2014 (Table 3.1).

| Year | Satellite Sensor | Date acquired | No. of bands |
|-------|------------------|------------------------------|--------------|
| 1986 | Landsat TM | 29 th of December | 7 |
| 2002 | Landsat ETM | ⁷ th of May | 8 |
| 2007 | Landsat ETM+ | ^{16th} of February | 8 |
| 2008* | Landsat ETM+ | 1 st of February | 8 |
| 2010 | Landsat ETM+ | 6 _{th} of February | 8 |
| 2014 | Landsat OLI/TIS | ⁸ th of January | 0 11 |

Table 3.1: The Meta data on the satellite images acquired

* Images used to extract land surface Temperature in place of 2007 which had no Meta data in image header file

These images have similar spatial and spectral resolution, which is 30m x 30m.

Therefore, they were used to define the study for different purposes. The 1986, 2002, 2007, 2010 and 2014 were used for LULC classification. In addition to these 5 images, 2008 image was used for the land surface temperature extraction.







Figures 3.3 (^A-F): The Landsat ETM/ETM+ Satellite Images for 1986, 2002, 2007, 2008, 2010 and OLI/TIS Image of 2014 respectively, used in the classification of the LULC types.

WJSANE

3.5.2 Other Materials Used

Survey instruments (pre-coded questionnaires and interview guide) were designed to collect the socioeconomic data. Topographical maps of 1:50,000 were combined as aid to select the 14 study locations in the district. This also facilitated the field global position system (GPS) survey.

A map of the Bosomtwe district at a scale of 1:75,000 was scanned and georeferenced to aid in the extraction of the district boundary. High resolution Google image and street maps were also used as the base maps to facilitate the map projection.

The Garmin GPS receiver was also used to collect 58 ground control points (GCPs) of the intended land use classes; the GPS instrument's accuracy was at \pm 3m. The coordinates of the 14 communities studied were picked to aid in the generation of the maps. These measurements were taken and used for ground in situ verification (ground truthing) for the image classification accuracy assessment.

3.6 Socioeconomic Survey Method

This sub-section outlines the socioeconomic sensing (survey) methods used. These included the research and sampling design, as well as the research process and instruments used in collecting the socioeconomic data.

SANE

3.6.1 The Research Design

A cross-sectional mixed method approach, which used a triangulation of the quantitative and qualitative empirical field (primary) and secondary data collection, was done. This was supported by a thorough evidenced-based synthesis of relevant literature (Schreiber and Stern, 2005) on the subject matter under investigation.

The Climatic data (Rainfall and Minimum and Maximum Temperature) as the secondary data were obtained from the Meteorological Services Agency (MSA) of Ghana. Additional data on the district layout and land use scheme was obtained from the Town and Country Planning Department of the Bosomtwe District Assembly (BDA). A socioeconomic sensing (survey) of 14 selected community clusters into rural and periurban, were also conducted using questionnaire administration and in depth interviews.

The main issues addressed in the survey included; the demographic characteristics of respondents, the factors that determine peri-urbanization, the factors that drive periurban LULC changes and the perceptions of respondents communities to the trend of agriculture and forest land use and cover (AFLUC) changes, as well as respondents perception of the effects of the LULC changes on the local climate variability and climate change in the NO BADY APJI district.

3.6.2 Sampling Technique

WJSANE

Socioeconomic data on the drivers and observed effects of LULC changes in the district were surveyed. From a population of 93,910 according to the Ghana Statistical Service (GSS) Population and Housing Census (PHC) of 2010 (GSS, 2014), a multi-stage sampling technique was adopted. This is because of the various levels at which the data needed to be collected. In all, fourteen (14) peri-urban and rural communities were selected from a total of 65 predominantly rural communities. The 14 communities met the definition criterion of population and infrastructure, as determined by the District's Scalogram.

However, because the focus and scope of the study is on peri-urban areas, 9 peri-urban communities and 5 rural communities were stratified on the basis of their respective population. A proportionate sampling method, according to the respective community populations, was used to allocate the sample proportions among the 14 communities. This was done using the Bosomtwe district's Scalogram; which is the detailed district socio-demographic and infrastructural profile of each community in the district. The sample frame of the study was based on the heads of households and their respective occupations as farmers and other occupations as well as their access, ownership and use of land.

The sample frame was disaggregated by gender, before a simple random sample of households was undertaken in each of the identified communities, without return to the same household, to select 270 households for the survey. In situations of multiple households in a house, all households were interviewed using the researcher administered questionnaires, by five trained research assistants. The communities selected as periurban settlements were surveyed as displayed in Table 3.2.

3.6.3 Sample Size

The respondents were household heads from fourteen selected communities, namely;

Aduaden, Aputuogya, Asisiriwa, Esereso, Feyiase, Jachie, Kuntenase, Mim, New Brodekwano, Nyameani, Piase, Pramso, Sewua, and Swedru (Abrankese). The sample 2 size was determined using the formula; n = N/ 1+N (e) where, n is the sample size. N is the total number of people in the twelve selected communities and e is the margin of error (Gomez and Jones, 2010).

This formula was used because of the fact that the sample size determined falls within the expected sample sizes as stipulated by the formula.

With a 5% margin of error (95% confidence level), from a total population of 45,525 the sample size was 270. The respective samples 'p' allocation by quota to the selected communities were then determined by the proportionate sampling method given by equation 3.1:

 $\Box 100 \Box$

3.6.4 Survey Instrument used

The survey instrument used was a-270 structured partially pre-coded questionnaires (Appendix 1) that were administered in the 14 communities. The essence was to gather data on respondents' socio-demographic characteristics, their major and minor occupations, the causes and effects of peri-urbanization of the district, drivers of peri-LULC urban dynamics, well the perceived implication of as as the LULC change dynamics on the local climate variability and climate change. Also, explored was how respondents perceive the extent to which the changing local climate variability and climate change has influenced their land use activities, especially agriculture and forest land uses in the district.

| | Tabl | e 3.2: List of Co | o <mark>mmunities Sur</mark> | <u>ve</u> yed | |
|----|----------------|-------------------|------------------------------|---------------|------------|
| | | Population | Sample Prop. | Sample | |
| SN | Community | (p) | (p) | Size (n) | Status |
| 1 | Aduadem | 2047 | 4 | 12 | Rural |
| 2 | Aputuogya | 1431 | 3 | 8 | Peri-urban |
| 3 | Asiriwa | 2145 | 5 | 13 | Rural |
| 4 | Esereso | 6358 | 14 | 38 | Peri-urban |
| 5 | Feyiase | 2404 | 5 | 14 | Peri-urban |
| 6 | Jachie | 9201 | 20 | 55 | Peri-urban |
| 7 | Kuntenase | 3947 | 9 | 23 | Peri-urban |
| 8 | Mim | 1869 | NE 4 | 11 | Rural |
| 9 | New Brodekwano | 2715 | 6 | 16 | Rural |
| 10 | Nyameani | 2625 | 6 | 16 | Rural |
| 11 | Piase | 2681 | 6 | 16 | Peri-urban |

| Source: Author's Construct from Bosomtwe District Assembly Scalogram, 2010 | | | | | | | |
|--|--------------------|------|-----|--------|------------|--|--|
| | Total | | 100 | N= 270 | | | |
| 14 | Swedru (Abrankese) | 1945 | 4 | 12 | Peri-urban | | |
| 13 | Sewua | 2986 | 7 | 18 | Peri-urban | | |
| 12 | Pramso | 3127 | 7 | 19 | Peri-urban | | |

3.6.4.1 Focus Group Discussions and Key Informant Interview

Key informant interviews were conducted among some selected key personalities and tape-copied with consent from the respondents. These were the district assembly officials Town and Country Planning Department (TCPD) the District Forest Officer (DFO) and the district official of the Office of the Stool Lands (OSL).

In all three focus group discussions (FGDs) involving farmer-headed households, land owners, and women group were also performed. The limitation to three groups' performances was that the respondents/discussants from the other communities had homogenous characteristics and were likely to offer possible similar-to-same responses to the questions raised and discussed during the interactions.

3.7 Data Analysis and Results Presentation

The collected data were cleaned and keyed into the Statistical Package for Social Scientist (SPSS v. 17) for Windows application interface, for the analysis and generation of results. Descriptive and inferential statistics were employed, using the analytical tools such as frequency, cross-tabulation, Chi-square, Cramer's V statistic as well as logistic and simple regression analysis, embedded in the (SPSS), to analyze the socio-economic data.

The results of the analyzed data were presented in the form of tables, graphs and charts prepared in Excel for Windows 10. The qualitative data was analyzed thematically and used as direct quotations and to inform and buttress the discussions in some aspects of the quantitative results. The flow of the socio-economic method is presented in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.4: the flow chart of the sequence of socioeconomic survey methods

3.8 Spatial Modelling Tools and Data Analysis

This subsection details the spatial analytic methods and procedures used in the analysis of the satellite images and the generation of the results for the various LULC maps.

3.8.1 Spatial Analytical Methods

Landsat TM, ETM/ETM+ and OLI/TIS satellite images as mentioned in Table 3.1, were acquired for image classification. The coordinates of the 14 communities studied were picked to aid in the generation of the maps. The results were used to calculate and ascertain the changing rates as well as the LULC transitions of the various land uses, particularly the rates of vegetation reductions from conversions and residential build up/bare/ concreted areas expansion.

The results were exported to Environmental Science Research Institute (ESRI) ArcGIS environment for modelling and further analysis, to generate interactive maps. This is because remote sensing and geographic information system (RS/GIS) hold much prospect for analyzing the geo-spatial environments with a higher degree of accuracy and clarity (Ramachandran, 2010).

3.8.1.1 Building and Creation of Geo-database for ArcMap Applications

The base map obtained from the Bosomtwe district assembly was scanned and georeferenced by identifying some control points as reference on the map. The root

st mean square error (RMSE) using the 1 order polynomial method from 6 collinear points was 1.15m. This was performed to the highest accuracy considering the level of distortions arising from the scanning of the district map.

SANE

The file geo-database for the project was created in ArcCatalog. The various feature classes needed for the project were created in the file geo-database and geo-referenced

with respect to the WGS_1984 and projected using the Universal Transversal Mercator projection, Zone 30 North. The feature classes (FCs) created were: the District boundary polygon, Roads and railroad polylines, the Lake Bosomtwe polygon, the Stream polylines and the Towns point feature classes.

The various FCs were digitized out from the district map and compared with the 2014 Landsat satellite image for conformity. This was to validate the accuracy of the georeferenced map. These FCs were the layers used in the creation of the digital final map of the Bosomtwe district.

3.8.1.2 Satellite Image Sub-setting for LULC Classification

Due to the large image scene, and the irrelevance of other land use classes obtained from the entire classification of one of the entire image scene of Path 194 and Roll 55 of the Landsat images, a sub-setting of the image was performed in Hexagon Geospatial ERDAS Imagine 13 Software. This was done using the map created as the area of interest (AOI). The subset images for the various time series (1986, 2002, 2007/2008, 2010 and 2014), were layer-stacked and saved as files, in the TIF-format. These were classified in turns. The unequal intervals of the images were justified by the absence of quality images with equal intervals.

The Landsat satellite images obtained have been preprocessed from source; therefore there were little geometric and radiometric calibrations done on the images. However, a validation of the images was done using high resolution Google earth image as reference. The images were loaded and layer-stacked in the Software for their display in their various RGB guns in their false-colour and true-colour composite combinations.

3.8.2 Test Classification

A hybrid of both supervised and unsupervised classifications methods were applied on the images. This was because the land use classes from the images were not easily deciphered without an unsupervised classification. To do the classification, the images were first classified using the Software-classified method, also known as unsupervised classification (USC), using K-means. The unsupervised classified images were compared and visualized with the original satellite images. This aided in the training of the pixels in the supervised classification (SC) methods using the maximum likelihood classifier (MLC). This was performed after the assumption of image normality has been established.

3.8.3 Selection of Class Spectral Signatures

Based on the field experience and familiarity of the study area as well as the spectral characteristics of the images, the land use and cover classes identified were; Dense Forest (DF), Low Forest (LF), Build up/Bare land/Concrete (BBC), Recent Fallows and Grasslands (RFGL), Water Body (WB) and others such as Cloud cover and shadows etc. These land use classes are explained in Table 3.3 and supported by which are the band separability ratios and signature plots Figures (3.5 & 3.6).

| | KVIIICT | | | | | |
|---------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| Table 3.3: LULC Classification Scheme | | | | | | |
| LULC Classes | Descriptions of LULC Classes | | | | | |
| Dense Forest (DF) | Deciduous and semi-deciduous forest tree cover with closed canopies typical of the tropical rainforest biome. Mostly restricted to the upper elevations of mountains ranges of the area including along the rims of Lake Bosomtwe. | | | | | |
| Low Forest (LF) | Vegetative communities dominated by evergreen trees, with open canopies, with mean heights usually between 6 and 15 m. Also included in this class is the plantation agriculture such as oil palm and citrus. | | | | | |
| Built Up/Bare | This is a land-use dominated by urban, peri-urban to rural | | | | | |
| Land/Concrete | settlements including bare, tarred and un-tarred roads as well as | | | | | |
| (BBC) | other concrete surfaces. | | | | | |
| Recent | Actively cultivated and recent fallow lands and prepared lands for | | | | | |
| Fallows/Gr <mark>asslands</mark> | cultivation. Vegetative communities dominated by perennial and | | | | | |
| (RFGL) | annual grasses with occasional herbaceous species presence. | | | | | |
| Water Body (WB) | The only water body classified is the Part of the lake Bosomtwe which falls in the study area. | | | | | |
| Others | These refer to the other uses identified as image noise such as cloud cover and shadows. | | | | | |

The various identified LULC classes as identified, were trained from the images, using the signature editor under supervised classification functionality. Best Minimum Separability of Jefferies-Matusita = 1263.45 out of the maximum of 1414.21.

2-2

SANE

| Distance Measure: Jefferies-Matusit Using Layers: 1 2 3 4 5 6 Taken 6 at a time Best Minimum Senarability: 1263 45 | a | | | | ~ | | | |
|---|---|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---------|---|
| Combination: 1 2 3 4 5 6 | | / F | | | C | | | |
| Signature Name | | | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 1 |
| Dense Forest | 1 | 0 | 1357.76 | 1399.13 | 1412.19 | 1414.21 | 1407.35 | |
| Low Forest | 2 | 1357.76 | 0 | 1397.68 | 1350.88 | 1414.21 | 1413.44 | |
| Build up/Bare/Concrete | 3 | 1399.13 | 1397.68 | 0 | 1263.45 | 1414.21 | 1380.98 | Ī |
| Degraded/Farm Lands | 4 | 1412.19 | 1350.88 | 1263.45 | 0 | 1414.21 | 1399.78 | |
| Water Body | 5 | 1414.21 | 1414.21 | 1414.21 | 1414.21 | 0 | 1414.15 | Ē |
| Other Llees (Clouds ate.) | 6 | 1407 35 | 1413 44 | 1380.98 | 1399.78 | 1414 15 | 0 | |

Figure 3.5: Example of *Jeffries-Matusita* Distance measurement of class separation

Using the results from the unsupervised classified images and also informed by the familiarity of the study district and the ground truth LULC sampled during the field survey, a visual inspection of the images were made. This was to identify the possible land use types as depicted in the images; in order to facilitate in as much precise as possible, identify the appropriate spectral signatures corresponding to the various land uses classes during the supervised classification method. The pixel-based maximum likelihood (MLC) classification of the satellite images were performed on the five images 1986, 2002, 2007, 2010 and 2014 into five main trained classes (Table 3.3).

BADW

ENSAD J W J SANE



Figure 3.6: Example Bands Separability by signature mean plots

3.9 LULC Classes Separability

In this subsection, the study analyzes the spectral signature using the Jeffries-Matusita distance analysis and the classification accuracy assessment using Kappa Statistics algorithms in ERDAS Software.

3.9.1 Jeffries-Matusita Distance Separability and Kappa Statistic Accuracy Assessment A spectral separability was also done to ascertain the degree of separation of each of the six (one, two, three, four, five and seven) bands from the other. This was also to appreciate the relative separability performance of each band according to the land use classes and to show the performance of the user in assigning certain pixel to a LULC class. The separability criteria were assessed using *Jeffries-Matusita index* and compared with the divergent index (Foody, 2004). In combination with the Kappa classification accuracy assessment, the quality of the results was checked. As reported in the appropriate sections, the results accuracy ranged from moderate to almost perfect agreement.

3.9.1.1 Spectral Separability

The separability listing contains the average divergence and the minimum divergence for the band set. These numbers can be compared to other separability listing (for other band combinations), to determine which set of bands is the most useful for training and classification.

The *Jeffries-Matusita* distance has upper and lower bounds (JM is between zero and 1414). If the calculated divergence is equal to the appropriate upper bound, then the signatures can be said to be totally separable in the bands being studied. A calculated divergence of zero means that the signatures are inseparable. That is, the *JM* values that ERDAS Imagine reports are those resulting from multiplying the values in the formula times 1000. A separability listing is a report of the computed divergence for every class pair and one band combination (Figures 3.6). The Jeffries-Matusita Distance (*JMD*) algorithms (3.2 and 3.3) are follows:

 $I_{ij} = \sqrt{2 \operatorname{pt}_{\mathbb{C}} e^{\operatorname{pt}_{\mathbb{C}}}} = 1^{8} \operatorname{pt}_{\mathbb{C}} = \operatorname{pt}_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname$

3.3

Where; *i* and *j* are two signatures (classes) being compared; *C*i is the covariance matrix of signature *i*; μ i is the mean vector of signature *i*; *ln* is the natural logarithm function; |*C*i| is the determinant of *C*i (matrix algebra).

3.10 The LULC Classification Procedure

The images were then classified using the unsupervised and supervised classification in K-means and maximum likelihood algorithms respectively, in the Software at 0.95 probabilities for class accuracy for the image. The two images were compared and the best approach was identified as the supervised classification, after fulfilling the assumption of image normality.

3.10.1 Kappa Classification Accuracy Assessment

Classification of LULCs in remote sensing Software, requires the user to ground truth the results through accuracy assessment (Foody, 2002). The classification accuracy of the maximum likelihood method used was ascertained in the ERDAS Imagine Software. Ideally, the accuracy of the classification should be assessed by juxtaposing an already existing LULC map or an aerial photograph showing the LULC classes of the area so classified.

Since there has not been any comprehensive study of the LULC classification for the Bosomtwe district, there were none of the accuracy assessment check list data in the form of previous land use map or aerial photographs. The Garmin GPS receiver was used to pick some 58 coordinates of selected land use land covers as ground control points from the field. The locations of these reference data were determined at random by identifying and locating the land use classes of interest in the field and their GPS points and coordinates picked at \pm 3m accuracy and recorded.

The field surveys were conducted in early part of February 2013. For the earlier years such as 1986 and 2002 images, Google Earth maps were used to select the coordinates of some land uses as GCPs, as well as from expert knowledge of the study district, for the images' classification accuracy assessment.

3.11 LULC Change Detection and Transition Analyses

The LULC classes were assigned with the help of the classifier based on the user defined classification schema (Kepner *et al.*, 200). This scheme was based on the visual interpretation of the images coupled with the researcher's familiarity of the study area. In view of the relatively low spatial resolution of $30m \times 30m$, some of the classes were combined for interpretation convenience, e.g. Built-up/Bare lands/Concretes. The scheme adopted is, described in Table 3.3. This scheme formed the basis for the creation of the training areas which also contained the sampled LULC types

from the field as GCPs in the image for the picking up of spectral signatures for the various LULC classes.

The classification algorithm used in the ERDAS Imagine Software was supervised maximum likelihood classifier (MLC). Image differencing was performed in ArcGIS to ascertain the levels of change from one land use type to the other and by how much in terms of area in hectare. The rate of change (r) was calculated using equation 3.4:

1/t

$r_{01000010000} = A_2^A \Box_1^A \Box_0^0 \Box_0^0$

3.4

where, *A1*, *A2*, and *t* are the LULC map of previous year, the current year and the time in years as duration between the two years respectively (Gambarova *et al.*, 2013).

3.11.1 LULC Change Transition

The analysis of the results from the image years between 1986 and 2002 and 2002 and 2007, LULC types were cross-tabulated for their transitional matrix showing that the land use classes transited from one type to another according to some degree of proportions. The Markov transition matrix

ANF

approach was used to determine the transition rates from one land use type to another under certain intrinsic conditions. This was executed in ArcGIS *cross-tabulation* tool functionality.

This is because land use transitions follow rules that determine the change of a cell's state during a subsequent iteration, according to Samat *et al.* (2011). These have cellular automata (CA) tendencies, which are based on the cell conversion probability, also called the likely rate of transition from one cell state $S_{i,j}$ to another after a time *t*. These five land use classes represent main land use activities in the district as per the classification. The transition of cells from time *t* to *t*+*1* is determined by a function of its state, cell suitability and its transition probability rule.

This is given by equation 3.5 below:

$I \square L U \square f \square_t \square L U \square x I \square S_{i,j} \square x I \square P_{x,y;i,j} \square \square$

3.5

t

t

where, t+1

LUi,j= the potential of cell i,j to change at time t+1,

LUi,j= current land use type of cell i,j at time t,

 $S_{i,j} = s_{tates of cell i, j}$ at time t,

 $P_{x,y,i,j} = probability$ of cell i,j to change from state x to state y at time t+1.

The diagonals of the matrix, indicate for instance, the land use types in area that remained unchanged over the time period (Al-Bakri *et al.*, 2013; Mackenzie, 2009).

3.11.2 Normalized Difference Vegetation Index

The NDVI was calculated in ArcMap, using the raster calculator algorithm embedded in the Software. The NDVI is calculated by determining the ratio of the differences between the NIR and the R bands to the sum of the NIR and the R bands. This is done to normalize and transform the otherwise simplified NIR/R ratio (Zhang *et al.*, 2011). The mathematical representation of the index is equation 3.6:



Where, ρ is the reflectance values in the indicated spectral bands, *NIR* and *R*, the near infrared band and the visible red band respectively. Theoretically, NDVI values are represented as a ratio ranging in value from -1.0 to +1.0 but in practice, negative values near -1 could represent water, values around zero represent bare soil and values above 0.6 represent dense green vegetation

(Ghorbani et al., 2012).

The images generated were exported from ENVI to ArcMap for further value range classification and final generation of the various NDVI maps. The geoinformation processes are presented in the flow chart of Figure 3.7.





Figure 3.7: Methodological work flow in ERDAS Imagine and ArcGIS

3.12 Analysis of Climatic Data

Climatic data on rainfall, temperature and evapotranspiration were obtained from the Bekwai synoptic weather station of the Meteorological Services Agency (MSA) of Ghana. Data on the above climatic variables spanning from 1982 to 2011 were obtained for the analysis. Temperature data was analyzed as proxy to climate change for the district.

To couple LULC dynamics with climate variability and possible climate change, the original intent was to downscale a Regional Climate Models (RCM) developed over Ghana, and compared with the climatic data that were collected and to make projections. However, considering the spatial resolution of the study area, in comparison to the regional climate model, the results would have been unrealistic and insignificant for any meaningful projection. This is 2 because, with the 330 km area of the district as against the coarse resolution of any RCM, it would be difficult to project any impact of LULC changes in the district on the local climate to any appreciable accuracy.

Therefore, proxies of variability and change were analyzed from the meteorological data. This was done by correlating land surface temperature with the meteorological data collected. This was also to re-direct the nexus between climate change and land use for the Bosomtwe district from the impacts of land use on climate variability to how climate variability and climate change has influenced the LULC activities in the district. In arriving at the results, the classical additive methods of analyzing trend as well as the Mann-Kendall test or trends were used on the temperature and the rainfall data, using the MAKESEN V.1.0.2, an open source Solver in

EXCEL.

3.12.1 Data Validation and Analysis

Mean monthly temperature data spanning a period of 31 years were collected from the Ghana meteorological Agency (GMA) synoptic station located at Bekwae, about 25 Km from the Bosomtwe District. Being the only synoptic station closer to the district, it was imperative to satisfy the maximum radial distance threshold of the world Meteorological acceptable distance for weather stations located in African. Accordingly, the World Meteorological Organization (WMO), the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (IOC), the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), and the International Council for Science (ICSU) stipulate that stations classified as functional must meet all target requirements acceptable. This is, the data must be located within a distance of at most 60 to 90 km from the nearest reference station

(WMO/IOC/UNEP/ICSU 2010), before accepted as usable. 3.12.2 Time Serial Analysis of Temperature
The data were subjected to statistical analysis such as mean standard deviation and test for normality among others to ensure that the data meets the necessary accuracy and utility standards before the main analysis. The data were then input into the Microsoft Excel software V. 2010 in a spreadsheet for the time series analysis. This was based on the simple classical multiplicative time series analysis given by the formula $Yt = St \times It \times T$. Where, St It and T are the seasonality, irregularity and trend components respectively. A logarithmic transformation can be taken on the both side Log (Yt) = Log (St x It x T), to transform the data into additive time series (Gillian *et al.* 2006).

To determine the seasonality and irregularity (cyclical and residual) components of the data, a 3year moving average (MA3) was generated. The actual time series data for the 31-year period (Yt), was used to generate the seasonality and irregularity components by dividing the Yt by the moving average (MA3) (Appiah and Boafo, 2014c). The seasonality component (St) only, was determined by standard deviation the 3-year moving averages from the Seasonality and irregularity component. The seasonality data was de-seasonalized (Ds) by dividing the time series (Yt) by the seasonality component (St).

To determine the trend component of the data, a simple linear regression (SLR) was run, using the de-seasonalized data as the response (Y) and the t, values (t = 1,...t = 31) as the independent (X) variables respectively. The expected equation, which yielded the trend component, is the traditional y = a + bx, where a, is the intercept on the y-axis and b, is the slope; known as the linear regression (best fit) equation. Finally the forecast (F) data were calculated by the product of the seasonal component (St) and the trend component (Tt). The graphs were the result plots generated

in Microsoft Excel V. 2010. The summary of operations (eqn. 3.7) done to arrive at the result plots are as follows;



3.12.3 Mann-Kendall analysis of trend in Rainfall data

The Mann-Kendall statistical test is a method used to ascertain whether or not there is a trend in a certain time series data. The data values are evaluated as an ordered time series. Each data value is compared to all subsequent data values. The initial value of the Mann-Kendall statistic, S, is assumed to be 0 (for example, no trend). As a non-parametric test, the Mann-Kendall S tests the data randomness against time.

Let *X*1, *X*2, ..., *Xn* be a sequence of measurements over a period of time, Mann proposed to test the null hypothesis, H0, that the data come from a population where the random variables are independent and identically distributed; and therefore having no trend. The alternative hypothesis, H1, is that the data follow a monotonic trend over time. Under H0, the Mann–

Kendall test statistic is: under the hypothesis of independent and randomly distributed random variables, when $n \ge 18$, the *S* statistic is approximately normally distributed, with zero mean and variance in equation 3.8—3.11 as follows:

ANE

 $S\Box\Box\Box$ $\operatorname{sgn}\Box X_{j}\Box X_{i}\Box$

i□1 *j*□*i*□1

3.8

001.....0010

NO



The hypothesis that there is no trend is rejected when the Z value computed by Equation (3.9) is greater in absolute value than the critical value $Z\alpha$, at a chosen level of significance α .

3.12.4 Sen's Slope estimate

The method of calculating the Sen's slope estimator used a time series of equally spaced data. Sen's method proceeds by calculating the slope as a change in measurement per change in time, as NO BAD shown here in equation (3.12):

SANE

 $Q \square X_j \square X_i$

H

j □*i*

3.12

Where: Q = slope between data points Xj and Xi Xj = data measurement at time j

Xi = data measurement at time i, j = time after time i,

Xj and Xi constitute the pairs of observations identified by place in the series. The median of these estimates is Sen's estimator of slope

3.13 Land surface temperature extractions

The subsection performs the extraction of land surface reflectance signatures as proxies of surface temperature extracts for local surface warming and cooling estimation.

3.13.1 Procedural Algorithms of LST Extraction from Satellite Images

The most suitable procedure used to retrieve LST from a single-channel located in the thermal infrared region, as is the case of the Landsat thermal band, is by the inversion of the radiative transfer equation (RTE) (Cristóbal, *et al.*, 2009) based on the following expression applied to a certain sensor channel (or wavelength interval):

$L_{sensor,\Box} \Box \Box \Box \Box \Box B \Box \Box T_s \Box L \Box atm,\Box$

3.13

Where, L_{sensor} is the at-sensor radiance or Top of Atmospheric (TOA) radiance, i.e., the radiance measured by the sensor, ε is the land surface emissivity, $B_{\lambda}(Ts)$ is the blackbody radiance given by the Planck's law and Ts is the LST, $L\downarrow_{atm,\lambda}$ is the downwelling atmospheric radiance, τ is the total atmospheric transmissivity between the surface and the sensor and $L\uparrow_{atm,\lambda}$ is the upwelling atmospheric radiance. It should be noted that Eqn. (3.13) depends on the wavelength considered, but also on the observation angle, although for Landsat, the nadir view provides good results. The atmospheric parameters τ , $L\downarrow_{atm,\lambda}$ and $L\uparrow_{atm,\lambda}$ can be calculated from *in situ* radiosoundings and using a radiative transfer codes like MODTRAN (Mousivand et al., 2015). Therefore, from Eqn. (3.13) it is to find T_s by inversion of the Planck's law. Inversion of Eqn. (3.14) can be interpreted as a correction of the atmospheric and the emissivity effects on the data measured by the sensor. The main constraint of this approach however, is the need for in situ radiosounding which is launched simultaneously with the satellite passes (Cristóbal, et al., 2009). Radiances are in W m⁻² sr⁻¹ μ m⁻¹ and wavelength in μ m; the B term is Planck's law, expressed as

follows:



Where; c_1 and c_2 are Planck's radiation constants, with values of 1.19104 x 10⁸ Wµm⁴ m⁻² sr⁻¹ and 1.43877 x 10⁴ µm K, respectively, while T_s and λ are the surface temperature in K and thermal bands wavelength in μm . Accordingly, it is pertinent to note that the spectral magnitudes should be integrated over a band pass (filter response function) in the case of Landsat sensor. This coheres with the work by Jiménez-Muñoz and Sobrino (2003), who used a single-channel method based 2 SANE NO on the radiative transfer equation to extract LST.

3.13.2 Spectral Radiance Scaling Method

Conversion from digital numbers to top of atmosphere (TOA) radiances was carried out using image header parameters. In this regard, the formula to convert cell value as DN to cell value as radiance CV_{R1} for the three images, utilized the formula as shown in equation 3.15 as follows:

Where, CV_{R1} is the cell value as radiance; QCAL is the digital number; Lmin is the spectral radiance scales to QCALmin; Lmax is the spectral radiance scales to QCALmax; QCALmin is the minimum quantized calibrated pixel value (typically as 1); QCALmax is the maximum quantized calibrated pixel value (typically as 255).

3.13.3 Apparent Brightness Temperature

In converting the radiance to Kelvin, the formula to convert radiance to temperature *without* atmospheric correction method was used. The apparent brightness temperature or at-sensor brightness temperature (T_b), was determined by applying blackbody principles which is usually computed by means of Planck's law inversion using the Landsat image series (Coll *et al.*, 2010; Irish 2003), with the following simplified equation 3.15:

NO BADY *K*₂ $T_b \square$ 3.16

Where, ε is the emissivity (*typically 0.95, and could as well be derived from the NDVIs*). The K₁ and K₂ (K) (W m⁻² sr⁻¹ mm⁻¹), are calibration constants based on the Landsat thermal band configuration and CV_{R1} is the spectral radiance (W m⁻² sr⁻¹ mm⁻¹). In the case of Landsat 7 ETM/ETM+, K₁ and K₂ are respectively 666.09 and 1282.71. In the case of Landsat 8 OLI/TIS, K₁ and K₂ are 480.89 and 1201.14 (bands 11), respectively.

Surface emissivity was considered in the estimation of Ts for the LULC targets (Tursilowati et al.,

2012). The land surface temperature (Ts) is estimated using the algorithm in equation 3.16.



Where, Tb is the effective satellite temperature, Ts is the LST in absolute temperature in Kelvin, λ is the wavelength of the radiance emitted ($\lambda = 11.5\mu$ m), $\rho = (h \times c) / \sigma = 1.438 \times 10^{-2}$ (m K), h is Planck's constant (6.626×10^{-34} Js), c is the velocity of light (2.998×10^8 m/s), σ is the Boltzmann constant (1.38×10^{-23} J/K), and ε is the composite emissivity. In this study, $\varepsilon = 0.95$ was used for the soil and vegetation (Sobrino *et al.*, 2003). The operations were performed in ENVI Band Math and the ArcMap Raster calculator functions in ArcToolbox.

WJSANE



Figure 3.8: Methodological flow chart of the LULC and LST Extraction procedures

3.14 Summary of Materials and Methods

The mixed method approach involving the triangulation of quantitative and qualitative empirical field (primary) and secondary data, which included satellite images and climatic data collected from the Ghana Meteorological Services Agency (GMet). A socio-economic sensing (survey) of 14 selected communities were undertaken. The socio-economic data were analyzed using the embedded tools in the Statistical Package for Social Scientists (SPSS V. 17) for Windows applications.

The geospatial data were analyzed in ENVI 4.7, ERDAS Imagine 13 remote sensing and ArcGIS
10.2 geo-information Software (courtesy the Department of Geoinformation and Photogrammetry of the Stuttgart University of Applied
Sciences, during my research visit to Germany) for spatial modelling of the LULC dynamics.
These Software were also used to extract and analyze the LST characteristics, covering the study

area. The results were compared with LULC classes, air temperature and rainfall data as proxies to explain local climate variability. The climatic data were collected from the Regional Meteorological Services Agency

(MSA).

Landsat satellite images and *in situ* ground data collection using global position system (GPS) receivers were coupled to derive the desired LULC maps of interest to the study. These were done in order to input data into Geographic information system (GIS) and remote sensing environments directly, for the manipulations, analysis and display.



CHAPTER 4: SOCIOECONOMIC DRIVERS AND RESPONSES TO PERIURBAN LAND USE CHANGES

4.1 Introduction

After the theoretical bases of the study established, and the appropriate methodologies described, in the previous chapters, this chapter is dedicated to the reportage of the results, beginning with the socioeconomic data obtained from the surveys undertaken.

Peri-urban areas (PUAs) are zones between the rural and urban interface, characterized by both urban and rural morphological characteristics and activities. While the urban landscape is mostly characterized by commercial, residence, recreation, administrative and industrial land uses, the rural areas are mostly for agriculture purposes (Simon, 2008).

Although the exact definition of the peri-urban area varies from one area to another, some common ones include the peri-urban zone which is seen as a space between these two areas (rural and urban) where exchange of resources takes place (Dutta, 2012). The peri-urban zone can also be seen as transition from rural to urban. It is neither rural nor urban. It is however seen as an outcome, and to others, a process (Iaquinta, 2000). This is the operational definition this study adopted; the Bosomtwe district is an area which is neither rural nor urban.

In recent years, peri-urban lands available for agriculture in the Bosomtwe district, are relatively dwindling due to the fact that other land uses are increasingly becoming dominant relative to agriculture. In an attempt to ascertain the various drivers of peri -urban land uses and their consequential ramifications, the various views of the respondents were sought. The purpose of this data is to correlate the geo-information data that are analyzed to triangulate from both perspectives, the LULC dynamics in the Bosomtwe district.

In this regard, the analysis has been done, skewed partly in the context of the first objective and partly pulling other objectives along the discourse. This is done, when they became necessary in establishing relationships between the main drivers and decisions behind peri-urban land uses and land covers. Their inherent connotations of the proximate effects on climate variability and climate change in the Bosomtwe district are also espoused.

4.2. Results from the Socioeconomic Survey

This sub-section presents the socioeconomic results analyzed. It presents the socio-demographic characteristics of study participants and the key determinants of peri-urbanization and drivers of peri-urban LULC in the Bosomtwe District.

4.2.1 Socio-demographic Characteristics of the Respondents

A careful look at Table 4.1 (a & b) displays the various socio-demographic characteristics of the respondents surveyed during the study. In order to understand the data that emanates from household respondents, it is imperative to also understand their demographic backgrounds (Kumekpor, 2002). This would enamel the researcher to disaggregate the data along some of these variables, as well as be able to ascertain some of the reasons underpinning the response trends.

WJ SANE NO

| 1 able 4.1a: 1 | ne Demograp | onic data of | Responden | 115 |
|-----------------------|-------------------------|--------------|-----------|---------|
| Variables | N (%) | Mean | St. dev. | p-value |
| Gender of respondents | Frequency | | | |
| Male | 139 (51.5) | 1.4852 | .5007 | .058 |
| Female | 131(48.5) | | | |
| <u>Total</u> | <u>270 (100)</u> | | 1.00 | - |
| Age of respondents | Frequency | 3.1593 | 1 63165 | 002* |
| 20-35 yrs | 52 (19.3) | VU | 1.03105 | .002 |
| 36-45 yrs | 62(23.0) | | ~ ~ | |
| 46-55 yrs | 43 (15.9) | | | |
| 56-65 yrs | 43 (15.9) | | | |
| 66-75 yrs | 44 (16.3) | | | |
| 76+ yrs | 26 (9.6) | | | |
| Total | 270 (100) | - | | |
| | | 19 | | |
| Marital status | Frequency | 1.7333 | 1.0397 | .405 |
| Married | 167 (61.9) | 150 | 2 | 1 |
| Single | 32(11.9) | | | 17 |
| Widow/Widower | 47 (17.4) | Y | Z | Z |
| Divorced | 24 (8.9) | 1 | 1332 | X/ |
| Total | 270 (100) | 100 | | |
| Educational Level | Frequency | 2.6704 | 1.20665 | 720 |
| No Formal Education | 69 (25.6) | | 1.20005 | .720 |
| Primary | 26 (<mark>9.6</mark>) | | 2 | |
| JHS/Middle Sch | 122 (45 2) | 27 | | 13 |
| SHS/Tach/Mac | 21 (11 5) | | | 12 |
| SU2/ 1601/ A OC | 51 (11.5) | | 5 | As |
| Tertiary/Post Sec | 22 (8.1) | | | - |
| Total | 270 (100) | ANE | no l | |

Table 4.1a: The Demographic data of Respondents

*p-values are significant at α.01

The gender characteristics of the heads revealed that a proportion of 52% of them are males while about 48% of the heads of household interviewed were females. The age category of respondents was identified as between 22-35 years as the lowest and 76 years or more as the highest age cohorts, at 10 years interval respectively. Most of the respondents, however, emanated from the 36-45 age cohort; the category that can best be described as the working and middle-aged group. Either of the respondents were married-62%, Single-12%, Widowed-17% or divorced with nine percent respectively (Appiah et al., 2014b).

KM

| Table 4.1b: The Demographic data of Respondents cont. | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|-------------------------------|--------|---------|--------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Household size | <i>Frequency</i> | 1.6037 | 1.03578 | .876 | | | | | | |
| 1-5 people | 172 (63.7) | | | | | | | | | |
| 6-10 people | 66 (24.4) | | | | | | | | | |
| 11-15 people | 13 (4.8) | | | | | | | | | |
| 16-20 people | 5 (1.9) | V | 2 | JF | | | | | | |
| 20+ People | 14(5.2) | D | 5/3 | 25 | | | | | | |
| Total | 270 (100) | 2-1 | 5 | 57 | | | | | | |
| Main occupation | Frequency | 3.6148 | 2.59535 | .002* | | | | | | |
| Farming | 129 (48) | 181 | 9 | | | | | | | |
| Artisans | 11 (4) | ~ | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | |
| Public/Civil Servant | 28 (<mark>10</mark>) | 5 | Y | 13 | | | | | | |
| Public/Civil Servant Trading/Food vending | 28 (10) 50 (19) | 22 | Y, | 12 | | | | | | |
| Public/Civil Servant Trading/Food vending Other Jobs | 28 (10) 50 (19) 51 (19) | ~~ | A | SADHER | | | | | | |

*p-values are significant at a.01

The highest level of educational attainments of the respondents was tertiary and post-secondary education. However, majority of the respondents in the communities have been educated up to the Junior Secondary School or the Middle school level with 45% representing this number. The next majority with 26% were those without any formal education. Most of the households 64% have household sizes of between 1-5 people, sharing common dwelling and make '*common provision for food or other essentials for living*' by the UNDY (United Nations Demographic Yearbook, 2004; *p*.7), while the next most important household sizes of between 6 and 10 people inclusive, were responded to by 24%; these were found in both single and or multiple households with 58% and 41% respectively.

By no mean implying that farming is the occupation of the illiterate, however, a greater proportion of the respondents were formally educated only up to the JSS/middle school level. This means therefore, that they generally could not have the requisite qualification to seek employment in white-collar jobs. This explains the predominance of the major occupation in the communities, being farming with 49%.

The next most important vocations were trading, including food vending and artisanal works at 19% each of the respondents. Only 10% were employees of the public and civil service as per the samples from the various communities. This confirms the predominance of agrarian livelihoods in the district. Some of these socio-demographic data are of relevance on the respondents' disposition and bearing on the peri-urban land use change patterns. These socio-demographic characteristics have been used to cross-tabulate the responses for analyses. These have been done to establish some relationship between them and the variables on the main issues of peri-urban LULC change dynamics in the district.

4.2.2 Main Causes of Peri-Urbanization in the Bosomtwe District

According to Appiah *et al.* (2014b), the main causes of peri-urbanization in the Bosomtwe district were identified among the respondents from all the 14 communities as follows: those that are driven by population and infrastructure expansion; the availability of excess land for which reason people are moving towards the district in speculation for land, ostensibly for residential and recreational purposes; and the perceived availability of social amenities that attract people for settlement into the district. The respondents maintained these were the main drivers of periurbanization of the Bosomtwe District.

From Figure 4.1, majority of the respondent (50%) indicated that the increasing physical infrastructure in the communities, which has occurred as a result of population influx from the main urban areas of Kumasi and Atonsu townships, are the main drivers. Others were of the view that easy access to land constitutes the main driver of a pull factor attracting potential residential developers into the district to acquire land for building and commercial purposes. This was delivered with a response rate of 31%. Some respondents (19%), also indicated that the rate of peri-urbanization is caused by the presence of social amenities such as schools, clinics and potable water, among others, as the attracting medium for people to settle in the district (Appiah et al, 2014b; Appiah et al., 2015).

2 BADW

W J SANE



Figure 4.1: The main causes of peri-urbanization according to respondents in the district

4.2.3 Major Human Activities that mostly affect Land uses as by the Community

Results from the survey revealed that major human activities that have been affecting and determining land uses range from subsistence agriculture, residential to commercial and some recreational (predominantly the hospitality and resort) activities of land use. Communities such as *Aduaben, Mim, Nyameani, Jachie* and *Feyaise* with combined response rates ranging from 53% to 93%, were predominantly agrarian. Therefore their responses pointed to the increasing subsistence agriculture to which land is put in these communities (Table 4.2).

Responses obtained from *Aputuogya, Asisiriwa, Esreso, Pramso, Pease, Kuntenase* and *SwedroAbrankese* indicated that land uses for residential and commercial activities were the main dominant human activities affecting land use conversions and transformation. The relative combined response rates ranged from 50% to 89%. These responses for the two main human activities affecting land uses i.e. subsistent agriculture and residential with commercial activities were identified as highly

preponderant in the specific communities indicated. Low to moderate land uses for the two activities also were identified by respondents in the other communities, with the exception of *Aputougya* where no respondent identified subsistent agriculture activities, with recreational land uses being on a very low side.

Table 4.2: Major human activities that mostly affect land uses/cover Land Uses(LUs)FrequencyValid Percent

| Sources Authoria field work 2015 | | | |
|---|-----|------|--|
| Total | 270 | 100 | |
| Recreation and Industrial (Small-scale) | 9 | 3.3 | |
| Expansion in residential and commercial LUs | 140 | 51.9 | |
| Increased Subsistence Agriculture LUs | 121 | 44.8 | |
| | | | |

Source: Author's field work, 2015.

A test of association was performed on the relationship between the community location and the type of human activities that have effects on land use dynamics. This was pre-informed by the reconnaissance survey which revealed the patterns of land uses per the communities visited during the survey. From the survey it was revealed that land in some of the communities was put to particular land use types, either due to their proximity to the main city and big towns, such as *Atonsu, Kumasi* and *Esereso* or others with relative location advantages. From the 2-

2 tailed test of association, a Pearson chi-square value of $\chi = 73.546$ at a degree of freedom, df=

26 and a significant value of p < .000 at $\alpha 0.001$. Although the Cramer's V test of the strength of the association was moderate at V = 0.37, it was significant. This implies that depending on the location of the community in relation other factors of land use demand, human land use types are location specific. This situation does not deviate from conventional principles of hedonic tendencies of land and their relative uses to which they are put.

4.3 Peri-Urban Land Uses, Drivers and Change

4.3.1 Land Use Activities Altering Peri-Urban LULCS in the Bosomtwe District

Form the results, expansion in residential and commercial land uses were identified as the main human drivers of peri-urban land uses, constituting about 52% of the responses. The next in relevance was the increased subsistent agriculture with close to 45%. In this case, the residents are seen to wield the rudimentary forms of land cultivation. These processes and methods include the slush and burn method of tillage with its consequences of tree cover and soil quality changes. Recreational and light industrial land use activities with only 3%, was not seen as a popular land use activity in the district (Figure 4.2). Therefore the respondents did identify with this human land use activity that has the tendencies to alter the land use and land cover considerably.



Figure 4.2: Main human activities that alter peri-urban LULCs

4.3.2 Drivers of competition for peri-urban land use in the Bosomtwe district

In the Bosomtwe district-a typical peri-urban area - these factors of land use competition drivers were identified as the easiness of the tenants to access land with 29% of the respondents indication,

changing demand trend in land uses identified by 34% of respondents. This factor may have other sub-drivers by other intrinsic factors. Majority of respondents (37%) indicated that deteriorating livelihoods of land holders, owners and land lords, is the main driver which push them to yield their lands for certain land use activities for which economic incentives and motivation enticements are in return (Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3: Main factors driving LULC changes

4.3.3 Peri-urbanization and Peri-urban Land use Change in the Bosomtwe district

Respondents' understanding of the concept of peri- urbanization was juxtaposed against the main causes of peri-urban land use changes in the district. From Table 4.3, increasing availability of Physical Infrastructure, correlated well with the increasing infrastructure as a description for periurbanization with a combined percentage response of 47%. Population increase in combination with the other causes such as availability and easy access to land and availability of social amenities yielded a combined response rate of 24%. The response rate for those whose definition entailed the combination of the two processes in association as the main causes of peri-urbanization was 29%. The results from a 2-tailed analysis showed that there is no significant association between the two concepts, as a Pearson's Chi-square value of 6.600 at a degree of freedom of 4 rather showed a p-value higher than $\alpha = .05$ (p > .159) with a Cramer's V

[/N] = [/N]

of.111.

| | Availability of | Availability and | | |
|----------------|----------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------------------|-------|
| Responses | physical infrastructure | Easy access to land | Availability of social amenities | Total |
| Increasing | | ~ | | |
| population | 31 | 22 | 12 | 65 |
| Increasing | | | | |
| infrastructure | 73 | 33 | 22 | 128 |
| Increasing | | | | |
| population and | | | | |
| infrastructure | 30 | 29 | 18 | 77 |
| Total | 134 | 84 | 52 | 270 |

The main uses of peri-urban lands in the district were identified as lands for residential, land for commercial and recreational activities and land for administrative purposes. These land uses were associated with the challenges identified as peculiar in peri-urban areas. These were identified as human and vehicular traffic congestion, social vices and problems of multiple sales of same lands to multiple buyers, with its attendant social problems of land guardsmen (*Land guardsmen in the context of Ghanaian land tenure relations, refer to hired men usually thugs by any of the contending parties over a piece of land under dispute of multiple ownership*). The results showed that there is no significant association between the two cases as a Pearson's chi-square value of 5.814 at a degree of freedom of 4 rather showed a p-value far higher than α = .05 (p> .213) with a Cramer's V of .147.

4.4 Past Peri-urban Land use Conversion and Modifications Patterns in the District A time series of peri-urban land use dynamics was undertaken using the respondents perceived and observed changes in land uses over the past10 years and their expectations of land use conversion and modification trend into the next 10 years. Over the past 10 years it was observed that residential, commercial, industrial (Low to medium) and recreational land uses, have expanded at the expense of agricultural and forest land uses (AFOLU) and cover. From the Figure 4.4, the pattern of land use changes and conversions are in the direction of Residential,

Commercial and Industrial with respective response rates of 85%, 48% and 38% respectively, indicating the increasing trends of these land uses.

On the land use and cover types that were seen as decreasing, agricultural and forest land uses were identified as dwindling in extent and intensity of use with 71% and 60% respondents respectively. Other respondents were of the view that some of these land uses have remained considerably unchanged in the realms of patterns of use; in that the reduction in agriculture land use for instance is not experiencing any increment likewise the other land uses like residential which gained momentum over the past 10 years have remained continuously increasing without any signs of reduction in their intensity and use. The Figure 4.4 further depicts this seeming stability on trends with 30% and 63% of the respondents indicating that forest land use and recreational land uses have remain unchanged over the period under consideration.



Figure 4.4: Land use activity trend over the past 10 years

In the next 10 years, the study also sought to project the land use trend from households observation considering the rates identified and perceived over the past 10 years. The responses did not deviate much from the past perceived trend of land use change in the district. From Figures 4.5 and 4.6, agriculture and forest land use/cover, according to the respondents, are expected to continue on the decreasing trend, with 62% and 59% respondents, respectively. The pattern of land use changes and conversions into the next 10 years will still be in the interest and directions of Residential, Commercial, Recreational and Industrial land uses. This is represented by their respective response rates of 80%, 66% and 38% respectively; indicating the increasing trends of these land uses into the future in the Bosomtwe district, barring any policy interventions, for the next ten years. Some of the respondents did not foresee any change in the patterns of use in the future. In fact, some respondents thought that the situation could be worse as;

"For over ten years of my living in this Esereso community, there has been residential housing expansion, we now have new site in this area with new residential buildings. The main occupation here is not farming, but trading and other commercial activities" (Interviewee, Esereso, May, 2014).

This trend of land use conversions from arable lands to residential and commercial and recreational uses have consequential implication for food security in the district as an agrarian



4.5 Observed Patterns of Land use Conversion and Perceived Future Land use Trends The study identified various land use conversion permutations as from agricultural land use to residential land use and from forest land use to residential and commercial land uses and any other conversions (though not of much importance to this objective). Respondents indicated that land use conversions were in response to the major factors accounting for speculative demand for land in the district. The respondents were of the view that potential land owners/tenants were motivated

to convert their land from agriculture to residential and commercial land uses because of the expected booming commercial activities in the district with 30 respondents.



The relatively cheaper grounds rent and easy access to land in the district motivated 50 and 67 respondents each for their observed patterns of conversion. In the interest of conversion from forest to residential and commercial land uses, the respondent indicated that the speculative demand due to cheaper grounds rent and easy access to land was their observation with 23 and 26 respondents respectively. On the whole, the observed patterns of land use conversion in the Bosomtwe district is motivated largely by speculative demand; where 43%, 29% and 28%

respondents indicated Easy access to land, relatively cheaper grounds rent and the expected booming commercial activities as the main drivers of the conversion trends respectively.

| Perceived Land Uses and Land Cover | Expected booming commercial activities | Relatively cheaper grounds rent | Easy Access to land | Total |
|--|---|--|---------------------------|------------|
| Agric LU to Residential / Commercial LU | 35(23%) | 50(33%) | 67(44%) | 152 (100%) |
| Forest cover to Residential/ Recreational LU | 15 (23%) | 23 (36%) | 26 (41%) | 64 (100%) |
| All other conversions | 26(48%) | 6(11%) | 22(41%) | 54 (100%) |
| Total | 76(28%) | 79(29%) | 115(43) | 270 (100) |

 Table 4.4: Relationship between land use conversion patterns and speculative demand for land in the district

Source: Author's field work, 2015.

To ascertain the association between the two nominal variables, a Pearson's Chi-square test of association was performed. The results indicated that there is a significant relationship between the observed patterns of land use conversion and the speculative demand for land in the

2 district. At $\alpha_{.05}$ significant level,

the Chi-square value was $\chi = 17.516$ at a degree of freedom df = 4. The probability value of establishing the association, *p*-value was p < .002. A Cramer's V test of strength of the association however indicated a weak link with a value of V = .180.

4.6. Household Land Use Patterns

4.6.1 Factors Influencing Selected Households' Land use Conversion Decisions The issue of households' land use conversion probabilities was contingent on certain conditions if these are offered to the decision makers. All the communities surveyed up to 51% were of the view that deterioration of livelihoods and the economic incentives associated in converting their original lands from say agriculture to residential would influence them to make their decision. Again, 26% of them indicated their readiness to decide to which type of land use to put their land, if speculative demand and other reasons for land acquisition have increased the changing demand trends. Finally, a proportion of 23% would decide on the fact that there is excess of land available for any future development considering their respective community population sizes (Table 4.5).

In some of the communities, there were more migrant settlers than indigenes; for instance in *Asisiriwa*, the inhabitants are occupying the land offered by the chiefs of *Mim* community. This cordial co-existence has continued for decades. In view of that leasing out their land or allowing for the conversion of their land into other uses, would not pose any future landlessness. This also 2 may explain the

relatively low grounds rent per plot of land (70 x 80/90m dimension) of up to about GhC300.00, approximately 73 USD (*Exchange rate as at January, 2014*), in those communities.

| Table 4.5: Households Decision Factors on Land Use Conversion | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|----|--------------------------|-------------------------|-------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Communities Excess Land | | Changing Demand Trend | Deteriorating household | Total | | | | | | |
| | | land | | | | | | | | |
| Aduaben | 6 | 3 | 6 | 15 | | | | | | |
| Aputuogya | 1 | 7 | 1 | 9 | | | | | | |
| Asisiriwa | 3 | 3 | 7 | 13 | | | | | | |
| Eseraso | 3 | 15 | 22 | 40 | | | | | | |
| Feyias <mark>e</mark> | 4 | 3 | 8 | 15 | | | | | | |
| Jachie | 3 | 9 | 28 | 40 | | | | | | |
| Kuntenase | 2 | 5 | 18 | 25 | | | | | | |
| Mim | 10 | 2 | 1 | 13 | | | | | | |
| Nyameani | 0 | 7 | 8 | 15 | | | | | | |
| New | | | | | | | | | | |
| Brodekwano | 8 | 3 | 6 | 17 | | | | | | |
| Pramso | 7 | 5 | 8 | 20 | | | | | | |
| Swedro- | | | | | | | | | | |
| Abrankese | 0 | 2 | 10 | 12 | | | | | | |

| Total | 78 | 91 | <u>101</u> | <u>N= 270</u> |
|-------|----|----|------------|---------------|
| Pease | 6 | 2 | 9 | 17 |
| Sewua | 10 | 4 | 5 | 19 |

Source: Author's field work, 2015

4.6.2 Gender differentials and household decisions on LULC changes

A cross tabulation between the status of the respondent in the household with the main influences on the household decisions to convert their land uses from original types, (usually agricultural and agro-forestry or forest covers to residential and commercial land uses), yielded some results. These results on the decisions to convert or modify land uses were disaggregated by gender. Among male respondents who were preponderantly the heads of households, their responses were based on all the three reasons that could influence their decisions, with deteriorating livelihoods and economic incentive as would accrue to the land owners from converting the land; being the most occurring reason with 44% response rate. The response rates of 29% and 27% corresponded to the changing land use trends and the easy access to land in the communities respectively.

Female household heads (some of whom were spouses with surviving husbands), on the other hand, were also of the view that economic incentive and changing demand trends in land use, will be their motivation to convert land uses if they have such opportunities. These femaleheaded households shared the responses with those who also doubled as the spouses of the maleheaded households with a response rate of 39% and 48% respectively.



Figure 4.7: Responses of reasons to convert land use types

2

A Pearson Chi-square analysis for this association, showed not significant for male headed

households but significant for female-headed households. From a Chi-square value $\chi = 15.011$ at a degrees of freedom, df = 6, the probability of likely association compared with $\alpha = .05$, was p = .022. The Cramer's V test of strength of nominal by nominal association was moderate at V = .239.

| Table 4.6: Pea <u>r</u> | son's Chi-Squ | are to | ests of association | between nominal | variables |
|-------------------------|-------------------|---------------|---------------------|-----------------|-----------|
| Gender of | Value | Df Asymptotic | | Cramer's V | Total |
| Respondent | | | significance* | | Cases |
| Male | 50.420 | 26 | p < .003 | .426 | 139 |
| Female | b | - | | - 13 | 131 |
| Total Cases | | | | | N= 270 |
| 0.581 | SR | 26 | p <.004 | .435 | |
| Tests were significar | t at α .01 | 25 | ANE NO | 1 | |

The chi-square test of association between the nominal variables also yielded interesting results. This time, the analysis with association among both genders was significant. For the 2 males there was a Chi-square value of, $\chi = 50.420$

and 49.581 at a degree of freedom df = 26, with a likelihood of association with p = .003 and p = .004. To test for the strength of associations, the Cramer's V used showed a very strong association of V = .426, and .435 respectively for males and females from all the communities (Table 4.6). The Cramer's interpretation, otherwise reported by the Cramer scale of index interpretation as quite strong association, would fit for these kinds of associations recorded.

4.6.3 Household Agents' Decision on Original Land Use Conversions

A logistic regression was also run to determine the effects of the driving responses of periurbanization as non-categories independent variables (IV) or the predictors have, to influence the dichotomous dependent variable (DV) or the response. The dichotomous responses to the dependent variables were posed, as to whether the respondents would convert their arable land from present use to a different use? They were to respond as 1 = Yes, would convert and 0 = No, would not convert.

These were predicted by the conditional statements of the independent variables as: what if there are changes (upward/downward adjustment) in the ground rent per standard plot of land (100m x 100m) in the district; the major human activities that affect LULC in the district; the income category of the people who predominantly settle in the peri-urban areas of the district and the criteria used in determining the price/rent of a plot of land in the district as the independent variable. The analysis was conducted using a case-wise binary logistic regression in SPSS to ascertain the likelihood of respondents taking a decisions *to convert* or *not to convert* their land to any other uses. These actions are taken in the form of the probability of the action occurring or not occurring as either 1 or 0 in binary logistic modeling (King and Zeng, 2001).

From the earlier analysis of the logistic regression model, the outcome of the data in Table 4.7 was fitted using the probabilities of conversion, given by the various independent variables. It is also to determine which of the predictor variables has the highest degree of influence in predicting the outcome of the land use conversion by the household agents. By fitting the logistic regression model to the variables, using the formula in (Eqn. 4.1), the respective odd ratio of the independent variables in predicting the outcome was calculated as follows;

$\Box \exp_{a \Box \Box_1 X_1 \Box \Box_2 X_2 \Box \Box_3 X_3 \Box \dots \Box}$

4.1 [□] $p\Box \sqcap 1^{\Box} \exp^{a\Box \Box_{1}X_{1}\Box \Box_{2}X_{2}\Box \Box_{3}X_{3}\Box...}\Box \Box$

During the analysis, the null hypothesis stated that without the independent variables the model is a good fitting model. Alternatively, the other hypothesis was that the model is not a good fit without the inclusion of the independent variables in the model. At the case step 0, which is the beginning method the overall predicted percentage is 57.9%. This is a measure of the fitness of the model when y = the constant. The overall significant of the model without the independent variables was p < .000 at a $\alpha_{.001}$ significant level. However, with the inclusion of the independent variables (grounds rent per plot of land, major human activities, income category of settlers and criteria for determining rent of a plot of land), the overall significance of the model was also p < .000 at a chi-square value of 24.453, at a 4 degree of freedom.

The overall percentage predictive accuracy of the step 1 model is 77.6% as against the 57.9% of the null (constant only) model. Three out of the four independent variables were of much significance in predicting the outcomes of household respondents. These were the grounds rent per plot of land in the district, the major human activities that affect LULC in the district and the

criteria used in determining the price/rent of a plot of land with probabilities of p < .003, p < .011and p < .043 respectively, which is less than the significant level of $\alpha = .05$.

The model, however, was able to explain this prediction at only 37%., at the Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.37$. There may, therefore, be other inherent explanations beyond the scope of the model to explain the relationship. Possible reasons could be the fact that the independent variables predicting the response variables, are not measured as categorically as the dependent variable, in a ratio and/or interval scales to yield the exact numeric predicted outcomes by each category under each response, for which the model can succinctly explain. However, a trial of the former approach, rendered most of the predictors as more than desirable confounding variables.

The confidence intervals of (CIs) of $1.358 \le CI \le 4.517$ and $1.039 \le CI \le 11.486$ for the two main predictors of the outcome, and a (EXP) $\beta > 1$, ranging between 2.477 and 3.455 means that the odds of respondents being more likely to convert their land from original uses to other uses given that the appropriate grounds rent on the land market is higher. The probability of conversion is more than 3 times, when any of the two main predictor variables increase by one unit. Also, they would convert their land on condition that demand for their land meets the criteria of prospective tenants and buyers who are looking out for some criteria upon which the grounds rent is based.

| Table 4.7: Variab | les in the | step-wise | binary l | logistic | regression | Equation |
|-------------------|------------|-----------|----------|----------|------------|----------|
| | 7,0 | | | | - | NY/ |

| β | <u>S.E.</u> | Wald | <u>df</u> | | | <u>Sig.</u> | $Exp(\beta)$ | Lower | Upper |
|---|-------------|-------|-----------|------|-------|-------------|--------------|-------|-------|
| The grounds rent/plot (<i>X1</i>) .91 | .307 | 8.753 | 1 | E N | 0 | .003** | 2.477 | 1.358 | 4.517 |
| Income category of residents | | | 1 | .227 | 1.614 | | | 742 | 3 509 |
| (<i>X</i> 2).48 | .665 | 6.482 | 1 | | | | | ., .2 | 5.507 |
| Major human activities on land - | | | | | | .011* | .184 | .050 | .677 |
| 1.69 | | | | | | | | | |

(X3)

| Criteria determining grounds | 1.24 | .613 | 4.091 | 1 | .043* | 3.455 | 1.039 | 11.486 |
|------------------------------|---------|---------|----------|---------------------|-----------|-------|-------|--------|
| rent | | | | | | | | |
| <u>(X</u> 4) | | | | | | | | |
| Constant | - | | _ | | . <u></u> | - | | |
| | -1.24 | 1.809 | .470 | | .493 | .290 | | |
| | | | | 1 | | | | |
| *Test is significant at a.0. | 5; ** i | test is | signific | cant at $\alpha.01$ | | | | |

The assumption is that if the location of the land meets some or all of the price-fixing criteria, land owner would be in the position to convert it to other uses particularly residential uses. The probability of the case outcome of land use conversion based on the independent variables can be expressed in the general equation from Eqn. 2 as follows:

p 00001.

 $e \Box \Box (e0 \Box (.910.91R_gR_g) \Box) (\Box 1.(241.24DrDr) \Box) (\Box 00.48.48II)) \Box \Box 11.24.24 \Box \Box \Box \Box$ 4.3

From the logistic regression results, with references to the odds for the likelihood of a change in any of the independent variables in predicting the dependent category can thus be determined from the odds ratio or the *logit of probability* (p) function above. The grounds rent/plot (Rg); Income category of residents in peri- urban areas (I); Major human activities on land uses/cover changes and the Criteria determining grounds rent (Dr), have significant determining influences on the respondents to convert or not their land from agriculture land use particularly into others, such as residential land uses. The discussions of the implications of these results are detailed in chapter nine later in the thesis.

4.6.4 Implications of the Land Use Conversion Decisions

These land use conversion decision, as determined by the ground rent and associated criteria, according to Robinson *et al.* (2007), at the household level, the decision of land use conversion and modification may arise as a result of opportunities or constraints to their initial decision outcomes.

This view though, is without recourse to the customary type of land ownership arrangements that pertains in the Ashanti region and for that matter, the Bosomtwe district. The results from the communities on how households make land use decisions are *in tandem* with the views of Bajocco *et al.* (2012) that various dynamic variables interact to exert influence on land use driver-decisions to identifying the various uses to which the land could be put.

4.7 Conclusion

Such decisions may be predetermined directly or indirectly by local to regional factors, including major custodians, including traditional authorities, who invariably have the final sanctioning authority for land use and conversion at the local scale. Vejre (2008) has opined that this happens because households and other associated decision agents act to present as much as possible rational decision, pertaining to the optimization as well as maximization of gains from the use of the land resource.

KNUST

CHAPTER 5: SPATIAL ANALYSES OF LAND USE AND LAND COVER AND VEGETATION COVER DYNAMICS

5.1 Introduction

Modelling LULC change in a changing environment requires dynamic analytical tools to arrive at the desired results. The chapter four presented the results from the socioeconomic sensing of respondents views and perceptions of the LULC changes in the district. These data were obtained to corroborate the LULC classification results obtained from the satellite remote sensing techniques; as presented in this chapter.

One aspect of LULC dynamics that have consequential outcomes of anthropogenic infractions on the natural environment are the changing patterns and rates of land use changes, devoted to agriculture, forestry and other land uses, particularly in peri-urban fringes. The peri-urban areas by virtue of their complex and changing land use patterns have made themselves amenable for study within the land use science literature. The Bosomtwe district of the Ashanti region is an emerging peri-urban area, with prospects of demonstrating such complexities in its LULC patterns, at least into the next decade. This chapter espouses the results from the classification and analysis of the LULC types derived from the five satellite images covering the Bosomtwe district area.

5.1.1 Results of LULC Accuracy Assessment

The Kappa statistic is generally accepted as a measure of classification accuracy for both the model as well as user of the model of classification (Maingi and Marsh. 2002). Kappa values are characterized as <0 as indicative of no agreements and 0–0.2 as slight, 0.2–0.41 as fair, 0.41– 0.60 as moderate, 0.60–0.80 as substantial and 0.81–1.0 as almost perfect agreement (Mangi and Marsh, 2002; Landis and Koch, 1977). The overall classification accuracy of the images yielded substantial high *Kappa* statistics of 80.70%, 58%, 52%, 72.41% and 82.76% for the 1986, 2002, 2007, 2010 and the 2014 images, respectively. This is an indication of classification accuracy of moderately substantial to almost perfect agreement (Tables 5.1-5.5) (Appiah *et al.*, 2016).

The high to very high accuracy of classification for three of the images (1986, 2010 & 2014), emphasize the precision of the LULC sampled points obtained via the Global Position System (GPS) survey. For the accuracy assessment of the 1986 image, the technique of land use persistency was used and juxtaposed with the current GPS points collected from current field work. The only limiting factor in the check for LULC accuracies was the absence of reference maps or points, during the accuracy assessment process; this was, however, fixed by alternative approach. Owing to the absence of pre-existing land use maps or aerial photographs to be used as the base

th reference map, the Google map for the date of 20 April 2003 was used for the classification accuracy check for 1986, 2002 and 2007 images. Also, LULC types that remained considerably unchanged over a long period, such as old settlements, water bodies, and forest reserves, were used as reference points.

| Table 5.1: Class by Class Classification Accuracy of 2014 image | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----------|------------|---------|-----------|----------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Class Name | Reference | Classified | Number | Producers | Users | | | | | | | |
| | Totals | Totals | Correct | Accuracy | Accuracy | | | | | | | |
| DF | 4 | 2 | 2 | 50.00% | 100.00% | | | | | | | |
| LF | 3 | 5 | 1 | 33.33% | 20.00% | | | | | | | |
| BBC | 37 | 34 | 34 | 91.89% | 100.00% | | | | | | | |
| RFGL | 12 | 15 | 9 | 75.00% | 60.00% | | | | | | | |
| WB | 2 | 2 | 2 | 100.00% | 100.00% | | | | | | | |
| Totals | 58 | 58 | 48 | | | | | | | | | |

Overall Classification Accuracy = 82.76% Overall Kappa Statistics = 0.69

DF = Dense Forest; LF = Low Forest; BBC = Build up/Bare land/Concrete; RFGL = Recent Fallows/Grasslands and WB = Water Body

| Class Name | Reference | Classified | Number | Producers | Users |
|------------|-----------|------------|---------|-----------------|-----------------|
| | Totals | Totals | Correct | Accuracy | Accuracy |
| DF | 4 | 1 | 1 | 25.00% | 100.00% |
| LF | 3 | 12 | 2 | 66.67% | 16.67% |
| BBC | 37 | 32 | 31 | 83.78% | 96.88% |
|--------|----|----|----|---------|---------|
| RFGL | 12 | 11 | 6 | 50.00% | 54.55% |
| WB | 2 | 2 | 2 | 100.00% | 100.00% |
| Totals | 58 | 58 | 42 | | |

Overall Classification Accuracy = 72.41% Overall Kappa Statistic = 0.54

| Class Name | Reference | Classified | Number | Producers | Users |
|------------|-----------|------------|---------|-----------|----------|
| | Totals | Totals | Correct | Accuracy | Accuracy |
| DF | 7 | 13 | 5 | 71.43% | 38.46% |
| LF | 9 | 10 | 3 | 33.33% | 30.00% |
| BBC | 17 | 12 | 12 | 70.59% | 100.00% |
| RFGL | 9 | 7 | 1 | 11.11% | 14.29% |
| WB | 8 | 5 | 5 | 62.50% | 100.00% |
| Totals | 50 | 50 | 26 | | _ |

| Table | 53. | Class | hv | Class | Clas | sifica | tion | Ac | curac | v of | 2007 | imao |
|-------|------|-------|-----|-------|------|---------|------|----|-------|------|------|------|
| | J.J. | Class | UV. | UIA33 | VIAS | osinica | uon | AU | Juiat | V UL | 4007 | шае |

Overall Classification Accuracy = 52% Overall Kappa Statistic = 0.40

| Table 5.4. Class by Class Classification Accuracy of 2002 image | | | | | | | |
|---|---------------|---------------|----------------|-----------------|----------------------|--|--|
| Class Name | Reference | Classified | Number | Producers | Users | | |
| | Totals | Totals | Correct | Accuracy | Accuracy | | |
| DF | 11 | 13 | 5 | 45.45% | 38.46% | | |
| LF | 13 | 7 | 4 | 30.77% | 57.14% | | |
| BBC | 5 | 3 | 3 | 60.00% | 100.00% | | |
| RFGL | 9 | 10 | 6 | 66.67% | 60.00% | | |
| WB | 12 | 15 | 11 | 91.67% | <mark>73</mark> .33% | | |
| Totals | 50 | 50 | 29 | | | | |

Overall Classification Accuracy = 58% Overall Kappa Statistic = 0.47

| | Table 5.5. Class by | | Lation Accura | acy 01 1980 mi | age |
|----|---------------------|------------|---------------|----------------|----------|
| | Reference | Classified | Number | Producers | Users |
| | Totals | Totals | Correct | Accuracy | Accuracy |
| DF | 14 | 10 | 9 | 64.29% | 90.00% |
| LF | 9 | 7 | 6 | 66.67% | 85.71% |

Table 5.5: Class by Class Classification Accuracy of 1986 image

| Overall Classifie | cation Accurac | v = 80.70% | Overall Kap | pa Statistic = 0 | .68 |
|--------------------------|----------------|------------|--------------------|------------------|---------|
| Totals | 57 | 51 | 46 | | |
| WB | 10 | 9 | 9 | 90.00% | 100.00% |
| RFGL | 13 | 14 | 12 | 92.31% | 85.71% |
| BBC | 11 | 11 | 10 | 90.91% | 90.91% |

5.1.2 The satellite images and LULC classes Analyses

This sub-section details the analyses and of the LULC classes identified from the classifications. It does so by comparing the class by class composition of the various images to ascertain the increases and decreases of the various LULC types over the periods.

5.1.3 Analysis of LULC classes for 1986 image

Results for the analysis of the 1986 image show that the LULC types at the time was a reflection of the incidence of drought and wild fires that characterized the previous year's starting from the 1983 to 1985. From Figure 5.1 & 5.2, it can be observed that the vegetation cover of the district was largely degraded temporarily (since the vegetation regenerated in subsequent years).

W J SANE BADW



Figure 5.1 LULC Map of 1986 Landsat 5 TM image

From the classified image it was evident that recent fallows and grasslands and farm lands dominated the landscape, with 12,722 hectare (ha), representing 39% of the land area. Next in importance was the low forest, which was the newly regenerating vegetation. This covered an area of 9181 ha with percentage coverage of 28%. Patches of dense forests, that survived the drought and wild fires constituted an appreciable proportion of 5834 ha representing 18% of the total land area. Built up/Bare land and Concrete surfaces at the time was low, and occupied an area of 1201 ha, representing 3.7%. The only water body that was classified is the Lake Bosomtwe. Other water bodies were not discernible from the images for classification. The lake area was identified to be 3494 hectares.





5.1.4 Analysis of LULC classes for 2002 image

The LULC classes of 2002 were an improvement over the 1986 image which served as the base year of analysis, in terms of area coverage. In 2002, dense forest cover was 8761 ha representing about 28% of the land cover. A proportion of 30% of the land area was covered by low forest vegetation with 9330 ha. Built up/Bare land and concrete surfaces also covered an area of 5664 ha representing about 18% of the total land cover. The open wood land/ and farm lands were reduced to 4423 ha at about 14% of the land area, while the lake covered an area of 3435 ha at approximately 11% of the total land area, (Figures 5.3 & 5.4). NO BADY

WJSANE



Figure 5.3 LULC Map of 2002 Landsat 7 ETM+ image



Figure 5.4: LULC classes Area (ha) for 2002

5.1.5 Analysis of LULC classes for 2007 image

The land use classes in 2007 showed considerable increase in the dense forest cover with 10,300 ha, representing 38% of the total LULC classes in the area. In order of next importance were the recent fallows, grasslands and farm lands which covered an area of 8435 ha representing 22% of the area. Low forest was ranked next in terms of coverage with 5194 ha. Built up/bare land and concrete surfaces was next in coverage of importance with 5451 ha i.e., 11% of the land area. A considerable proportion of this was as a result of the exposure of the land surfaces due to agriculture and other methods of vegetation removal around the fringes of Lake Bosomtwe (Fig 5.5 & 5.6). The lake coverage was identified as occupying 3410 ha representing 11% of the total area.



Figure 5.5 LULC Map of 2007 Landsat 7 ETM+ image



Figure 5.6: LULC classes Area (ha) for 2007

5.1.6 Analysis of LULC classes for 2010 image

By 2010, the LULC classes have shown considerable change dynamics with some profound revelations in terms of the dense forest and low forest cover (Figures 5.7 & 5.8). The total area of dense forest cover in that year was 3581 ha representing only 10% of the entire district LULC. This deficit in coverage on the dense forest led to the appreciation in certain land areas such as Recent Fallows and Grasslands with 11,530 ha, as well as low forest, with 8138 ha, measuring up to about 36 and 25% by proportion respectively. Built up/ bare land and concrete land use and cover, were identified to be 5454 ha representing 17% of the area coverage. The lake (water body) in that year was 3420 ha representing 11% of the total area.

SANE



Figure 5.7 LULC Map of 2010 Landsat 7 ETM+ image



Figure 5.8: LULC classes Area (ha) for 2010

5.1.7 Analysis of LULC classes for 2014 image

The 2014 image shows that the district has experienced an appreciable level of cover changes in terms of the increasing Built up/ bare lands and concrete surfaces. The LULC (LULC) classes showed some startling revelation as far as the area coverage of the respective land uses was concerned.

Low forest cover maintained its high area of coverage with 10,947 ha, representing 33% of the total area of land use and covers. Recent Fallows and Grasslands were also next by area coverage of 9367 ha, with a proportion of 29%. Built up/bare land and concrete surfaces, although showed an increase from the visual observation, the statistics of 4597 ha by area coverage, indicated a decrease in area from the 2010 image; representing 14% of the total land area. The area covered by the lake (water body) was 3424 ha representing about 11% of the total area (Figures 5.9 & 5.10).





Figure 5.9: LULC Map of 2014 Landsat 8 OLI/TIS image



Figure 5.10: LULC classes Area (ha) for 2014

A general analysis of the LULC changes trend over the period from 1986 to 2014 does not portray the trends of peri-urbanism as the study sought to anticipate. The study proposed *ab initio* that residential and other human land use activities are increasing, with respect to other land uses such as forest cover. From the Figure 5.10, dense forest cover increased considerably until 2007, when it begun to reduce until 2010.

During this period, there was a corresponding increase in the other land uses particularly low forest cover, which also included the plantation agriculture of oil palm and citrus fruits, open wood land and farm land, mainly small holding agriculture land for food crops production as well as Built up, bare soils and concrete until 2002. The composite statistics of LULC in terms of area in hectares are displayed in Table 5.6.

| | 1 | 1 | Fable 5 | 5.6: | Composit | te Ta | ble of Area | a Statist | ics in H | Iecta | ires | 7 | | |
|----------|-----------|------|----------------|------|-----------|----------------|--------------|-----------------|----------|-------|-----------|----------|------------------------|----------|
| | 1986 | | 2002 | 2 | | | 2007 | | | | 2010 | | 2014 | • |
| Year | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| LUL C | Area (ha) | % | Area (ha) | % | | | Area (ha) | | | % | Area (ha) | % | Area (ha) | % |
| | | 1 | 6 | - | 200 | 6 | 150 | | NC. | | | | | |
| DF | 5834 | 18 | 8760. | 27. | 10,299.8 | 7 | 22 | | | 37. | 3581.37 | 10. | 4454.46 | 13. |
| | • | | 90 | 7 | | ~ | - | | | 8 | | 4 | | 6 |
| | 15 | 0 | | | | < | \leftarrow | \triangleleft | | | 1 | 3 | 7 | |
| LF | 9180.62 | 28.3 | 9329. | 29. | | | 5193.63 | | | 18. | 8137.62 | 46. | 10,947. | 33. |
| | | | 80 | 5 | | | | | | 9 | | 8 | 33 | 4 |
| | | ~ | -91 | 1 | | | | | _ | -0 | ~/ | | | |
| BB | 1201 00 | 37 | 5664 | 17 | 2 | | 5451 21 | | 8 | 11 | 5454 36 | 11 | 4596 93 | 14 |
| C | 1201.00 | 5.1 | 2004. | 0 | 1 | | 0-101.21 | - | ~ | 0 | 0-10-100 | 0 | 4070070 | 17. A |
| C | | | 20 | , | W. | 25 | ANE | NO | > | U | | , | | U |
| RF | 12,722. | 39.2 | 4422. | 14. | | | 8434.98 | | | 21. | 11530. | 20. | 9366.75 | 28. |
| GL | 35 | | 90 | 0 | | | | | | 9 | 26 | 1 | | 5 |
| | | | | | 3434.90 | 10.9 | 3410.10 | 10.5 | 3419.64 | 4 | | | | |
| WB | | | | | | - | | | | | | | | |
| | 32,432.3 | 3100 | 31,612 | . 10 | 32,789.79 | 9 ^x | | | | 10 | 32,123 | 10 | 32,789. | 10 |
| Total | 5 | | 70 | 0 | | - | | | | 0 | .25 | <u>0</u> | <u>79</u> ^x | <u>0</u> |

Apart from the 2007 and 2014 images, the area statistics do not tally for the 1986, 2002 and 2010 images. This is because of the coverage of clouds and line stripes serving as noise on the images that covered portions of the total map image areas of interest.

However, between 2002 and 2007, a period of 5 years, all other land uses reduced in their area converge with the exception of recent fallows and grasslands as well as dense forest cover. Between 2002 and 2010, built up, bare soil and concrete surfaces land uses and covers, increased marginally in growth as the area figure depicts. However, by 2010, low forest and recent fallows and grasslands and farm lands have increased in area extent, while dense forest also reduced in area (Figure 5.11). This is an indication that extensive land use for agriculture and other land uses have tendencies to open up the dense forest and degraded low forest covers through subsistence fallow agricultural activities. Between 2010 and 2014, Built up bare soils and concrete surfaces reduced; while low to dense forest covers increased appreciably (see analysis of respective area changes).



Figure 5.11: Composite LULC classes per year

5.1.8 LULC Classes Change Trends Between 1986 and 2002

The LULC class trend analysis shows the direction in which the various classes are heading using their respective initial years of comparison as the base. Between 1986 and 2002 (i.e., the 16 year-period), dense forest increased by 2927 ha. Low forest also increased by 149 ha, with Built up, bare land and concrete areas increasing by 4463 ha. Water body (i.e., the lake) also receded its shores by 59 ha. Recent fallows/Grassland was the only class that reduced substantially by 8300 ha from 12,722 ha, over the 16-year period (Table 5.7). This was the case since the district has and continues to recover from the drought and temporal degradation of the land surface, particularly vegetation cover.

| Table 5.7: LULC change trend from 1986 to 2002 | | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------|----------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| LULC Classes | Area (Hectares) | Percentage (%) | | | | | |
| Dense Forest | 2927 | 33 | | | | | |
| Low Forest | 149 | 2 | | | | | |
| Built up/Bare/Concrete | 4463 | 79 | | | | | |
| Recent Fallows and | -8300 | -188 | | | | | |
| Grasslands | | 15 | | | | | |
| Water Body | -59 | -2 | | | | | |

5.1.9 LULC Classes Change Trends Between 2002 and 2007

The LULC trends between 2002 and 2007 were indicative of human activities beginning to take a toll on the land use and cover types. Dense forest increased by 1539 ha, while Recent fallows/Grasslands also increased by 4012 ha. Low forest, Built up/bare and concrete surfaces

decreased by 4136 ha and 213 ha respectively; while water body (Lake Bosomtwe) further marginally receded its shores by 25 Ha over the five-year period (Table 5.8).

Considering the predominance of negative trend in the LULC classes, it was obvious that certain land use classes especially low forest cover and built up, bare land and concrete surfaces, had transition into other uses by the year 2007. It is pertinent to note that the Built up, bare land and concrete surfaces in the previous years could be converted to other uses such as low forest and open woodland and farmland. This is because, the bare land areas included; the bare school parks (e.g. Onwe No. 2), the *galamsey* pits between Beposo and Amakom (though not part of selected study communities) and sand winning sites that dotted the district. All these bare areas have conversional abilities to other uses as indicated at a certain conversion probabilities.



| Table 5.8: LULC change trend from 2002 to 2007 | | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------|----------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| LULC Classes | Area (Hectares) | Percent change | | | | | |
| Dense Forest | 1539 | 15 | | | | | |
| Low Forest | -3146 | -80 | | | | | |
| Built up/Bare/Concrete | -213 | 4 2 | | | | | |
| Recent Fallows/Grasslands (RFGL) | 4012 | 46 | | | | | |
| Water Body | -25 | -6 | | | | | |
| AV. | | | | | | | |

5.1.10 LULC Classes Change Trends Between 2007 and 2010

By 2010 from 2007, dense forest cover has reduced tremendously from the initial increasing trend since 2002, to a substantial decrease by 6719 ha. This loss was the highest decrease ever over the 24 year period from 1986 to 2010. This was at the gain of the other LULC types; where, Low forest

increased in size by 2944 ha, while built up, bare land and concrete surfaces also increased marginally by 3 ha. Recent fallows and Grasslands showed an increase of 3095 ha, whiles the water body increased marginally by 10 ha over the period of three years (Table 5.9).

| Table 5.9: LULC Change trend from 2007 to 2010 | | | | | | | | |
|--|-----------------|----------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| LULC Classes | Area (Hectares) | Percent change | | | | | | |
| Dense Forest | -6719 | -188 | | | | | | |
| Low Forest | 2944 | 36.2 | | | | | | |
| Built up/Bare/Concrete | 3.2 | 5.4 | | | | | | |
| Recent Fallows/Grasslands | | | | | | | | |
| (RFGL) | 3095 | 27 | | | | | | |
| Water Body | 10 | 0.30 | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

5.1.11 LULC Classes Change Trends Between 2010 and 2014

The LULC classes by the year 2014 have assumed different dimensions of change from the sizes of their previous sizes in comparison to their current sizes. Contrary to the general notion that when land uses are transiting from vegetation cover to other land uses, the predominant land use and cover types happen to be built up or urban rocks and bare soils, the scenario was quite different in the Bosomtwe district.

| Table 5.10: LULC change trend from 2010 to 2014 | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----------------|------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| LULC Classes | Area (Hectares) | Percentage | | | | | | |
| Dense Forest | 837 | 20 | | | | | | |
| Low Forest | 2810 | 26 | | | | | | |
| Built up/Bare/Concrete | -857 | 19 | | | | | | |
| Recent Fallows/Grasslands | -2164 | -23.1 | | | | | | |
| Water Body | 5 | 0.4 | | | | | | |
| | SANE T | | | | | | | |

What was observed, however, was that Built up bare lands and concrete surface land decreased by 857 ha (this phenomenon is attributable to possible re-vegetated bare lands included in the classes). Land cover types such as low forest, which to an extent included plantation farms increased by

2810 ha. The dense forest, however, increased by 837 ha as compared to the decreasing trend in the 2007 image. Recent fallows and Grasslands also increased by 2164 ha, with the water body gaining a rather marginal area of 5 ha (Table 5.10).

5.1.12 The Rate of LULC Change

The LULC types exhibited varying degrees of change between the successive years. According to Table 5.6, almost all the LULC classes, with exception of low forest cover between 2002 and 2007, demonstrated high rate of change from the base year in question to the next successive year. The rate of land use class change ranged from no change to very marginal changes between the successive years. This implies that between 1986 and 2002 for instance, recent fallows and grasslands changed by 2% over the 16 year period; and by this rate, the change was a reduction in the LULC class by 8299 ha. The rate of change was either positive or negative, implying a gain or loss of land use type in the following year of comparison respectively (Table 5.11).

| Table 5.11: Rate of change in LULC type between the successive years | | | | | | | | | | |
|--|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Rate of change | 1986 to 2002 | 2002 to 2007 | 2007 to 2010 | 2010 to 2014 | | | | | | |
| Dense Forest | 0.043 | 0.012 | -0.032 | 0.017 | | | | | | |
| Low Forest Built up/Bare/Concrete | 0.001 | -0.023 | 0.051 | 0.026 | | | | | | |
| ~ | 0.037 | -0.002 | 0.000 | -0.009 | | | | | | |
| Recent Fallows/Grasslands | | | | | | | | | | |
| | -0.032 | 0.138 | 0.028 | -0.011 | | | | | | |
| Water Body | -0.001 | <u>0.000</u> | 0.000 | 0.000 | | | | | | |



Figure 5.12: LULC change trends from 1986 to 2014

5.2 Land Use and Land Cover Change Transition Matrices

5.2.1 Introduction

A first order Markov analysis was used to derive LULC change matrices for the analysis of the rates of land use type conversions from one land use class type to another type and, between the various years' intervals of analysis. These were the co-transitions occurring between 1986 and 2002 (16yrs.); 2002 and 2007 (5yrs.); 2007 and 2010 (3yrs.) as well as between 2010 and 2014 (4yrs). Their corresponding probabilities of change were also determined, and displayed in the appropriate tables following the matrix tables. This was to measure the rate of change as well as facilitate the use of the Markov chain modelling to predict the changes in land use types into the

future. The various LULC transitions have been presented in the appropriate transition matrices in tables.

5.2.2 Land use class Transition Matrix from 1986 to 2002

The analysis of the results from the image years between 1986 and 2002 LULC types as were cross-tabulated for their transitional matrix shows that the land use classes transited from one type to another according to some degree of proportions. The diagonals of the matrix, in Table 5.12, indicate the area in hectare of LULC types that remained without any conversions of class.

Between 1986 and 2002, the area of LULC retention, constituted a total of 10,359 ha representing about 37% of the total area. The most LULC conversion occurring within this period is the conversion of recent fallows and grasslands into low forest with a total conversion area of 3,900 ha. As seen in Table 5.12, there was a substantial increase in built up, bare and concrete surface land uses by 3998 ha, representing 380% change. This was gained from the conversion of recent fallows and grasslands to dense forest by 3386 ha and to built up/bare land and concrete land uses by 2043 ha. The former change was represented by an overall percentage change of -65%, during this period.

The forest cover increased tremendously by 2905 ha representing a total change of 59%. This was as a result of the regeneration of the vegetation cover from the previous years' draught and forest fires that characterized the country in the early to mid-1980s. Bare areas component of the (Built up/bare land and concrete lands) were actually re-vegetated into dense and low forest respectively with the areas of 2905 ha and 396 ha respectively. All other land use transitions did occur marginally including the Water body; which was converted to recent fallows and grasslands along its shores by agricultural activities.

On the basis of the conversion probabilities, therefore, between the 1986 and 2002, all, the land uses with the exception of the Recent fallows and Grasslands had land use probability persistence rates of more than 30% (Table 5.12 & 5.13).

| | Tuble 5.12: Luna | use cluss | i i ansitio | | 1700 10 | 2002 | |
|------|---------------------------|-----------|---------------------|-------------------------------|---------|------|------------|
| LU | JLC Classes | DF | LF | 2002 Image BB/Conc. | OW/FL | WB | 1986 Total |
| | Dense Forest | 2054 | 1409 | 777 | 646 | 0 | 4886 |
| nage | Low Forest | 2217 | 2767 | 1675 | 1264 | 0 | 7922 |
| | Built Bare/Conc. | 132 | 237 | 550 | 127 | 4 | 1050 |
| 7 | Recent Fallows/Grasslands | 3386 | 3900 | 2043 | 1890 | 1 | 11,219 |
| | Water Body | 3 | 7 | 3 | 15 | 3092 | 3120 |
| | 2002 Total | 7791 | | 5048 | 3942 | 3098 | 28,197 |
| | Change (Ha) | +2905 | <u>8318</u> +396 | +3998 | -7277 | -22 | 14,662 |
| | Change (%) | +59 | +5 | +380 | -65 | -0.7 | 52 |

| Table 5.12. Lanu use class Transmon Maura nom 1700 to 2 | use class Transition Matrix from 1986 to 2 | latrix from 1986 to | Transition | use class | Land | 5.12: | Table | '] |
|---|--|---------------------|------------|-----------|------|-------|-------|----|
|---|--|---------------------|------------|-----------|------|-------|-------|----|

IZN II IC

| | Table 5.13: La | nd Use tran | sition Pr | obability Mat | rix 1986 to 2 | 002 | | | | |
|-------|------------------------------|-------------|-----------|---------------|---------------|------|-------|--|--|--|
| TT | II C Classes | 2002 Image | | | | | | | | |
| LC | | DF | LF | BB/Conc. | OW/FL | WB | Total | | | |
| | Dense Forest | 0.42 | 0.29 | 0.16 | 0.13 | 0.00 | 1.00 | | | |
| Image | Low Forest | 0.28 | 0.35 | 0.21 | 0.16 | 0.00 | 1.00 | | | |
| | Built up/Bare/Concrete | 0.13 | 0.23 | 0.52 | 0.12 | 0.00 | 1.00 | | | |
| 1986 | Recent Fallows/Grasslands | 0.30 | 0.35 | 0.18 | 0.17 | 0.00 | 1.00 | | | |
| | Water Body | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.99 | 1.00 | | | |

1 Soft

BAD

5.2.3 Land use class Transition Matrix from 2002 to 2007

By 2007, most of the land use classes have increased in terms of their area of coverage from their original marginal conversions into considerable areas of coverage. The total land use retention or persistence was 14,107 ha, representing 45% of the total land area. Most of the conversions occurred from low forest to open woodland and farmlands. This means more land was put under

agricultural activities with its decreasing effect on the low forest cover. The area of covered by open woodland at the expense of low forest was 3661ha.

At the same time, most of the low forest cover was upgraded to dense cover by an area of 2358 ha. Recent fallows/Grassland and Built up and bare (mostly the bare areas) land conversions into dense forest cover was also substantial by 1211 ha and 1338 ha respectively. These dense forest areas were, however, replaced by 1470 ha of open woodland and farm lands. This means considering the former conversions into the latter respectively, there was a net loss of dense forest cover over the period in comparison to RFGL and BBC land use and covers (Table 5.14).

The land use class with the highest overall percentage change transition was Recent fallows and Grasslands with a percentage increase of 87%, while the land use class with the least change was low forest, with a percentage decrease of 47%.

Between the period, 2002 to 2007, the probability of land use conversion was very low for dense forest to built up, considering the rate of built up and bare surfaces increasing rates with less than 1% probability. At the same time there is a 55% and 40% chance that dense forest and recent fallows and grasslands would continue to retain their coverage over the period into the next reference year (Table 5.15).

| Table 5.14: Land | use class Transition Matrix from 2002 to 200 | 7 |
|------------------|--|---|
| | 2007 Image | |

1 BADW

W J SANE

| LU | JLC Classes | DF | LF | BB/Conc. | OW/F | WB | 2002 |
|------|---------------------------|------|----------------------|----------|-------|------|--------|
| | | | | | L | | Total |
| | Dense Forest | 4806 | 1822 | 663 | 1470 | 0 | 8761 |
| - | Low Forest | 2358 | 1796 | 1514 | 3661 | 0 | 9330 |
| lage | Built Bare/Conc. | 1338 | 702 | 2314 | 1311 | 0 | 5664 |
| II | Recent Fallows/Grasslands | 1211 | 608 | 820 | 1784 | 0 | 4423 |
| | Water Body | 0 | 0 | 4 | 24 | 3407 | 3435 |
| | 2007 Total | 9713 | | 5315 | 8250 | 3407 | 31,612 |
| | Change (Ha) | +952 | 4929 -4401 | -349 | +3827 | -28 | |
| | Change (%) | +11 | -47 | -6 | +87 | -0.8 | |

| | Table 5.15: Land | Use trai | isition Pr | odadinity Ma | trix 2002 to |) 2007 | |
|------|------------------------------|----------|------------|--------------|--------------|--------|-------|
| | | | | 2007 Imag | ge | | |
| LU | JLC Classes | DF | LF | BB/Conc. | OW/FL | WB | Total |
| | Dense Forest | 0.55 | 0.21 | 0.08 | 0.17 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| lage | Low Forest | 0.25 | 0.19 | 0.16 | 0.39 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| | Built up/Bare/Concrete | 0.24 | 0.12 | 0.41 | 0.23 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| | Recent Fallows/Grasslands | 0.27 | 0.14 | 0.19 | 0.40 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| | Water Body | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.01 | 0.99 | 1.00 |

By 2007, most of the land use classes have increased in terms of their area of coverage from their original marginal conversions into considerable areas of coverage. The total land use retention or persistence was 14,107 ha, representing 45% of the total land area. Most of the conversions occurred from low forest to recent fallows and grassland. This means more land was put under agricultural activities with its decreasing effect on the low forest cover. The area covered by open woodland at the expense of low forest was 3661 ha.

At the same time, most of the low forest cover was upgraded to older fallows by an area of 2358 ha. Recent fallows and built up and bare (mostly the bare areas) land conversions into dense forest cover was also substantial by 1211 ha and 1338 ha respectively. These dense forest areas were,

SANE N

however, replaced by 1470 ha of open woodland and farm lands. This means considering the former conversions into the latter respectively, there was a net loss of dense forest cover over the period in comparison to RFGL and BBC land use and covers (Table 5.16). The land use class with the highest overall percentage change transition was recent fallows and grasslands with a percentage increase of 87%, while the land use class with the least change was low forest, with a percentage decrease of 47%.

5.2.4 Results of Land use class Transition Matrix from 2007 to 2010

The LULC matrix from 2007 to 2010, shows a period of similar land use conversions/transitions from one land use class to another. At this time, the various land use classes were still in transition of change after the base year's land use cover anomalies. These anomalies of almost recent fallows and grasslands and farm lands with patches of dense to low forest covers, have been corrected over the 24 year period (1986-2010). According to Table 5.16, between 2007 and 2010, the total LULC class persistence was 17,196 ha representing about 54% of the total land area.

In 2010, the main transition that occurred was from dense forest to low forest by an area of 4040 ha. This is a clear sign of degradation of vegetation quality. Furthermore, dense forest also transited into open woodland and farmlands with an area of 2100 ha, and from dense forest to Built up/bare lands and concrete surfaces by an area of 1364 ha.

During this same period, low forest cover gained from the transition of open woodland into low forest by 699 ha. A proportion of 2253 ha of Built up, bare and concrete lands (probably most of the bare areas), were converted into recent fallows and grasslands (probably to more farms than others). Marginal water body conversion was 1 ha and 2 ha to dense forest and recent fallows and

grasslands respectively, as well as farms along the shores of the lake. There was an overall percentage increase of 60% for low forest transition by 2010. The land use class that reduced considerably was dense forest with a percentage decline by 65%.

This trend of conversions explains why the land use conversion likelihood of converting dense forest to low forest by 2010 was higher than all the other land use classes at 40%. Again, during this time, there was a lower likelihood of land use covers transiting into built up with an average probability of less than 15%, whiles the recent fallows and grasslands show highest likelihood of retention at 73% (Table 5.16 and Table 5.17).

| | | | | | | | 0-0 |
|--------|--------------------|-------|--------------------|------------|--------|------|--------|
| | | | | 2010 Image | • | | |
| LUI | LC Classes | DF | LF | BB/Conc. | RF/GL | WB | 2007 |
| | | | | | | | Total |
| | Dense Forest | 2639 | <mark>404</mark> 0 | 1364 | 2100 | 0 | 10,143 |
| e | Low Forest | 378 | 2866 | 629 | 1225 | 0 | 5099 |
| 7 Imag | Built Bare/Conc. | 146 | 532 | 2333 | 2253 | 0 | 5264 |
| | Recent | | | | | | |
| 00 | Fallows/Grasslands | 416 | 699 | 1128 | 5952 | 14 | 8209 |
| 2 | Water Body | 2 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 3406 | 3409 |
| | 2010 Total | 3581 | 8138 | 5454 | 11,530 | 3420 | 32,123 |
| | Change (Ha) | -6562 | +3039 | +190 | +3321 | +11 | 1 |
| | Change (%) | -65 | +60 | +4 | +40 | +0.3 | 1.1 |

Table 5.16: Land use class Transition Matrix from 2007 to 2010

| | Table 5.17: Land Use transition Probability matrix 2007 to 2010 | | | | | | | | | | |
|------|---|------|------|----------|-------|------|-------|--|--|--|--|
| | | | | 2010 Ima | age | | | | | | |
| LU | LC Classes | DF | LF | BB/Conc. | RF/GL | WB | Total | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Dense Forest | 0.26 | 0.40 | 0.13 | 0.21 | 0.00 | 1.00 | | | | |
| mage | Low Forest | 0.07 | 0.56 | 0.12 | 0.24 | 0.00 | 1.00 | | | | |
| | Built | | SAN | EN | | | 1.00 | | | | |
| 5 | up/Bare/Concrete | 0.03 | 0.10 | 0.44 | 0.43 | 0.00 | | | | | |
| 20(| Recent | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Fallows/Grasslands | 0.05 | 0.09 | 0.14 | 0.73 | 0.00 | 1.00 | | | | |
| | Water Body | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 | | | | |

5.2.5 Land use class Transition Matrix from 2010 to 2014

The LULC matrix from 2010 to 2014, portrayed major land use conversions/transitions from one land use class to another. At this time, the various land use class types were in real transition of change after the base year's land use cover anomalies. This was particularly so for the diagonal matrix of land uses that maintained their types in the following reference years by an increase over the previous reference year at 17,340 ha.

This was about 54% of the total land area. The highest conversions from one type to another, however, was from open woodland to low forest cover and to Built up with 3068 ha and 2027 ha respectively in 2014 (Table 5.18). Furthermore, there was a conversion of dense forest to low forest by 1518 ha; while 2006 ha of low forest were converted into open woodland and farm lands. Up to 1435 ha of Built up bare land and concrete surfaces were covered up by low forest. There were marginal conversions of the lake by an area of 5 ha to built up and bare land and concrete areas. By 2014, the proportion of dense forest has increased by a percentage gain of 21%. However, of very significant increase in land use proportion was the low forest, with an approximate percentage of 32%. The probability of land use conversion from other land uses to Built up, bare land and concrete was again less that 20%, while the probabilities for the transition from other land uses into forest and low forests were 42 and 58% respectively (Table 5.19).

BADH

THE CORSER

| LU | JLC Classes | DF | LF | BB/Conc. | RFGL | WB | 2010 Total |
|---------|--------------------|------|--------|----------|-------|------|------------|
| 0 Image | Dense Forest | 1525 | 1518 | 34 | 501 | 4 | 3581 |
| | Low Forest | 1324 | 4732 | 75 | 2006 | 0 | 8138 |
| | Built Bare/Conc. | 514 | 1435 | 2218 | 1288 | 0 | 5454 |
| | Recent | | | | | | |
| 201 | Fallows/Grasslands | 981 | 3068 | 2027 | 5450 | 3 | 11,530 |
| | Water Body | 0 | 0 | 5 | 0 | 3415 | 3420 |
| | 2014 Total | 4345 | 10,753 | 4597 | 9244 | 3422 | 32,123 |
| | Change (Ha) | +764 | +2615 | -957 | -2286 | +2 | |
| | Change (%) | +21 | +32 | -20 | -20 | 0 | |

Table 5.18: LULC transition matrix between 2010 and 2014

| | Table 5.19: Land U | se transi | tion Prob | ability matrix | x from 2010 | to 2014 | • |
|-------|------------------------|-----------|-----------|----------------|-------------|---------|-------------|
| | | | | 2014 Ima | nge | | |
| LU | LC Classes | DF | LF | BB/Conc. | OW/FL | WB | Total |
| | | | | | | | |
| | Dense Forest | 0.43 | 0.42 | 0.01 | 0.14 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| lmage | Low Forest | 0.16 | 0.58 | 0.01 | 0.25 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| | Built up/Bare/Concrete | 0.09 | 0.26 | 0.41 | 0.24 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| 010 | Recent | | | | | | |
| 5(| Fallows/Grasslands | 0.09 | 0.27 | 0.18 | 0.47 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| | Water Body | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 1.00 | <u>1.00</u> |
| | | | | | | | |

5.3 The LULC Projections

LULC transitions and projections into the future have been modelled using the first order Markov transition chain (Al Bakri et al., 2013 and Rimal, 2011). The study used the 2010 and 2014 land use transition probability matrix with the base year initial vector as the 2014 image land use classes. This land use class map also had the best classification accuracy in terms of the overall Kappa statistic of 82.8%. The LULC types were projected by the 4-year interval duration into 2018. This is because; projecting farther into the future may result in distortions in outcomes due to certain unforeseen happenings.

Again, considering the fact that the district demonstrates predominantly rural and forest to agricultural LULC dynamics, it would be difficult to project by anticipating any drastic changes without recourse to the intrinsic parameters and factors determining LULC changes, which may change in the foreseeable future. Over the past 28 years, from 1986 to 2014, the LULC types have been largely low forest and recent agricultural fallows and grasslands in the Bosomtwe district.

Projecting the land use types into the future, two main time steps were assumed. The first time scenario is land use trend following the current (Business as usual) trends, with at least the prevailing LULC dynamics that have persisted between 2010 and 2014 being constant; and also without population characteristics changing any significantly. The second scenario is assuming increasing population size, coupled with the improvement in the income levels of the people that settle in the district. The projection in scenario two anticipates more land to be demanded for built up bare land and concrete land uses than the other purposes, in the long term (2002-2014) of a period of 12 years (Table 5.20) and (2014+12) from 2014, pitching at 2026. However, this would also depend on the Local Government institutional policy directives and how it would be complied with.

| | | 1 | | 2014 Image | | | | | | | | |
|-------|--------------|----------|--------------------|------------------------------|---------------|--------|--------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | LULC Classes | Dense | Low | Built up/ | Recent | Water | | | | | | |
| | | Forest | Forest | Bare/Concrete | Fallows/ | Body | 2002 | | | | | |
| | Dense Forest | | | | Grasslands | | Total | | | | | |
| | | 1,929.9 | 4,283.1 | 323.3 | 2225 | 0 | 8760.8 | | | | | |
| Image | Low Forest | 1,022.1 | 3,303.6 | 1254 | 3750.1 | 0 | 9329.8 | | | | | |
| | Built | 619.7 14 | 37.4 2137.7 | 1,469.4 0 5,664.2 up/ | Bare/Concrete | Recent | | | | | | |
| 2002 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | 1.0 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | 10,440.4 | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Table 5.20: LULC transition matrix between 2002 and 2014

| | 619.83 | 1,415.3 | 771.8 | 1,615.9 | 0 | 4422.9 |
|--------------------|---------|---------|---------|---------|--------|---------|
| Fallows/Grasslands | | | | | | |
| Water Body | 0.3 | | 15.8 | 0.1 | 3417.8 | 3434.9 |
| 2014 Total | 4191.7 | | 4502.6 | 9060.0 | 3417.8 | 31612.4 |
| Change (Ha) | -4569.1 | +1110.6 | -1161.6 | 4637.1 | -17.1 | |
| Change (%) | -52 | +12 | -21 | +105 | -0.5 | |



| LU | JLC Classes | Dense Forest | Low Forest | 2014 Image Built up/ Bare/Concrete | Recent Fallows/Grassland | Water Body | Total |
|-------|------------------------------|-----------------|---------------|---|-----------------------------|---------------|-------|
| | Dense Forest | 0.22 | 0.49 | 0.04 | 0.25 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| | Low Forest | 0.11 | 0.35 | 0.13 | 0.40 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| Image | Built up/Bare/Concrete | 0.11 | 0.25 | 0.38 | 0.26 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| | Recent Fallows/Grasslands | 0.14 | 0.32 | 0.17 | 0.37 | 0.00 | 1.00 |
| | Water Body | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 0.00 | 1.00 | 1.00 |

Table 5.21: Land Use transition Probability matrix 2002 to 2014

5.3.1 Projections of LULC by 2018

The land use dynamics of Table 5.17 would not deviate any significantly under the first scenario assumption of current business as usual trends. By the year 2018, the proportion of forest cover in comparison with the 2014 proportion would have decreased, by some six hectares of the total cover. Low forest cover and water body (Lake) would reduce the same year. Built up, bare and concrete land uses and recent fallows and grasslands would increase by a proportion of about 2% and 1.6% respectively (Table 5.22).

The model validation using the index of agreement, according to Willmott *et al.* (2012), indicated that there is a little degree of variability from the observed LULC trends between the initial and the predicted. This trend implies that, the Bosomtwe district, given the current rate of LULC change dynamics would continue to remain a predominantly rural district, with periurbanism

activities concentrated in limited portions of the district especially areas that are in proximity to the main urban city centre. However there is the propensity for built up and bare land and concrete surface land uses to increase considerably in the future given the transition probability matrix.

IZN II I/

| Table 5.22: Projected LULC c | lasses Areas in He | ectares by 2018 |
|------------------------------|--------------------|-----------------|
| LULC Class | Area (Ha) | Percent % |
| Dense Forest | 4478 | 13.6 |
| Low Forest | 9772 | 29.7 |
| Built up/Bare/Concrete | 10,088 | 30.6 |
| Recent Fallows/Grasslands | 5136 | 15.6 |
| Water Body | 3443 | 10.5 |
| Total | 32,917 | 100.0 |

A further projection was performed on the 2014 image to look at the 2026 scenario. Using the 2014 image as the initial vector, the transition probability matrix was multiplied by this initial vector, to obtain the relative land use covers in areas (ha), for each of the LULC classes by year 2026. As indicated earlier, Markovian projections into the future time steps reduces in accuracy as the number of years (t) increases (Al Bakri *et al.*, 2013). This scenario is based on the arbitrary surmises that, with increasing population and improved income status of people settling in the district, (the results show that in another step of 10 years), the LULC classes would remain fairly similar to the first business as usual scenario (Table 5.23).

| Table 5.23: Projected LULC classes Areas in <u>Hectares by 2028</u> | | | | |
|---|-----------|-----------|--|--|
| LULC Class | Area (Ha) | Percent % | | |
| Dense Forest | 4011 | 12.2 | | |
| Low Forest | 10,255 | 31.2 | | |
| Built up/Bare/Concrete | 10,181 | 15.3 | | |
| Recent Fallows and Grassland | 5040 | 30.9 | | |
| Water Body | 3426 | 10.4 | | |

5.4 Vegetation Cover Change Analysis in the Bosomtwe District

5.4.1 Introduction

This section presents the analyses of the vegetation cover change, using the results from the NDVI as well as the LULC classification obtained from the satellite images.

There is a direct relationship between LULC changes and vegetation cover changes. In this regard, this subsection relates the results of the LULC changes presented in the previous subsections in this very chapter, with the vegetation cover changes by comparing the normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) derived from the landsat images.

Human interactions with the natural environment have invariably led to perpetual degradation of land and vegetation, to meet livelihood and development needs (Higginbottom and Symeonakis, 2014; Maitima *et al.*, 2004). The environmental consequences of land, water and forest resource degradation in the Bosomtwe district, as identified by the study, has potential to perturb vegetation resources, with implication for inter-generational resource insufficiency (Appiah *et al.*, 2014c).

The objective of this chapter, is to analyze the normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI), as a proxy for the measurement of vegetation quality, particularly, forest cover health and resilience to forest cover changes in the Bosomtwe District in the Ashanti region of Ghana.

5.4.1.1 The Underpinning Theory for NDVI

The Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) is a numerical indicator that uses the visible red (VR) and near-infrared (NIR) bands of the electromagnetic spectrum, to analyze vegetation health (Tucker *et al.*, 1991); to ascertain whether vegetation is live green or not. By transforming raw satellite images into NDVI values, resultant output image products can be analyzed to estimate vegetation type, amount, and condition of land surfaces around the world (Higginbottom and Symeonakis, 2014). NDVI is especially useful for continental to global-scale vegetation monitoring because it can compensate for changing illumination conditions, surface vegetation cover and LULC dynamics (De Jong et al., 2011).

NDVI does tend to saturate over dense vegetation and sensitive to underlying soil color (Nath, 2014). The NDVI values can be averaged over time to establish normal growing conditions in a region for a given time of year. By this approach, NDVI can reveal where vegetation is thriving and where it is under stress, as well as changes in vegetation due to human activities such as deforestation, natural disturbances such as wild fires, or changes in plants' phenological stages (Wessels et al., 2004; Kaggwa et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2011).

It is also used to measure how in contrast, other land use types differ in reflectance in the NIR and visible red bands of the electromagnetic spectrum (Jackson and Huete, 1991). The NDVI is widely applied to vegetative studies to estimate crop yields, pasture performance, and rangeland carrying capacities. Furthermore, it is often directly related to other ground parameters such as percent of ground cover, photosynthetic activity of the plants, surface water, leaf area index (LAI) and the BAD amount of biomass (Huete, 1988).

5.4.2 Analysis of the NDVI and LULC maps from 1986 to 2007

The images analyzed from 1986 to 2007 yielded different NDVI values for each of the land use types for the respective years. This demonstrated how vegetation had thrived and continues to

SANE

NO

thrive over the temporal periods under consideration. The NDVI values obtained for the various images corresponded to the LULC classes. Areas of vegetation and non-vegetated areas showed moderate to very low NDVI values.

The NDVI values obtained from the 1986 image showed that although the district was generally devoid of vegetation cover, remnant patches of dense and open forest had moderate to high values of between 0.343 and 0.551, and 0.270 to 0.343 respectively. Non-vegetated areas such as bare surfaces had low NDVI values of 0.150 to 0.270 (Figure 5.13a). The build up and concrete areas and water areas, as expected, were extremely low in NDVI values of between -0.378 and 0.150. This result indicates that the district at the time was dominated by low to moderate vegetations cover; and some patches of dense forest cover. Analysis of Landsat TM 1986 imagery further depicts limited closed forest cover as dense forest and extensive open forest with recent fallows, with grass lands over the area (Figure 5.13b).

5.5 Relationship between LULC and NDVI for the Study Area

This subsection describes the relationship between the LULC types and the NDVI characteristics derived from the Landsat images. These explain the effects of human land use activities on the vegetation cover abundance and resilience.

5.5.1 Estimated NDVI Values with LULC Classes of 2002 Image.

Further analysis of the 2002 imagery showed evidence of more vegetation cover in 2002 compared to 1986. This is possibly because the 2002 image was captured during the rainy season which supported rapid vegetation growth unlike the 1986 dry season image associated with stressed vegetation. Generally, the NDVI values for dense forest and cocoa cultivated lands ranged between

0.384 and 0.570. Recent fallows/grassland and bare lands had NDVI values of between 0.081 and 0.250 (Figure 5.14a). Water bodies and build up/bare surfaces had low values of -0.462 and +0.081 respectively. Image classification results for the same year 1986 showed dense forest occupied 5,834 hectares of the land, open woodland 12,722 hectares and built up/ bare areas 1201 ha. The vegetation cover types therefore, indicate that the area is covered by low to moderate forest covers by 9330 ha (Figure 5.14b).



Figure 5.13a: Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) map of 1986 image





Figure 5.13b: LULC map of 1986 image



Figure 5.14a: Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) map of 2002 Image



Figure 5.14b: LULC map of 2002 image

5.5.2 Estimated NDVI Values for 2007 Image

The NDVI values for the 2007 image showed vegetation health decline per the extremely low photosynthetic vegetation health indicator. From the 2007 image, the vegetation health improved from the previous year (2002) cover by 8761 hectares. NDVI values for dense and cocoa/farmlands are low, ranging from 0.056 to 0.243 and -0.014 to 0.055 respectively (Figure 5.15a). Open woodlands and bare lands had NDVI values of between -0.111 and -0.014. Water bodies, build up and concrete surfaces had very low values at -0.463 to -0.286.

The land use types classified as open woodland and build up/ bare surfaces certainly have little or no vegetation cover hence the low range values of -0.286 to +0.270 (Table 5.23). LULC categories that corresponded with the moderate vegetation and dense vegetation do not have high

SANE

photosynthetically active reflectance (PAR) signatures. This means that LULC changes impact the vegetation quality negative in the district (Table 5.24a & 5.24b).

| Table 5.24a: Composite table of the NDVI values from 1986 to 2007 | | | | |
|---|------------------|------------------|------------------|--|
| NDVI Value Category | NDVI Value 1986 | NDVI Value 2002 | NDVI Value 2007 | |
| No Vegetation | -0.378 to -0.108 | -0.462 to -0.196 | -0.463 to -0.286 | |
| Less Vegetation | -0.108 to 0.150 | -0.195 to -0.081 | -0.286 to -0.111 | |
| Less-Moderate Vegetation | 0.150 to 0.270 | -0.081 to 0.250 | -0.111 to -0.014 | |
| Moderate Vegetation | 0.270 to 0.343 | 0.250 to 0.384 | -0.014 to 0.056 | |
| Dense Vegetation | 0.343 to 0.551 | 0.384 to 0.570 | 0.056 to 0.243 | |



Figure 5.15a: Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) map of 2007

| Table 5.24b: Composite table of the NDVI values from 2010 and 2014 | | | | |
|--|-----------------|-----------------|--|--|
| NDVI Value Category | NDVI Value 2010 | NDVI Value 2014 | | |
| No Vegetation | -1 to -0.278 | -0.049 to 0.064 | | |

| Less Vegetation | -0.278 to -0.067 | 0.065 to 0.184 |
|--------------------------|------------------|----------------|
| Less-Moderate Vegetation | -0.067 to 0.043 | 0.185 to 0.241 |
| Moderate Vegetation | 0.043 to 0.122 | 0.242 to 0.283 |
| Dense Vegetation | 0.122 to 0.299 | 0.284 to 0.390 |



Figure 5.15b: LULC map of 2007 image

Interpretation of results in Table 6.2 shows dense forest area increased from 5834 ha in 1986 to 8760 ha in 2002. In 2007, this vegetation cover type further increased to 12,394 ha. Low forest with cocoa and farmlands changed marginally from 9,180 ha in 1986 to 9329 ha in 2002 but decreased sharply in 2007 to 6, 183 ha. Built up/bare areas increased in size as the infrastructure of the district in 1986 was 1201 ha but increased to 5664 ha in 2002. Water bodies maintained their sizes from 1986 to 2007 (Fig. 6.15b; Table 5.24).
5.6 Conclusion

Two distinct results emerged from the analysis of LULC change dynamics. First, the transition trends in the various LULC types may be conjectured that the Bosomtwe district would continue to experience the changing LULC types. The direction of change would be by the conversion from arable land use and forest land cover to residential and commercial uses. Secondly, these conversion trends are most likely to be influenced by increasing number of people moving into the district. This is because the seeming availability and easy access to land in terms of, its affordability presents the Bosomtwe district as an attractive area for resettlement; as the income statuses of re-settlers improve.

The overall condition of the vegetation cover is the decreasing quality of the vegetation expressed in terms of the low NDVI values generated from the landsat images. The maps support the results of decreasing trend of vegetation cover obtained from the LULC classification maps. Vegetation cover may be marginally increasing in terms of low forest category; however, the long-term adverse impacts of potential human LULC activities on vegetation depletion can be conjectured.



CHAPTER 6: ANALYSIS OF RAINFALL AND TEMPERATURE FOR CLIMATE VARIABILITY IN THE BOSOMTWE DISTRICT

6.1 Introduction

There is no doubt, that changing LULC and deforestation and forest lands degradation, which the study has presented in chapters five and six respectively, have implications for the variability and change of local climatic factors such as temperature, rainfall, and soil moisture. In this chapter, the results from the analysis of the climatic data, using the classical serial data and Mann-Kendal trends analyses are presented.

A trend is a significant change over time, evidenced by a random variable. These can be detected by statistical parametric and non-parametric procedures. Onoz and Bayazit (2003) indicated that the parametric *t*-test has less ability than the non-parametric Mann–Kendall test when the probability distribution is skewed. In practical applications, however, both can invariably be used interchangeably, with similar outcomes. This study, aimed at trend detection and cross verification. For this reason non-parametric statistical procedure was employed to the rainfall time series, grouped into three decadal clusters. The rainfall time series were disaggregated in the annual time series and also into quarterly (January-March, April-June, July-September and October-December) groups, to further observe potential changes at the seasonal scale. Moreover, to quantify whether trends appear particularly severe during a particular time interval of the reference period, time series are also divided into the following three partially overlapping 31-year periods: 1981–1990, 1991–2000 and 2001-2011.

6.2 Results of the Analysis of Rainfall Data

The results of the MAKESEN's Solver in EXCEL revealed that apart from the three months of May, August and November, which recorded decreasing rainfall trends with a decrease of 0.4mm, 0.75mm and 0.2mm/month, all the other months recorded increasing rainfall trends. The highest of these was recorded in the month of October with an increase of 4mm/ month over the 31-year period (Table 6.1). The month of June was significant at the 95% significance level while the month of October as well as the annual total were significant at 99% significance level respectively.

| Table | 6.1: Result of | Mann-Kend | all an | d Sen's S | lope Statis | tics of Rain | fall Values |
|-----------|-----------------------|-----------|--------|-----------|-------------|--------------|--------------------|
| Months | First year | Last Year | n | Test S | Test Z | Signific. | Q(mm/month) |
| January | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -0.5 | 1.92 | | 0.262 |
| February | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -22.9 | 1.22 | | 1.000 |
| March | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -247.2 | 0.14 | | 0.340 |
| April | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -38.7 | 1.73 | | 2.245 |
| May | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -180.3 | -0.27 | | -0.400 |
| June | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -126.4 | 2.04 | * | 3.427 |
| July | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -188.9 | 0.75 | | 1.347 |
| August | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -89.1 | -0.58 | | -0.750 |
| September | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -188.8 | 1.29 | | 1.491 |
| October | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -177.7 | 2.79 | ** | 4.358 |

| Table 6.1: Result | of Mann-Ken | dall and Sen' | s Slone Statisti | ics of Rainfall Values |
|--------------------|------------------|---------------|------------------|------------------------|
| I able VIII Mesult | VI IVIAIII-IXVII | an and oth | S DIODE Dualist | is of isamian values |

| November | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -64.3 | -0.17 | | -0.156 |
|----------|------|------|----|--------|-------|----|--------|
| December | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -20.6 | 1.61 | | 0.733 |
| Annual | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -112.1 | 2.92 | ** | 1.475 |

*significant at α 0.05', **significant at α 0.01

To ascertain the degree of trend of the rainfall pattern over the 31 year period, a graphical inspection of the various intra-seasonal values, following the general linear equation Y=bX+c, was informative. The trends were indicated by the various equations of the slope (Y = QX+B) lines. These were also compared with the Sen's slope estimates for the individual months as well as the annual average, indicated. Although, according to the results from the MAKESEN'S Solver, the Sen's slope estimate indicated that only the months of May, August and November recorded decreasing trend in the rainfall (Table 6.1), there were inherent intra-quarterly decreases in rainfall trends upon the disaggregation of the data.





On the contrary, the intra and inter-seasonal (Quarterly) comparisons yielded as many as a 50% decreasing for the first and the last quarters, as well as the annual average, while the second quarter (April-June) inherently indicated a 100% decreasing trend. Only the third quarter (JulySeptember), showed a 100% increasing trend (Figure 6.1).

| Table 6.2: Slope Estimate of the Inter-Seasonal Rainfall Trends (1981-2011) | | | | | | | |
|---|-----------|----------|------------|-----------|---------|--|--|
| Years | Jan.—Mar. | Apr.—May | July-Sept. | Oct.—Dec. | Average | | |
| 1981-1990 | -1.756 | -0.768 | 0.628 | -1.781 | 0.920 | | |
| 1991-2000 | -2.616 | -9.430 | 6.627 | -1.655 | -1.770 | | |
| 2001-2011 | 1.826 | -2.634 | 6.923 | 2.661 | 2.194 | | |
| 1981-2011 | 0.529 | 2.131 | 1.208 | 1.917 | 1.446 | | |

A crucial case in point as observed was the decreasing trend over the last decade from 2001 to 2011. Within the major rainy season of April to June, there was a reduction in the rainfall amounts by 26mm/decade while the minor season from July to September recorded a decadal average increase of 69.2mm. In general, the rainfall trend showed an increasing trend over the last decade (2001-2011), using the annual average over the 10-year period. This implies that there is a seeming NO BAD increasing trend of rainfall amounts into the future.

WJSANE



Figure 6.2: Inter-decadal rainfall variability (1981-2011)

Although the data indicate a generally increasing trend in the rainfall patterns over the 31 year period (Figure 6.2), the inter-annual trends, disaggregated by decadal comparisons showed otherwise. In these comparisons, there were more inherently decreasing rainfall trends over the years (Figures 6.3), particularly from the earlier years of 1980 to the 1990s. This therefore presents a cautious situation when predicting the pattern and trends of the rainfall into the future. It may also be misleading to anticipate that rainfall trends are increasing over the years, *pari paso*, judging from the seemingly increasing trends.

BADY

NO

THIS AP J W J SAME



Figure 6.3: Mean Annual rainfall anomalies from 1981-2011

In the three decade period from 1981 to 2011, annual rainfall averages have to a greater extent been below the annual average baseline of 1339.8mm. Only thirteen (13) years out of the 31-year period had their average above the baseline average. These were 1981, 1984, 1987, 1991, 1993, 1999, 2001, 2002, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2011. For the first decade of the period under study, decreasing trend seemed to prevail as only 1984 had an increase above 1339.8mm.

In the second decade period from 1991 to 2001 five years recorded averages above the baseline of 1339.8mm. The last decade, spanning from 2001 to 2011 had six years in a row, recording an increase trend in rainfall above the annual average baseline of 1339.8mm, with rainfall amount between 2006 and 2009, being significantly increasing. This suggests that rainfall trend has been oscillating (Figure 6.4). The triennial decadal average per season experienced variation with a minimum deviation of 38.7mm in 1990 and a maximum deviation of +673 in 2007; this gives an annual average surplus of rainfall of 10mm/year.



Figure 6.4: Seasonal variability from 1081-2011

6.3 Analysis of Trend in the maximum Temperature Values

The trend in the temperature was also ascertained using the Mann-Kendall and Sen's slope estimate in the MAKESEN's 1.0 solver in EXCEL. The Temperature values grouped into monthly averages over the 31 year-period (Table 7.3).

The Mann-Kendall trend and Sen's slope analysis indicated that there was a generally increasing trend in maximum temperature values over the years. For each month, the temperature indicated an increasing slope from a low of 0.05°C/month for the months of April to as steep as 0.1°C per month for the months of May, over the 31-year period. August and September trends were significant at the 95% level of significance while the months of April, July and October were significant at the 99% level of significance. As many as four months (May, June, November and Decembers) together with the annual total trends were significant at the 99.9% level of significance.

| Ta | ble 6.3: Resul | t of Mann-Ke | ndal | l and Sen's | Slope Sta | itistics | |
|-------------|----------------|--------------|------|-------------|-----------|-----------|---|
| Time series | First year | Last Year | n | Test S | Test Z | Signific. | Q |

| January | <u>1981</u> | <u>2011</u> | <u>31</u> | <u>-33</u> | <u>0.78</u> | | <u>0.011</u> |
|-----------|-------------|-------------|-----------|------------|-------------|-----|--------------|
| February | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -33 | 0.20 | | 0.000 |
| March | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -33.1 | 1.23 | | 0.020 |
| April | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -33 | 3.12 | ** | 0.052 |
| May | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -30.7 | 5.36 | *** | 0.110 |
| June | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -30.3 | 4.30 | *** | 0.079 |
| July | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -29.5 | 3.17 | ** | 0.057 |
| August | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -28.9 | 2.23 | * | 0.050 |
| September | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -30 | 2.35 | * | 0.040 |
| October | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -30.8 | 2.64 | ** | 0.047 |
| November | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -31.4 | 3.92 | *** | 0.067 |
| December | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -30.6 | 5.33 | *** | 0.089 |
| ANNUAL | 1981 | 2011 | 31 | -31.1 | 4.76 | *** | 0.063 |
| | | | | | | | |

*significant at α 0.05, **significant at α0.01, ***Significant at α0.001

6.3.1 Inter-annual Temperature Variability

This section analyses and discusses the results from the data treatment and modelling in the context of the changing dynamics of temperature values recorded over the 31 year period. These were used as the basis for the forecast into the next 4 years; to make the data fulfill complete climatic cycle. Between 1981 and 2011, only six of the 31-year mean annual temperature data analyzed (1985, 1993, 1996, 1999, 2007 and 2010) was up to 2% below the moving average, off the mean set to 0°C. Six of the remaining years (1987, 1995, 1998, 2005, 2008 and 2009), recorded temperature values of up to 1% above the moving average, which is the baseline. There was no particular year with any extreme temperature value recorded.

6.3.2 Intra-annual Variability of Temperature

It is obvious that temperature varied from one year to another, depicting distinct variation within the major rainy season (i.e. May to July) and minor rainy season (i.e. August to October), in the context of Ghana. The temperature values were below the normal, from 1981 up to 1995. Then the temperature started increasing from 1996 up to 2008; all these years had the major rainy seasons warmer than the minor rainy seasons (August to October). March and April were the warmest months, with July and August being the coolest months, as shown in Figure 6.5. The coolest and warmest years were 1985 and 2003 with annual temperature of 30.9°C and 32.7°C respectively.



Figure 6.5: Temperature variability about the baseline temperature (1981-2011)

Regarding the temperature anomalies occurring within the various months of the years, the mean monthly temperature varied from one month to the other, especially in the major rainy season (i.e. May—July) and minor rainy season (i.e. August—October). It can be seen from Figs. 6.6— 6.9 that the major seasons were relatively warmer than the minor rainy seasons, although they received comparatively much rains than the minor seasons. Warm temperatures could imply a higher soil evapotranspiration and the drying up of land surfaces and water bodies as consequences.



Figure 6.6: First intra-quarterly mean monthly temperature variability between 1981and 2011

It can be seen from Figure 6.6 that the mean monthly temperature for each of the 31-year period departed from the normal average baseline of 32.1 °C. Most of the average temperature for all the months over the period was higher than the district's baseline. The highest negative deviation was in 1985 (20°C– 32.1)°C, with the highest positive being 2005 and 2008, when the baseline was equal to the annual average as (33.2-32.1)°C and (33.7-32.1)°C respectively. The range of temperature from 1997 when temperature begun to increase steadily up to 2011 is 1.8 (i.e. 32.5-

BADY

31.7)°C.

NO

HARAS AP SAME



Figure 6.7: Second intra-quarterly mean monthly temperature variability between 1981 and 2011

The last two-quarters have in most cases exhibited lower temperature anomalies. However, temperature values from July to September over the years were all below the climatologic normal (Figure 6.8). The characteristics decrease in temperature from the months of April to June as shown in the previous two decades (1981 to 1990 and 1991- 2000), almost stabilized in rates of decreases over the last 10 years (2001 to 2011). At the same time the gradual increase in temperature after September towards December each year, as was observed in the two previous decades, was replaced by the sharp increase in temperature over the last 10 years (Figure 6.9). These intraquarterly variability notwithstanding, points to an increasing trend of temperature over the past BAD three decades, in the Bosomtwe district.

WJSANE

NO



Figure 6.8: Third intra-quarterly mean monthly temperature variability between 1981 and 2011



Figure 6.9: Final intra-quarterly mean monthly temperature variability between 1981 and 2011

SANE

6.4 Forecasting from the Time Serial Analysis and fitting the Regression

The summary of output of the trending which was determined by the regression model, indicated a correlation r = 0.82 and an adjusted $R^2 = 0.68$. which means the model is able to offer 68%

explanations to the dependent variable, temperature data Y_t as has been accounted for by the independent variable time (*t*). The analysis of variance (ANOVA) statistics also indicates a significance *F* statistic at *p*-value (*p* < .000). Further the coefficients of the independent variable t and the intercept for the regression (trend) line, were approx. 0.06 and 31.2°C respectively. Both statistics were again significant at *p* < .000 at 99.9% confidence intercvals of between 30.9°C to 31.5°C respectively. The overall modelling output of the time series data is displayed in Figure 6.10.



Figure 6.10: Regression of Maximum Temperature with Forecasted Maximum Temperature

The results of the time series modelling show that temperature values are increasing as the trend shows in Figure 6.11. The annual departures from the Moving Average (MA) are aggregated in the seasonality and the irregularity components. The range of departures was between the temperature range of -2 to +1% below and above the moving average respectively (Appendix 5). On the whole, however, the temperature dynamics showed an increasing trend over the three decades.

The increasing temperature as it varies around the central moving average curve indicates that, there is an inherently warming in the air temperature of the district, over the past 31 years. The forecast temperature values show an increase in temperature by about 1° C, and will continue to increase from the current annual average of 32.8°C to about 33°C all things being equal, and considering the trend of increase (Figure 7.11). It can be seen that for every five years of mean annual temperature records; there is an increase in temperature by 0.30°C. This trend shows prospects of repetitions even on the forecasted years from 2012 to 2015, when a complete climate cycle would have elapsed. This, however, should be considered purely on the assumption of trend constancy.



Figure 6.11: Time series forecast of mean annual temperature of the Bosomtwe District

JSANE

W

6.5 Conclusion

The analyses of the temperature and rainfall figures over the 31-year period indicated increasing trends in both variables. The inter-quarterly temperature anomalies generated, depicted a generally increasing trends in the mean monthly temperature for the various years particularly over the last

two inter-decadal periods of (1990-2000 and 2001 to 2011). Forecasted mean annual temperature values for the 4 ensuing years showed increasing trend.

Rainfall patterns according to the Mann-Kendal trend analysis showed general increasing trends. However, when the trend was disaggregated by inter decadal (1981-1990, 1991-2000 and 2001-2011) and intra seasonal (January—March, April—June, July—September and OctoberDecember) categories, the rainfall values showed a decreasing trend. This was particularly evident in the seemingly rainy season of April to June. The analysis concludes that there is the need to be conscious about the potential consequences of increasing warming and inherently decreasing rainfall pattern, which have consequences for the local climate variability and climate change in the Bosomtwe district.

CHAPTER 7: LAND SURFACE TEMPERATURE EXTRACTS

7.1 Introduction

In the previous chapter, the study analyzed climatic data, using temperature and rainfall as proxies to explain the local climate variability and climate change in the district. This chapter further related the effects of LULC changes on land surface temperature profiles as surrogate of local climatic conditions. This has been done to extract the cooling and heating profiles from the image, the rural cool and peri-urban heat troughs.

Land surface characteristics determine the amount of energy that could be absorbed and emitted. The reflectance properties of the land surface features also determine the albedo that defines the percentage reflectance of solar energy from the earth surface (Ahrens, 2005). As a proxy to determine the degree of hotness or coldness of the land surface, many researchers have used thermal infrared (TIR) satellite remote sensing methodology, to estimate the land surface reflectance properties to extract surface temperature and moisture for climatic analysis (Ramachandra *et al.*, 2012; Rajeshwari and Mani, 2014; Liu and Zhang, 2011 and Srivastava *et al.*, 2010). LULC dynamics give credence to the surface ability to absorb or reflect solar radiation in varying proportions.

7.1.1 The New Concepts of Peri-Urban Heat Trough (PuHT) and Rural Cool Trough (RuCT) Many studies have concentrated attention on the generation of temperature profiles to measure the urban heat islands (UHI) fluxes (Liu and Zhang, 2011 and Srivastava *et al.*, 2010; Mbithi *et al.*, *nd*; Weng *et al.*, 2004 and Weng, 2001). Climate change may well modify the urban heat island and rainfall effects, but the quantitative extents are unknown at this time (Blake *et al.*, 2011). Most of these studies have not considered explicitly, the potential effects of peri-urban heat trough (PuHT) systems that are potential heat islands in transition from the rural cooling troughs (RuCT), into ultimately, the so-called urban heat islands (UHIs) (Liu and Zhang, 2011).

These surface temperature profiles occur, due to the progressive increase in urbanization of the rural landscape. As a result peri-urbanization processes ensue to alter the originally rural areas towards an urban core. The land surface characteristics therefore results in the cool surface trough, moderate peri-urban thermal trough and an ultimate urban heat core. The resultant is the land surface temperature gradient that develops along the rural to urban continuum.

The various studies on land surface heating fluxes have largely focused on core urban heat islands, as surrogates of extraction urban climates (Srivastava *et al.*, 2010). The literature, however, remains scanty on the conspicuous role of peri-urban areas in fuelling the ultimate heat island system. This study proposes that, considering the relatively rapidity with which rural landscapes are being modified into peri-urban land uses with different surface reflectance changing in the directions of built up and paved land uses, it is imperative to analyze the connections between the rural cooling troughs (RuCT) and the peri-urban heat trough (PuHT) systems as potentially full-fledge heat island cell areas. The object of this chapter is to analyze the lands surface temperature derived from three satellite images, as proxy for the potential creation of urban heat island, through peri-urban heat troughs (PuHT) and rural cool troughs (RuCT) continuum, in the Bosomtwe district of the Ashanti region of Ghana.

7.2 Results of LULC of Land Surface Temperature Extracts

The study has revealed that, there is a correlation between LULC classes and the surface temperature profile. This has the tendencies to support the PUHT and RuCT concepts, proposed by this study. The land surface configuration and their attending variability in terms of temperature suggest that NDVI alone may not be a sufficient metric to quantitatively study surface heat island SUHI) systems. To address this problem, Weng *et al.* (2004) earlier proposed using the vegetation fraction found within a pixel derived from a spectral mixture of other LULC fractions, instead of solely relying on NDVI as indicator. Their findings showed that vegetation fraction has a slightly stronger negative correlation with LST.

This paper discusses the omissions of the land surface temperature transitions from the rural, with preponderance of vegetation, to the urban core with high built-up and concrete surfaces. It does so

by relating the LULC dynamics of the Bosomtwe peri-urban district, to determine land surface temperature fluxes; typical of peri-urban areas. The introduction of the concepts of the Rural Cool Trough (RuCT) and Peri-urban Heat Trough (PuHT), give credence to the potential LST continuum profiles between the rural cool and urban hot areas, using the peri-urban areas as the transitional zones.

7.3 Analysis of LULC classes for 2002 Image

The LULC classes of 2002, as indicated by Figure 7.1, were an improvement over the previous year's which served as the base year of analysis, in terms of vegetated land area coverage. In 2002, dense forest cover was 8761 ha of the land cover. A proportion of 30% of the land area was covered by low forest vegetation with 9330 ha. Built-up/Bare land and concrete surfaces also covered an area of 5664 ha. The open wood land/ and farm lands were reduced to 4423 ha of the land area, while the lake covered an area of approximately 3435 ha of the total land area.



Figure 7.1: LULC classes (LULC) Area (Ha) for 2002

The corresponding surface temperature ranged from a minimum of 24°C to 30°C, with the mean and standard deviation of 36°C and 9K respectively. The degree Kelvin is the original units of extraction of the surface temperature. This, however, is convertible to the degree Celsius. The surface temperature profile indicated an improved vegetated surface which had relatively reduced the surface heat fluxes, thereby reducing the land surface temperature (Figure 7.2a). This is *in tandem* with Baylis *et al.* (1999)'s assertion that NDVI variables usually negatively correlate with the land surface temperature.



Figures 7.2 (a & b): Land Surface Temperature extracts of the 2002 Image with corresponding surface temperature fluxes

7.4 Analysis of LULC classes for 2007 and Land Surface Temperature for 2008 Images The land use classes in 2007 showed considerable increase in the dense forest cover by 10,300 ha, representing 35% of the total LULC classes in the area. In order of next importance were the recent fallows and grasslands which covered an area of 8435 ha, being 29% of the area. Builtup/bare land and concrete surfaces was ranked next in terms of coverage with 5451 ha representing 19% of the total area. Low forest was next in coverage importance by 5194 ha, also being 18% of the land area (Figure 7.3).

A considerable proportion of this was as a result of the exposure of the land surfaces due to agriculture and other methods of vegetation removal around the fringes of Lake Bosomtwe (Figure 7.6a). A corresponding surface reflectance translated into LST values ranging between 24°C to 53°C. The mean temperature value was 38°C and a very high standard deviation of 20.5K. The rather high land surface temperature anomaly was ostensibly due to the isolated patches of burnt-up surfaces emitting a higher heat energy fluxes; in accordance of Stephan-



Figure 7.3: LULC classes Area (ha) for 2007

7.5 Analysis of LULC classes for 2007 and Land Surface Temperature for 2008 Images

The temperature characteristics were in response to the surface vegetation removal. As the years go by and human land use demand increases with the increasing populations, the surface becomes exposed to the various degrees of heat energy fluxes. The surface reflectance characteristics of the land use types, records the surface temperature profiles in accordance with the land surface reflective capacities (Figure 7.4a). These surface characteristics which reflected the LULC changes indicated an appreciable presence of built up/bare and concrete surfaces in the district.



Figures 7.4 (a & b): Land Surface Temperature extracts of the 2008 Image with corresponding surface temperature fluxes

7.6 Analysis of LULC classes for 2014 Image

The 2014 image shows that the Bosomtwe district has experienced an appreciable level of land cover changes in terms of the increasing built up/bare lands and concrete surfaces. The LULC classes showed that the built up areas were increasing with time, up to the year 2014.

Low forest cover maintained its high area of coverage with 10,948 ha of the total LULC. Recent fallows and Grasslands were also next by area coverage with 9367 ha. Built up/bare land and concrete surfaces, although showed an increase from observation, the statistics of 4597 ha by area coverage, indicated an apparent decrease in area from the 2010 image; representing 14% of the total land area. The area covered by the lake (water body) was 3424 ha of the total area (Figure 7.5).



Figure 7.5: LULC classes (LULC) Area (ha) for 2014

However, by combining the built up/bare and concrete surfaces together as one class, resulted in an apparent decrease in the built up and concrete land uses in some of the transiting years. However, this land use type has been increasing consistently with time. Field observations and other auxiliary statistical data, to support this claim for instance, showed increasing trends. Data such as the number of houses recorded under the periods by the Ghana Statistical Services Population and Housing Census in 2010 has amply supported the fact that residential houses increased from 12,399 to 15,525 between the years 2000 and 2010 (GSS, 2014). This is indicative of increasing land surface temperature, associated, invariably with increasing impervious surfaces (Yuan and Bauer, 2007). This is evident by the relatively high LST of 37°C as compared to the minimum of 24°C for the RuHT and PuHT respectively (Figures 7.6a & 7.6b).



Figures 7.6 (a & b): Land Surface Temperature extracts of the 2014 image with corresponding Surface Temperature Fluxes

The aggregated temperature values from the satellite image land surface temperature extractions are displayed in Table 7.1.

| Satellite Years | Max °C (K) | Min °C | Mean °C (K) |
|-----------------|------------|--------|-------------|
| 1986 | 42 | 29 | 36 |
| 2002 | 30 | 24 | 27 |
| 2008 | 53 | 24 | 38 |
| 2010 | 41 | 26 | 34 |
| 2014 | 37 | 24 | 31 |

Table 7.1: Extracted Maximum, Minimum, Mean and Standard Deviation of Land Surface Temperature from Images

The 12-year duration also corresponded with an increase in the non-vegetative land uses; particularly small holding agriculture land for food crops production. Built up/bare and concrete as well as recent fallows and grasslands, compared to the vegetated covers such as the dense and low forest cover (which also included some oil palm and citrus fruits plantations), actually increased.

7.7 Conclusion

This chapter has argued that, the transition of a rural to a core urban area, also exhibits a temperature profile that traverses through a rural cool trough (RuCT) through a peri-urban Heat trough (PuHT), before achieving the ultimate urban heat island (UHI) condition. The chapter postulates further that by virtue of the constantly changing LULC dynamics in the peri-urban areas, they would serve as potential heating troughs or cells that could eventually trigger consistent increasing local LST values.

Considering the fact that the direction of change is usually in favour of build-up to concrete surfaces, the peri-urban areas have a higher propensities to produce the fueling cell effects of ultimate urban heat islands. This situation would have occurred if the peri-urban region had dynamically transformed into a complete urban core areas with fully-fledge urban land infrastructure and its associated local warming effects on the local climate. In other words, every peri-urban area is a potential urban heat island.



182

CHAPTER 8: DISCUSSIONS OF THE RESULTS OF SOCIOECONOMIC AND SPATIAL ANALYSES

8.1 Introduction

The previous eight chapters were devoted to the overview of the study, literature synthesis, materials and methods, including methodology for both socioeconomic and LULC and vegetation cover health as well as the climatic data analysis and land surface temperature extractions from satellite images. This chapter discusses the results in the context of the objectives set out. This is to present the interconnections between the various aspects of the results and their significance for policy and further research.

A number of factors have been identified as being responsible for peri-urbanization. Peri-urban areas result from rapid urbanization of the areas adjourning the cities and rural areas. This chapter therefore, synthesizes the implications of the socio-economic results obtained from the survey, as well as the analysis of Landsat satellite images for the extraction of the LULC types, their changes in terms of reduction, increases and persistence. This section also discusses the health of the vegetation cover, by measuring the photosynthetically active reflectance (PAR) using NDVI measure. Further, discussions of the climatic data analyzed together with the LST extracts are performed. These discussions have been done in consonance with the objectives of the study.

8.2 Peri-Urbanization in the Bosomtwe district: Drivers, Trends and Projections

The Bosomtwe district is predominantly rural; its peri-urbanization process is gaining momentum; a situation which gears toward a fully-fledged urbanized district in the future.

Accordingly, motivated by the affordability of land in peri-urban areas, Lawanson *et al.* (2012) concluded that, many people would want to resettle from the big cities to the rural to peri-urban fringes. One of the manifestations of peri-urban land-use change is the dynamic physical and environmental modifications (Cobbinah and Amoako, 2014).

The Bosomtwe district in the Ashanti region, like any other peri-urban area, is experiencing a number of determining factors that are contributing to land use and land cover changes. These are in the form of either land use conversions and/or land use modifications (Lambin *et al.*, 2000). There were a number of factors that determined the preponderance of the different responses to the changing patterns of land use and land cover (LULC). According to Appiah *et al.* (2014) sometimes, some of the factors were just extremely significant in determining the land use change patterns in the study area. As the fast developing peri-urban areas such as *Atonsu, Esereso* and Kumasi are becoming seemingly congested, the spill-over effect of urban population's relocation is affecting the Bosomtwe district to also grow in response to the pulling–up effect scenario, reported by Acheampong and Anokye (2013).

This scenario was the driver behind people in the district, to engage in speculative demand for land in the district for the purpose of residential, hospitality (hotels/guest houses) and commercial land uses. It is obvious that potential settlers are taking advantage of the fast growing surrounding bigger towns to secure their place in the district in anticipations for the future urban status of the district. Consequently, the works of Ravetz *et al.* (2013), Dutta (2012) and Kombe (2005) seem to have confirmed from the study that, there is evidence why some of the respondents indicated their motivation to acquire land in the district because of their optimism of a future economic boom in the district. It is of no surprise that among the various reasons given for causes of peri-urbanization in the district, the respondents indicated that increasing physical infrastructure and easy access due to relatively cheaper rent on land are their motivations (Cobbinah and Amoako, 2014; Lawanson, *et al.*, 2012). They also indicated that with some level of availability of social amenities there is the tendency for population movements toward the district for settlement. These, in combination, drive the peri-urbanization processes and land use change dynamics in the Bosomtwe district.

8.3 Land use Conversion Patterns in the Bosomtwe District

Land use and land cover dynamics are the current defining features of the peri-urban morphologic picturesque of every naturally or human-organized space, particularly in the Bosomtwe district of the Ashanti region of Ghana. The changing land uses in the peri-urban areas have considerable impact on the local environmental changes in the Bosomtwe district. Using appropriate policy instruments, Dutta (2012) suggests that urbanization and for that matter peri-urbanization becomes synonymous with frequent land use changes that have varying impacts on the rural environment. Supporting this assertion further, Vejre (2008) submits that land use in urban and peri-urban areas in particular, have become extremely important objects for planning and management. This is as a result of increasing conflicting interests for their uses.

However, the demand for land in the Bosomtwe district was predominantly in favour of residential purposes. In addressing the issues of sustainability, Busck *et al.* (2006) suggested that the periurban interface comprises a heterogeneous mosaic of environmental and productive ecosystems working in combination with socioeconomic lifestyles of land owners' peculiar relationships with the immediate urban areas.

The above reasoning supports the facts that land owners would begin to earmark their original lands with original use type ready for conversion to a new type, based on the availability of certain

positive externalities that would accelerate the decisions. These would take effects within appropriate prevailing land tenure regimes. These include improved infrastructure, which connotes improved welfare and ease of land and rent manipulations by owners in the urban fringes.

This implies that there may be other unknown reason that could affect the land use conversion trend observation or the speculative demand for land in the Bosomtwe district. It can be conjectured that land could be acquired not for their use sake, but for the satisfaction of holding them for future gains. This situational viewpoint is akin to large-scale land acquisition. Accordingly, Gurara and Birhanu (2012) have pointed out that expectations in the rising land value in Africa, in anticipation of favourable investments policies, is one of the key drivers of large scale land acquisition.

8.4 Household Decision on Land use Conversion and Modification

According to Robinson *et al.* (2007), at the household level, the decision of land use conversion and modification may arise as a result of opportunities or constraints to their initial decision outcomes. This view though, is without recourse to the customary type of land ownership arrangements that pertains in the Ashanti region and for that matter, the Bosomtwe district. The results from the communities on how households make land use decisions are *in tandem* with the views of Bajocco *et al.* (2012) that various dynamic variables interact to exert influence on land use driver-decisions to identifying the various uses to which the land could be put.

Such decisions may be predetermined directly or indirectly by local to regional factors, including major custodians, including traditional authorities, who invariably have the final sanctioning authority for land use and conversion at the local scale. Vejre (2008) has opined that this happens

because households and other associated decision agents act to present as rational decision as possible, pertaining to the optimized use of the land resource.

8.4.1 Gender Differentials and Household Decisions on LULC Changes

The survey revealed and as explained earlier, the household decisions to convert their original land uses to others in response to the changing demand trends, the deteriorating livelihoods and easy accessibility to land had some relationship with certain variables such as, the location in terms of the community in question. Also of relevance was the gender of the respondent as well as the status of the respondent as being the head of household, spouse or other member in the family.

To the female heads of households, the other reasons may not be crucial; this is because women in recent times, particularly in the urban to peri-urban areas also bear a greater part of current household economic burdens with their spouses (Mandere *et al.* 2010). This situation is in congruence with the current household split-roles and decisions between males and females that are becoming synonymous with the urban lifestyle. While in purely rural setting major household decisions are taken by the male counterpart, the peri-urban setting exhibits an admixture of the extremes; as the results portray. Other respondents as sons and daughters who were interviewed during the survey clearly showed how insignificant their status could influence any household land use decisions.

According to Tsai *et al.* (2015), when households face substantial financial stress during a specific year, farmers are expected to act rationally by seeking alternative land use patterns or conversions. In this case if the decision lies with the female heads, who are mostly farmers in the

Bosomtwe district, they are bound to respond to the momentary economic hardship by changing their land use types accordingly. Sometimes a temporal dispossession of the land ensues, when the land is used as collateral for other forms of financial relief.

Similarly, the results run as per the community responses to the questions of their motivations, which are the attractors or opportunities to better their lot, to convert their original land use to others, produced a similar trend of responses. From all the 14 communities, the reason of deteriorating livelihoods and the economic incentives were the driving motive to change their LULC types in the district. This has been asserted by Afriyie *et al.* (2013) that peri-urban land use changes are in response to the derived increasing economic benefits. This asserting was affirmed by respondents' view that it is a good idea to convert one's land in response to the changing demand trends in land use (Table 4.4). This is an absolute expression of respondent's rationality in maximizing their welfare from their assets, being land resources. In using this approach, the underlying spatial and temporal dynamic process associated with a rational economic agent can be made explicit (Irwin and Georghegan, 2001).

8.5 Relevance and Implications of Drivers of Peri-Urban Land Use

The Bosomtwe district in the Ashanti region, like any other peri-urban area, is experiencing a number of determining factors that are contributing to LULC changes. These are in the form of either land use conversions and/or land use modifications (Lambin, *et al.*, 2000). There were a number of factors that determined the preponderance of the different responses to the changing patterns of LULC. Sometimes, some of the factors were just extremely significant in determining the land use change patterns in the study area.

Although the Bosomtwe district is predominantly rural, its peri-urbanization process is gaining momentum; a situation gearing toward a fully-fledged urbanized district in the future.

Accordingly, motivated by the affordability of land in the peri-urban areas, Lawanson *et al.* (2012) concluded that many people would want to resettle from the big cities to the rural and peri-urban fringes. One of the manifestations of peri-urban land-use changes is the dynamic physical and environmental modifications (Cobbinah and Amoako, 2014).

Generally, changes in land cover during the last fifteen years included cropland reduction and forest recovery due to land abandonment in mountainous areas, in favor of dispersed urban land use expansion in lowlands (Aubrya *et al.*, 2012; Bajocco *et al.*, 2012; Salvati *et al.*, 2012). Contrary to this trend in the District, the expansion in peri-urban land uses in lieu of forest covers and crop lands, do defy topographic barriers, as higher elevations up to about 800m experienced forest fragmentation.

This LULC trend has potential climate change implications in the peri-urban landscapes that are transforming in a serial continuum from a rural landscape to an urbanized landscape. This, according to Pongratz and Caldeira (2012), is caused by the emission of greenhouse gases from degraded lands, including forest lands as well as the production and use from combustion of fossil fuels, by small to light industrial productions. The adverse implications of these on the local climate can be conjectured to an appreciable degree of certainty.

8.6 Synthesis of LULC Results from Satellite Data Analysis

This section is devoted to the synthesis of the results of the LULC types and their effects on the NDVI of the vegetation in the district.

8.6.1 Effects of LULC Dynamics on NDVI values as Proxies to Vegetation Health

The results of the NDVI values indicate that, although dense forest cover increased from 1986 to 2002 it decreased further in 2007 given the lower NDVI values. Other land use types characterized by intense human activities, such as infrastructure development expanded with possible effects on the vegetation abundance and resilience.

Bosomtwe district falls within the tropical forest zone, as such it is expected to have high positive values of between +0.5 and +0.9 (Vlek *et al.*, 2010). Land use classes such as recent fallows and grasslands increased from 1986 to 2007 owing to land surface exposures through clearing of vegetation for farming; logging and illegal mining activities as the major drivers of land degradation (Kusimi, 2008), the density and health of vegetation were affected. A similar result is presented in the NDVI image such as the LULC maps classified for the area (Appiah *et al.*, 2015).

The built-up, bare lands and concrete surfaces increased from 2002 to 2007. Although the rate of increase was not rapid, the result showed expansion of residential and commercial land uses (Kissinger *et al.*, 2012). The expansion may be explained by endogenous and exogenous factors such as, population growth through in-migration into the districts. The Bosomtwe district may urbanize faster regardless of the reduction in built up area, bare and concrete land uses from 5664 ha in 2002 to 3587 ha in 2007. This reduction could be due to re-growth of vegetation on bare lands. Apparently, it was in the 2007 NDVI image that the dense forest cover decreased given the lower value of between 0.056 and 0.243.

The fact that vegetation, particularly forest covers are dwindling, using the evidence of the LULC classes, indicates that, the future changing trends pose a depleting threat to the overall forest cover in the Bosomtwe district. Although there is a seemingly moderate growth rate of built-up, bare land and concrete land use activities, efforts must be made to enhance vegetation cover in the district. It is identified from the LULC maps that forest covers both dense and low forest classes, are not rapidly being replaced by built-up, bare land and concrete; rather, by recent fallows and grassland.

However, the same cannot be said for the recent fallows/grassland that dominated the land use and covers over the years, when low to moderately vegetated land were compared with the moderate to dense vegetation coverage. These areas of recent fallows have potential tendencies to be converted into other land uses that would lead to the complete removal of the vegetation cover, more rapidly than the rate at which natural forest re-growth could pace.

From the north-western part of the district map, it is evident that residential activities are spreading in what this study describes as the *funnel-shape growth* of urbanization that result in rural areas expanding into the urban core, along major and minor arterial road routes; obviously, being nonvegetation land uses (Maitima *et al.*, 2009).

The analysis of LULC classes *in tandem* with the vegetation characteristics in terms of the normalized vegetation index (NDVI), offer a better methods of comparing and estimating the impact of non-vegetation land uses on the vegetation land use and cover (Firl and Carter, 2011). This methodology usually carried out in Software such as ArcGIS and ERDAS Imagine to generate interactive maps (USGS, 2011), offer a useful approach for comparing the categories of land uses

and land cover changes and their corresponding impacts on the NDVI as measure of vegetation abundance and resilience.

The overall condition of the forest cover is decreasing in abundance and resilience. This is shown by the decreasing NDVI values generated from the maps. These values support the results of increasing trend of LULC transitions from vegetation to other land uses, particularly the built up and bare to concrete and recent fallows and grasslands. Vegetation cover may be marginally increasing in terms of low forest category. That notwithstanding, forest cover *per se* are also dwindling in abundance and health, in the District.

The slower rate of built up, bare and concrete surfaces notwithstanding, there is considerable reduction and transition from dense forest cover into low forest which in itself also contains some human land use i.e. plantation agriculture. Again, the fact that recent fallows and grasslands are increasing, indicate that the level of agriculture-based and other vegetation reduction-based activities dominate the LULC activities. These may lead to emissions of carbon dioxide, which could consequently increase the local greenhouse gas loading. The increasing concentrations can have implications for local warming with variable impacts on the local climate, especially temperature and rainfall patterns.

The results obtained and analyzed, thus far from the land use classes for the various years indicated that the district is not experiencing urbanization as the study conjectures and to a large extent corroborated by the socio-economic survey. Areas that exhibited peri-urban to urban land uses were restricted to the north-western part of the district. Communities occupying this subsection of the district include; *Esereso, Sawua, Jachie, Pranso* and *Aputuogya*. The remaining communities

in the district remain predominantly rural. The expansion in the growth of built up bare land and concrete surfaces are slower than anticipated. The trending of this growth is seen in the typical funnel-shaped pattern growing along the main arterial road networks from the main city center towards *Kuntenase*, the district capital of the Bosomtwe district.

Although the dense forest increased appreciably by 2014, the low forest cover continued to increase consistently. In classifying the LULC, some other land use types were identified from ground truth to have been embedded in the low forest vegetation cover. These were the oil palm plantation and some citrus fruits that dominated some areas in the district. These points to the fact that forest cover, in terms of the dense forest is still dwindling in proportion to the other land uses, comparably (Appiah *et al.*, 2015; Jackson *et al.*, 2012). In addition to this, considering the expansion of recent fallows /grassland, resulting from farmland preparation and abandonment, the presence of vegetation cover as a sink to carbon dioxide could be reduced. This may exposed the district to LULC-based emission and concentration of carbon dioxide (Virgilio and Marshall, 2009). The consequences of these on local climate variability and change could be imminent in the district.

The fact that built up/bare and concrete surfaces in the district are increasing, shows that the LULC types would remain largely recent fallows/grassland as well as the low forest. However, considering the expansion in the built up and bare and concrete surface trending from the northwestern part of the district from the main urban peripheries of Kumasi, *Atonsu* and *Esereso*, into the rural areas, the projection of built up/bare land and concrete surfaces would increase consistently in the near future. This would transition to overtake most of the land use types, particularly the recent fallows/grassland and low forest.

193
The probability of the other land use types transiting into other LULC types in a Markovian chain reaction of proportions, could also lead to the general reduction in the vegetation cover in the district. In comparing the vegetation and non-vegetation maps of the district, it can be observed that land uses and land covers (LULCs) other than forest covers are generally increasing at the expense of forest covers. As low forest and dense forests reduce in sizes, it is an indicative of the reduction in agriculture, forest and other land uses (AFOLU) activities in the

district.

8.6.2 Changing Patterns of LULC with Respect of Vegetation Cover

The results have some far-reaching implication on the forest cover change, as perceived by the respondents in the Bosomtwe district. LULC changes are dynamic human activities which require conscious streamlining. There is need to attribute the underlying causes of LULC dynamics to the specific human drivers or activities, responsible for deforestation and degradation processes (Appiah *et al.*, 2014b).

From a perceptual perspectives, forest cover is depleting in the interest of other land uses and land covers (LULC); particularly residential and commercial activities. Peri-urbanization as the name suggest, is the development of urban periphery into urban areas. Once people become integral part of this setting, their household decisions become aligned with the most immediate rational reactions, all things being equal, to convert land into other uses from their original, in most cases, agriculture, forest and other land uses (AFOLUs).

As speculative demand for land in the wider Kumasi Metropolis is oriented toward the district, vegetation cover changes are expected to be rapid. The rapidity of LULC change has been better

determined from the spatial modelling of the vegetation change detection scenarios in a time serial analysis. However, the fact that the local people, most of whom have been in the community for decades have observed the depletion of their vegetation cover, give credence to the fact that human land use activities that have the potential to alter original vegetation covers are on the ascendency in the district. The business as usual situation and the seeming scramble for land for residential developments (in most cases, for lateral expansion), would definitely have consequential degrading effect on the vegetation cover.

Another cause of forest degradation is the clandestine operations of illegal logging activities through chain saw milling of timber in the district. The district assembly contends that this problem is indeed a challenge worth dealing with, in safeguarding the forests. This is especially so, when the only natural lake, Lake Bosomtwe radial streams that feed into the depression take their head waters from the forested highland zones. Illegal gold mining and Sand winning, is also identified as another rampant land degradation activity practiced in some parts of the district. In the absence of adequate jobs for the youth in the district, the activity of sand mining and illegal gold mining have become lucrative livelihood activities, supporting household incomes, in both on and off-farming periods. This result, led to the rejection of the null hypothesis that; there is not relationship between LULC and vegetation cover health.

8.7 Juxtaposition of the Perceptual and Actual Outcomes of the Analyses

Certainly, land use and cover trends are not consistently in favour of built up/ bare land and concrete surfaces, to any appreciable extent. This finding is unlike the general trend that areas of perceived urbanization tend to demonstrate rapid growth in residential and built up land uses (Ravetz *et al.*, 2013). The trends identified are seemingly non-characteristic of peri-urbanization to a possible urbanization.

In any case, the general observations from the field work, and coupled with the classified images show that plantation agriculture and food crop subsistent farming dominate the landscape in terms of use and cover in the district. These results therefore, seem to contradict some aspects of the perceived responses delivered by the respondents on the causes and rates of vegetation cover change, in the direction of losses. These perceptions are not infallible from errors of observation.

The actual LULC classification showed an increasing built-up, though, at a decreasing rate.

The analysis of the result shows that LULC transition in the district has been in the direction of more of agriculture lands, recent fallow land and grassland land use and covers rather than built up/bare areas and concrete, explicitly. There may be other extraneous factors responsible for this trend. This is because while low forest decrease in one year in subsequent years there is transition from bare lands (a component of the built up/bare/concrete surface land use class) into low and recent fallow/grassland covers. These fluctuating trends in land use is more in favour of recent fallows and build up implicitly, before the low forest LULC types over the entire periods under analysis.

The LULC trend from the satellite image classification does not seem consistent with perceptual observation of the socio-economic survey responses. The trends that are usually characteristic of peri-urbanization and a possible urbanization, was not clearly identified. This result largely implies that the Bosomtwe district is peri-urbanizing, but at a moderate rate, as far as residential and commercial built up land uses trends is concerned. At the same rate however, dense forest covers are rapidly reducing and degraded in terms of quantities and quality. In any case, the general observations from the field work, and coupled with the classified images show that open wood

lands and plantation agriculture dominate the landscape in terms of land use and cover in the District.

The pointers show that land is more put to the use of subsistent farming and plantation agriculture for food and cash crops respectively. Agriculture, forestry and other land uses

(AFOLU) such as urban built up, concrete, rocks and soils comprise the complex mixture of LULC, though at differing proportions and rates of transition. This is arguably an encouraging land use trend that needs to be promoted in order to reduce forest degradation and agriculture and forest depleting-based carbon dioxide emissions. This is because changes in land use, land cover, disturbance regimes, and land management have considerable influence on carbon and greenhouse gas (GHG) fluxes within ecosystems (Sohl *et al.*, 2012). The consequential effects on local warming and climate variability and climate change in the District could be devastating.

8.8 The Implications of Rainfall and Temperature Variability on Local Climate

This subsection discusses the implications the climatic data analyzed have for the local climate variability and change.

8.8.1 Discussions of Rainfall Variability

The rainfall trend of variability makes the future of rain-fed agriculture bleak, unless appropriate adaptation and mitigation measures are put in place to ensure sustainability. This trend analysis reveals that dealing with the current trend lies with the development and introduction of improved technology such as irrigation, and crop varieties. These could be done among others, through effective dissemination of ideas and innovations by the appropriate government agencies to smallholder farmers, who rely heavily on the rainfall for cropping. It also behooves on farmers as well to embrace these and vary their farming practices and systems to adapt to the current changing rainfall patterns.

This study is underpinned by the need for further research, from varied spheres and sectors of development due to the risk posed by climate change to global food security. Ching (2010), for example advocates for research on climate change mitigation in agriculture; whiles Foli *et al* (2011) emphasized the need to advance mitigation action on evidence-based research. This hinges on an informed understanding of local climate trends which this study sought to provide.

8.8.2 Discussions of Temperature Variability

The forecasting climatic variables as proximate conduit for climate change, using temperature variability in an increasing trend, give credence to fact that climate change can no longer be discounted in the human development arguments (Yaro, 2013). It is now evident that the climate has been changing and this climate change is caused by human activities in relations to the biosphere (Pongratz and Caldeira, 2012).

Considering the rate of peri-urbanization of the Bosomtwe district, evidenced by the level of periurbanization process driven largely by residential expansion, agriculture and forest lands are increasingly depleting, giving way to residential and hospitality/recreational (Hotels and Guest Houses). These are the very conduits of peri-urban heat built-up that could translate into urban heat island in the district.

The foregone results and discussions imply that the last 15 years or so have experienced considerable increasing trend in both temperature and warming, as evidenced from the increasing trends in the air temperature values recorded. This trend is a confirmation of a study by Minia *et al.* (2004) and Yaro (2012), in which they estimate that temperature will continue to rise, while

rainfall is also predicted to decrease in all agro-ecological zones in Ghana. This means the intraquarterly variability of temperature above the district's average confirms the findings of Maddison (2007) that temperature in Africa is becoming warmer in recent years.

This implies that the temperature pattern shows an increasing trend with time. For the months of April, May and June, which correspond to the rainy season in the district to have steeper trending in temperatures over the period poses concerns for the local climate. This is particularly the case considering the inverse correlation between rainfall and temperature patterns. The evidence that urbanization and precipitation are positively correlated, that notwithstanding, a consensus on the relationship has, however, not yet been reached (Blake *et al.*, 2011).

8.9 Implications of LULC Change on Rural and Peri-Urban LST Regime

The land surface temperature invariably corresponds to the land use and cover types classified from the five satellite images. Areas of bare and build up areas show high reflectance and hence high temperature profiles. These areas according to Joshi and Bhatt (2012) are the causes of urban islands in high densely built urban environments. In rural environments, the temperature characteristics are observed to be low in comparison to the urban areas. This was evident in the study of Ambinakudige (2011) in India, that the anthropogenic activities that alter the land cover and exposes it to intense heating is the cause of the differential temperature regimes between the urban core and the rural outgrowth areas.

The Bosomtwe district also demonstrates similar urban to rural temperature profile. By implication, as rural land uses and replaced by the peri urban build up and bare areas, which eventually become the peri-urban heat trough (PuHT), with potentials for urban heat island

conditions. These sensible heat fluxes result from the modification and conversion of vegetative and rural land use and cover types to considerable built-up land use types (Carnahan and Larson, 1990). These exhibited moderate to extreme LULC characteristics of the peri-urban and urban landscape, with varying LST configuration (Srivastava *et al.*, 2010). The PuHT could be described as the incipient stages of urban heat islands; however, the former has a relatively wider geo-spatial dimension in comparison to the latter.

In the context of the Bosomtwe district, this PuHT conditions have higher likelihood to occur in the fast-growing peri-urban towns in the district. Areas such as *Esereso, Jachie, Aputuogya, Kuntenase and Pramso* as shown in Figures 3.1 & 8.3a, are likely to be influenced by their local micro-climates, and likely to be a function of the land use change dynamics. In the context of this study, an operational and postulated temperature threshold for the PuHT and RuCT in a tropical semi-deciduous climate zone, such as the Bosomtwe district were averaged at 31°C.

The resultant effect would be expressed in terms of reduced rainfall and high temperature regimes (Voogt and Oke, 2003). If the trend of land use and cover change continues into the future, a drastic near to full urban heat island is imminent in such areas, considering the business as usual scenarios. These temperature threshold values could be calibrated based on the type of climate regions under consideration. The associated reflectance of the LULC types yielded considerably high land surface temperatures. This phenomenon, presents the opportunity for the formation of peri-urban heat troughs (PuHT). When juxtaposed with the rural cool troughs (RuCT), there is the tendency for surface energy fluxes dissipation from the rural areas with high vegetation cover, which serves as carbon sinks to regulate local warming effects (LWE) (Bhatt *et al.*, 2013).

8.10 Conclusions

There are a number of factors that influenced peri-urban LULC dynamics in the Bosomtwe District. Conversion of lands to other uses, including forested lands was influenced by different socioeconomic biophysical drivers as outlined. In all these, the connotations of peri-urbanization involve a transformation of the rural landscape through demographic pressures on rural and urban periphery.

These land use change dynamics, the study has shown, may have considerable potentials to alter the district's vegetation cover and increase the rate of peri-urbanization. These outcomes have implications for the local greenhouse gas emissions, particularly from degraded forests and increased built-up/bare/concrete surfaces that serve as sources rather than sinks for the sequestration of carbon dioxide. Furthermore, the associated LST extracts corresponding with the LULC types defined the surface heat profile of the districts in the RuCT and the PuHT systems as thermal cells trending from the rural to the peri-urban areas as the potential urban heat island system.



KNUST

CHAPTER 9: SUMMARIES OF KEY FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

9.1 Introduction

This is the final chapter that offers the summaries of key findings, conclusions and recommendations obtained from the previews of results and discussions chapters.

In recent decade, issues relating to land use and climate variability and climate change have come to the forefront of the environmental and development literature. Equally, specialized scientists and international organizations have realized that LULC dynamics have largely influenced local climatic patterns. In response to this, institutions have been established at subregional and national levels to research into land use and climate change, predict likely changes and assess likely impacts and the mitigation and adaptation pathways to adopt. In Ghana, large scale anthropogenic forces are being superimposed onto the natural dynamic systems with independent ecological influences and consequences. Nonetheless, it is crucial to comprehend the relationship between peri-urban land use and climate changes as well as the various land management decisions that specifically drive the area into different landscapes. With this, the study integrated the socioeconomic survey and remote sensing methodologies in modelling the LULC dynamics of the Bosomtwe district of the Ashanti region. This was to proffer possible specific management options that might help the district assembly in its land use plans enforcement and management practices.

This chapter, therefore, is a summary of the key findings of the study obtained, the conclusions and recommendations as well as the contributions to the body of knowledge and the literature.

9.2 The Problem Setting with Objectives

The Bosomtwe district is one of the fast expanding peri-urban settings in the Kumasi Metropolis. It has one of fastest growing rates of private land acquisition and residential sprawl in response to the choice of the changing human populations of relocating away from the city centre. The increasing concentration of residential and commercial activities, have implications for the agricultural, vegetation and other LULC dynamics. The paucity of scientific knowledge and data for the predominantly agrarian populations living in the Bosomtwe district, justifies the need to undertake the study.

The main objective of this study is to analyze the peri-urban LULC dynamics in the Bosomtwe district of the Asante region, using the combined methodologies of socioeconomic and satellite remote sensing techniques.

9.3 Key Findings from the Study

This section summarizes the key finding of the entire procedures and results obtained and analyzed for the study. A triangulation of qualitative and quantitative design was used through structured questionnaires in 14 communities on the basis of population, in the Bosomtwe district. This was done in a socioeconomic survey from which the data was analyzed in the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) v.16 for Windows applications.

Further, the use of six Landsat satellite data of Thematic Mapper and Enhanced Thematic Mapper+ (TM/ETM+) images, as well as Landsat 8 Operational Land Imager and Thermal Infrared Sensor (OLI/TIRS) images, were analyzed in ENVI, ERDAS Imagine and ArcMap Remote Sensing and Geographic Information System software respectively.

9.3.1 Socioeconomic Drivers of Land Use and Land Cover Change

The increasing rate of peri-urbanization in the district is as a result of increasing demand for residential and commercial land uses at the expense of agricultural land uses. This has resulted in substantial conversion of prime agricultural lands into other land uses particularly residential and commercial. These outcomes have perceived negative implications on food security in the district.

Easy access to land and the gradual deterioration of economic livelihoods are some key determinants of agricultural land use conversions in the District. Therefore, the economic incentives expected from the conversion of agricultural land into residential and commercial land uses are the motivating factors for change. Agriculture as an economic activity is gradually losing its profitability among peasant households.

9.3.2 Land Use and Land Cover Dynamics and Trends

The probability of other land use types changing into other LULC types is highly in favour of built up and concrete land uses. According to the Markov chain transition reaction of proportions, the land use activities could lead to the general reduction in the vegetation cover in the district consequently over the next 24 years projected into the future.

By comparing the vegetation and non-vegetation covers of the district, it can be observed that LULCs other than built up areas (which rapidly increased in some years, due to built-up, bare and concrete class composition), are slightly increasing at the expense of forest covers. As low forest and dense forests reduce in size, particularly from 1986 to 2010, it is an indication of the reduction in agriculture and forest land use activities in the district.

9.3.3 Vegetation Cover Change Trends

Results of the image classification of LULC and NDVI analysis showed considerable expansion of infrastructure, extension of agricultural lands and bare land surfaces that contributed to reduction in forest cover and loss of the woody vegetation. LULC classes for build up, bare lands and concrete surfaces increased. The expansion may be explained by endogenous and exogenous factors such as, population growth through in-migration into the districts.

The overall condition of the forest cover is that it is decreasing in abundance and resilience, as the NDVI values generated from the maps do not support results of increasing trend from the land use and land cover classification maps. Vegetation cover may be marginally increasing in terms of low forest category. That notwithstanding, forest cover per se may also be dwindling in density and health, in the District. The Bosomtwe district may urbanize faster regardless of the reduction in build up area, bare and concrete land uses.

9.3.4 Rainfall and Temperature Analyses for Climate Variability and Climate Change

Rainfall pattern indicated a generally increasing trend over the 31 year period. However, the interannual trends, disaggregated by decadal comparisons showed otherwise. This therefore presents a cautious situation when predicting the future pattern and trends of rainfall in the district. It could further be misleading to anticipate an increasing rainfall trend over the years, *pari paso*, judging from the seemingly fluctuating inter-quarterly trends.

The results clearly points to the inherent truth that the temperatures have been changing and in the increasing directions as the time series and Mann-Kendall trend analyses of temperature data have shown. Forecasted mean annual temperature values for the 4 ensuing years showed probable increasing trend. The analysis concludes that there is the need to be conscious about the potential consequences of increased warming on rainfall pattern and soil moisture to sustain subsistence agriculture in the district.

9.3.5 Land Surface Temperature for RuCT and PuHT Regimes

Considering the fact that the direction of change is usually in the favour of build-up to concrete surfaces, the peri-urban areas have a higher propensities to produce the fueling cell effects of ultimate urban heat islands. This situation would have occurred when the peri-urban region has dynamically transformed into a complete urban core areas with fully-fledge urban land infrastructure and its associated local warming effects on the local climate. In other words, every peri-urban area is a potential urban heat island.

9.4 Conclusions

As agriculture, forest and other land uses (AFOLU) are gradually losing their prominence with time, demand for other land uses are soaring considerably. In the event that households would have to make decisions as to what use to put their land, given the reasons of, for instance, deterioration of livelihoods from subsistent agriculture, and the social complacency of professing excess land available and the changing demand for land uses, the decision-maker (i.e. household heads) would not hesitate to convert their land to other land uses.

In most cases, the probability (odds) of converting from one land use to another will be high, as have explicitly been reported by the logistic regressing model. According to the respondents, many landowners would change the use of their lands with some high certainty, if factors that determine their land use preferences change. Their claim was that unprofitability of agriculture and alternatively high prices offered for land meant for other uses (residential, recreational and commercial) in recent times, compelled the majority of farmers to decide to convert their arable lands from agriculture to other uses.

In view of this, arable land availability would be threatened as long as there is demand for land and landowners' criteria to dispose of their lands are met. This could have dire implications on food security, considering the predominantly agrarian nature of the Bosomtwe district.

Household decision making on patterns of land use change on the basis of gender in the Bosomtwe district of the Ashanti region, is based on the social and economic conditions prevailing as well as the status of the household head in the family. In female headedhouseholds, the results have shown

a gradual paradigm shift in explicit decisions regarding the land use at the household level, in most of the communities surveyed.

Although male headed households maintained the *status quo*, this situation in the peri-urban Bosomtwe seems threatened. This is because, modernizations and its co-jointed consequences of urbanization and enlightenment, has empowered females adequately to begin to assert and exert some levels of ownership rights. In view of this, the decisions to apply these lands to whatever uses they deem rational is no longer the preserve of the male counterparts. Particularly of interest is the assertive roles of women in taking vital rational decisions on their land use and modifications; a privilege they hitherto did not enjoy. Other socioeconomic factors such as the land tenure regime, status and gender of the household head, also have tendencies to influence their land use decisions.

The study findings have shown important changes in the land use and land cover patterns in the district. After an urbanization process, coupled with farmland abandonment between 1986 and 2010, substantial increments in peri-urban to urban land uses and clear increments in farmland coverage were found between 2010 and 2014. This suggests that major changes in the socioecological driving forces affecting landscape dynamics have occurred in the last two decades. The LULC trends from 1986 through to the years 2010 and 2014 are consistently in favour of built up/bare land and concrete surfaces, as well as the open woodland and farmlands, to an appreciable extent. These trends are certainly the characteristics of peri-urbanization and consequently a possible urbanization. This result largely implies that the Bosomtwe district is rapidly peri-urbanizing as the study conjectured, based on the earlier increasing urbanizing trend from the 1980s to the early 2000s.

In any case, the general observations from the field work, coupled with the classified images, show that agriculture plantation and subsistent crop farming, dominate the landscape in terms of land use and cover in the District from 1986 to 2014. However, the pointers show that the land is put more to the use of residential and commercial purposes than agriculture and forest land uses (AFOLU).

Considering the intricate relationship between temperature and rainfall, it stands to conclude that, the Bosomtwe district is experiencing conditions of appreciable changing ecological and anthropogenic process. These processes working *in tandem* would have deleterious effects on local climates and its consequences on human livelihood activities in the district.

Finally, this study has shown the relevance of the use of land surface temperature extraction algorithm, as empirical efforts of simulating local climatic conditions. It has done so by juxtaposing the corresponding LULC characteristics and their respective reflectance properties as additional inputs for the simulation of a local warming or cooling effects, depending on the land use and land cover types. The study concludes that the LULC categories corresponded well with the LST extracts obtained. This result, led to the rejection of the null hypothesis that; there is not relationship between LULC and LST extracts.

9.5 Recommendations

9.5.1 Recommendations for Policy

This study in line with the objectives and conclusions recommend that following for policy and institutional actions.

First, in the area of peri-urban land use and land cover changes driven by human land use activities, the Planning Unit of the Bosomtwe District Assembly should strictly enforce the laid down Land Use Plans (LUP). In this regard, it is further proffered that periodic stakeholder engagement on land tenure issues, access, use and conversion should be organized by the District Assembly.

Second, continuous monitoring and protection of forest cover and judicious land uses are recommended. Following from this, vegetation cover degrading land use activities that affect the forest density and health need to be curtailed by the District Forest Service Division to pursue vigorous forest protection laws.

Next, Ghana meteorological agency should liaise with the Bosomtwe District assembly, especially the Department of Food and Agriculture, to offer periodic climatic information, particularly to farmers in the district. These campaigns could be in the form of early warning systems on climatic events, particularly rainfall patterns alterations and other climate smart production methods. Finally, the District Assembly through the Department of Town and Country Planning (DTCP) should enforce land use regulations towards the protection and sustenance of prime agricultural and forest land covers, as physical development cannot be avoided entirely. The removal of the vegetal cover exposes the land surface to insolation expressed in reflectance that signifies the heating or cooling surface systems. Vegetation cover should be protected to reduce potential future urban heat islands as the district transits through a peri-urban heating system.

9.5.2 Issues for Further Studies

A study using high resolution image classification is recommended to reduce the errors of misclassification. This could be hypothesized that, there is no significant difference in the classification accuracies of moderate resolution image and high resolution image classification.

SANE NO

Relationship between digital elevation model (DEM) and LULC in a mountainous landscape as the Bosomtwe district should be explored along-side policy mechanisms. It could be hypothesized that: there is no significant compliance difference between the topographic restrictions and regulatory restrictions to land uses in the District.

There is the need to validate the normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI). It could be hypothesized that: there is no significant difference between the NDVI of the district and a reliably downscaled NDVI reference data.

A further investigation and the determination of an average temperature values as the threshold for the measure of the rural cool trough (RuCT) and peri-urban heat trough (PuHT) in tropical climatic zones is proffered for further research. It could be hypothesized that: there is no significant difference between the temperature values of urban heat islands and peri-urban heat trough areas. 9.5.3 Contributions to Knowledge and Literature

9.5.3.1 Contribution to Knowledge

The hybrid of analyses that juxtaposed spatial correlation between the socioeconomic sensing of land use and land cover with the satellite remote sensing of the drivers and dynamics of LULC in the Bosomtwe district, is an addition of a layer of knowledge and a methodological contribution.

The study has demonstrated that it is possible to study peri-urban areas using the theories of urban evolution and ecological evolution with its intricate sub-processes and structures and forms part of peri-urban ecological systems (PUES) studies. This is a theoretical contribution from a Ghanaian perspective.

Further, the introduction of the new concepts of Peri-urban heat trough (PUHT) and Rural Cooling troughs (RuCT) into the land surface temperature studies as surrogates of urban heat island (UHI) analyses is novel and hence, an addition and theoretical contribution to the existing knowledge.

9.5.3.2 Contribution to the Literature from the Thesis

Empirically, through this study, the following six peer-reviewed papers have been published with additional two submitted for review and possible publication. This is quite an ample contribution to the literature. The following papers emanated from the thesis:

- Appiah, D.O., Bugri, J.T and Forkuo E.K. 2016. Land use conversion probability in a Periurban District of Ghana. *Chinese Journal of Urban and Environmental Studies* Vol. (3):1-21.
- Appiah, D.O., Schroeder, D., Forkuo E.K and Bugri, J.T. 2015. Application of GeoInformation Techniques in Land Use and Land Cover Change Analysis in a Peri-Urban District of Ghana. *International Journal of Geo-Information*, Vol. 4:1265-1289.
- Appiah, D.O., Bugri, J.T and Forkuo E.K. 2015. Modelling the Perspective of Agricultural Land Use Trajectories in a Peri-Urban District of Ghana. *Journal of Scientific Research & Reports*, Vol. 5(1): 16-31.
- Appiah, D.O., Adanu, S.K., Forkuo E.K and Bugri, J.T 2015. Normalized Difference Vegetation Index Analysis of the Vegetation Cover in Bosomtwe Peri-Urban Settlement, Ghana. *Journal of Basic and Applied Research International*, Vol. 5 (3): 146-156.
- Appiah, D.O., Bugri, J.T., Forkuo E.K and Boateng, K.P. 2014. Determinants of PeriUrbanization and Land Use Change Patterns in Peri-Urban Ghana. *Journal of Sustainable Development;* Vol. 7(6): 95-109.

- Appiah D. O. and Boafo J. 2015. Analysis of Temperature Anomalies as proxy to Climate Variability and Change in a Peri-urban District, Ghana. *Advanced Journal of Environmental Management* Vol. 1(3): 20-33.
- Appiah, D.O., Bugri, J.T., Forkuo E.K. (2016 in press). Logistic Regression Modelling of Vegetation Cover Change in a Peri-Urban Region of Ghana. International Journal of Sustainable Land use Policy (IJSLUP).
- Appiah, D.O., Bugri, J.T., Forkuo E.K. (2016 in press). Power Sharing in the Home; Households' Decisions on Land Use Conversion in Peri-Urban Ghana. *Geo-Journal*.
- Appiah, D.O., Bugri, J.T., Forkuo E.K. and Dietrich Schröder (2016 submitted). Land Surface Temperature Extracts for Peri-urban Heat and Rural Cool Troughs, in Ghana.

Remote Sensing Environment.



Abbas, I. I., Muazu, K.M. and Ukoje, J. A. (2010). Mapping Land Use-land Cover and Change Detection in Kafur Local Government, Katsina, Nigeria (1995–2008) Using Remote Sensing and GIS. *Research Journal of Environment and Earth Sciences* 2: 6–12.

Acheampong, R. A. and Anokye, P. A. (2013). Understanding Households' Residential Location

Choice in Kumasi's Peri-Urban Settlements and the Implications for Sustainable Urban Growth.

Research on Humanities and Social Sciences Vol. 3, (9): 60-70.

ActionAid (2012). Land grabbing, biofuel investment and traditional authorities in Ghana; Executive Summary, Policy Brief. Accessed August 15 2014, Available at: http://www.actionaid.org/sites/files/actionaid/policy_brief.pdf.

Addo, K.A. (2010). Urban and Peri-Urban Agriculture in Developing Countries Studied using Remote Sensing and *In Situ* Methods. *Remote Sensing*, 2: 497–513.

Adriana A., Nilvo, L., da Silva A. and Enrico C. E. (1999). Environmental Problems And Opportunities Of The Peri-Urban Interface And Their Impact Upon The Poor. Strategic Environmental Planning and Management for the Peri-urban Interface Research Project, 43p.

Aduah, M. S. and Aabeyir, R. (2013). Land Cover Dynamics in Wa Municipality, Upper West Region of Ghana. *Research Journal of Environmental and Earth Sciences* Vol. 4 (6): 658-664

Afriyie, K., Abass, K., and Adomako J. A. A. (2013). Urbanization of the Rural Landscape: Assessing the Effects in Peri-urban Kumasi. *International Journal of Urban Sustainable*

Development. 2013; 6: 1-19, Accessed: 28 March 2013, at:

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/19463138.2013.799068#preview

Agrawal, S. and M. van Aalst (2008). Adapting Development Cooperation to Adapt Climate Change. *Climate Policy* Vol. 8 (2): 183-193.

th Ahrens, C.D. (2005). Essentials of Meteorology; An introduction to the Atmosphere. 4 Edition. Thompson/Brooks/Cole, Belmont, USA, 473p.

Al-Bakri, J. T., Duqqah, M., Brewer, T. (2013). Application of Remote Sensing and GIS for Modeling and Assessment of Land Use/Cover Change in Amman/Jordan *Journal of Geographic Information System* 5: 509-519 Alcamo. J., Schaldach, R., Koch, J., Kölking, C., Lapola, D., Priess, J. (2011). Evaluation of an integrated land use change model including a scenario analysis of land use change for continental Africa. Environmental Modeling and Software 26: 1017-1027.

Allen, A. and Davila, J. (2002). Mind the gap! Bridging the rural-urban divide. In: Allen A, Davila J (eds) Mind the gap! Bridging the rural-urban divide.- id21 Insights, 41. Available from: http://www.id21.org/insights/insights41/index.html. Accessed 2009-05-04

Allen, A., Dávila, J. D. and Hofmann, P. (2006). The Peri-urban Water Poor: Citizens or Consumers? *Environment and Urbanization* Vol. 18 (2): 333-351.

Ambinakudige, S. (2011). Remote sensing of land cover's effect on surface temperatures: a case study of the urban heat island in Bangalore, India, *Applied GIS*, Vol. 7(1), 1-12

Amoateng, P., Cobbinah P. B, and Owusu-Adade K. (2013). Managing physical development in peri-urban areas of Kumasi, Ghana: a case of Abuakwa. Journal of Urban and Environmental.

2013; 7(4): 96-109.

Anderson, P.S. (2000). Mapping land rights in Mozambique. *Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing* Vol. 66 (6): 769-775.

Angelsen, A. and Kaimowitz, D. (eds) (2001). Agricultural technologies and tropical deforestation. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.

Antrop, M. (2005) Landscape change and the urbanization process in Europe. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 75: 69-80.<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2004.12.005</u>

Appiah, D.O., Bugri, J.T and Forkuo E.K. (2016). Land use conversion probability in a Periurban District of Ghana. *Chinese Journal of Urban and Environmental Studies* Vol. (3):1-21.

Appiah, D.O., Schroeder, D., Forkuo E.K and Bugri, J.T. (2015). Application of GeoInformation Techniques in Land Use and Land Cover Change Analysis in a Peri-Urban District of Ghana. *International Journal of Geo-Information* 4:1265-1289.

Appiah, D.O., Bugri, J.T and Forkuo E.K. (2015). Modelling the Perspective of Agricultural Land Use Trajectories in a Peri-Urban District of Ghana. *Journal of Scientific Research & Reports*, Vol. 5(1): 16-31.

Appiah, D.O., Adanu, S.K., Forkuo E.K and Bugri, J.T (2015). Normalized Difference Vegetation Index Analysis of the Vegetation Cover in Bosomtwe Peri -Urban Settlement, Ghana. *Journal of Basic and Applied Research International* Vol. 5 (3): 146-156.

Appiah, D.O., Osman, B. and Boafo, J. (2014). Land Use and Misuse; Human Appropriation of Land Ecosystems Services in Ghana. *International Journal of Ecosystem* Vol. 4(1): 24-33 DOI: 10.5923/j.ije.20140401.04.

Appiah, D.O.; Bugri, J.T.; Forkuo, E.K.; Boateng, P.K. (2014). Determinants of PeriUrbanization and Land Use Change Patterns in Peri-Urban Ghana. *Journal of Sustainable Development* 7: 95–109.

Appiah D. O. and Boafo J. (2014). Analysis of Temperature Anomalies as proxy to Climate Variability and Change in a Peri-urban District, Ghana. *Advanced Journal of Environmental Management* Vol. 1(3): 20-33.

Arko-Adjei, A. (2011). Adapting land administration to the institutional framework of customary tenure; the case of peri-urban Ghana. *Sustainable Urban Areas* 39: 284. The Netherlands.

Asiyanbola, R. A. (2014). Remote Sensing in Developing Country-Nigeria: An Exploration. *Journal of Geography and Geology* Vol. 6 (1): 14

Bates, B. C., Kundzewicz, Z. W., Wu, S. and Palutikof, J. P. (edt) (2008). Climate Change and Water. Technical Paper of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC Secretariat, Geneva, 210pp.

Batty, M., Xie, Y. and Sun, Z. (1999). Modelling urban dynamics through GIS-Based Cellular Automata. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems* Vol. 23: 205-233.

Baylis, M., Meiswinkel, R. and Venter G. J. (1999). A preliminary attempt to use climate data and satellite imagery to model the abundance and distribution of *Culicoides imicola* (Diptera: Ceratopogonidae) in southern Africa. *Journal of the South African Veterinary Association* 70(2): 80–89.

Bekkoussa, B., Meddi, M., Jourde, H. (2008) Climatic and anthropic forcing on groundwaterresources in a semiarid area: the case of the Ghriss plain, North-Western Algeria.

Science et Changements Planétaires 19: 173–184.

Bhatt, U. S., Walker, D. A., Raynolds, M. K., Bieniek, P. A., Epstein, H. E., Comiso, J. C., Pinzon, J. E., Tucker, C. J. and Polyakov, Igor, V. (2013). Recent Declines in Warming and Vegetation Greening Trends over Pan-Arctic Tundra. *Remote Sensing* 5: 4229-4254

Blaikie P. (2008). Epilogue: Towards a future for political ecology that works. *Geoforum* 39 (2008) 765–772. http://geog.uoregon.edu/amarcus/geog621/Guestreadings/Blaikie2008_Geoforum.pdf accessed 20 July 2015.

Blake, R., A. Grimm, T. Ichinose, R. Horton, S. Gaffin, S. Jiong, D. Bader, L. D. Cecil, (2011). Urban climate: Processes, trends, and projections. *Climate Change and Cities: First Assessment Report of the Urban Climate Change Research Network*,

Blanco, H., Alberti, M., Olshansky, R. and others (2009). Shaken, shrinking, hot, impoverished and informal: Emergingresearch agendas in planning, Progress in Planning, 72(4): 195-250.

Bonan, G. B. (2008). Forests and climate change: Forcings, feedbacks, and the climate benefits of forests. Science, 320: 1444-1449.

Bonan, G.B. Oleson, K.W., Vertenstein, M. *et al.* (2002). The land surface climatology of the community land model coupled to the NCAR community climate model. *Journal of Climatology*, 15 (2002): 3123–3149

Bosomtwe District Profile, (2010). The Bosomtwe District; An environmental condition accessed <u>http://www.ghanadistricts.com</u> on 20 August 2014.

Bounoua, L., R.S. Defries, G.J. Collatz and others (2002). Effects of land cover conversion on surface climate. Climatic Change, 52: 29-64.

Brovkin, V., Boysen, L., Arora, V.K., Boisier, J.P., Cadule, P., Chini, L., and Weiss, M. (2013). Effect of anthropogenic land-use and land-cover changes on climate and land carbon storage in CMIP5 projections for the twenty-first century. *Journal of Climate* Vol. 26 (18); 6859-6881.

Budds, J. and Minaya, A. (1999). Overview of Initiatives Regarding the Management of the Periurban Interface. Development Planning Unit, University College London, pp33.

Bugri, J. T. (2008). The Dynamics of Tenure Security, Agricultural Production and Environmental Degradation in Africa: evidence from stakeholders in north-east Ghana. *Land Use Policy*, 25, 271-285.

Bugri, J.T. (2012a). Improving Land Governance in Ghana; Land Governance Assessment Framework. Policy Recommendations for National Dialogue Meeting in Accra, 20pp.

Bugri, J.T. (2012b). Final Report on Agricultural Investments in Ghana: Evidence from two case studies, 45*pp*.

Cadieux, K. and Hurley, P. (2011). Amenity migration, exurbia and emerging rural landscapes: global natural amenity as place and as process, *GeoJournal*, Vol. 76: 297-302.

Carnahan, W. H., and Larson, R. C. (1990). An analysis of an urban heat sink. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 33, 65–71.

Chen, X-L., Zhao, H-M., Li, P-X., Zhi-Yong Yin (2006). Remote sensing image-based analysis of the relationship between urban heat island and land use/cover changes. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 104: 133–146.

Cheng, C. K. M. and Chan, J. C. L. (2012). Impacts of land use changes and synoptic forcing on the seasonal climate over the Pearl River Delta of China. *Atmospheric Environment* 60, 25-36.

Chrisman, N. (2005) Full Circle: More than just social implications of Geographic Information System. *Cartographica*, 40: 23-35.

Chrysoulakis, N., Kamarianakis, Y., Farsari, Y., Diamandakis, M. and P. Prastacos. (2004) Combining Satellite and Socioeconomic data for Land Use Models estimation. In Goossens, R. rd (ed.), Proc. of 3 Workshop of EARSeL Special Interest Group on Remote Sensing for Developing Countries.

CIFOR (2012). Simply REDD; CIFOR's Guide to Forests, Climate Change and Reducing

Deforestation and Forest Degradation (REDD), p. 16. Available online: <u>http://www.cifor.org/publications/pdf_files/media/MediaGuide_REDD.pdf</u> (accessed on 29 November 2014).

Cobbinah, P. B, Amoako, C. (2012). Urban Sprawl and the Loss of Peri-Urban Land in Kumasi, Ghana. International *Journal of Social and Human Sciences*, 6: 388-397.

Codjoe, S.N.A. (2007) Integrating Remote Sensing, GIS, Census, andSocioeconomic Data in Studying the Population–Land Use/CoverNexus in Ghana: A Literature Update. Africa Development, Vol. XXXII,No. 2, pp. 197–212.

Coll C, Caselles V and Galve J M (2005). Ground measurements for the validation of land surface temperatures derived from AATSR and MODIS data; *Remote Sensing of Environment Vol.* 97; 288–300.

Coll, C. Galve, J. M. Sánchez, J. M. and Caselles, V. (2010). Validation of Landsat-7/ETM+ Thermal-Band Calibration and Atmospheric Correction with Ground-Based Measurements.

IEEE Trans. Geoscience and Remote Sensing Vol. 48 (1): 547–555.

Contreras-Hermosilla A. (2000). The underlying causes of forest decline. CIFOR Occas. Pap.30, Center Int. Forestry Research, Bogor, Indonesia.

Cornick, S. and Dalgliesh, W.A. (2003). A Moisture index to characterize climates for building envelope design, *Journal of Thermal Envelope & Building Science*, Vol. 27, No. 2, pp. 151-178.

Dale, V. H., O'Neill, R. V., Pedlowski, M. and Southworth, F. (1993). Causes and Effects of Land Use Change in Central Rondonia, Brazil', Photogrametric-Engineering and Remote Sensing, 59:.997-1005.

Dale, V., Archer, S., Chang, M. and Dennis Ojima, D. (2005). Ecological Impacts and Mitigation Strategies For Rural Land Management. *Ecological Applications*, 15(6), 2005, pp. 1879–1892

Danfeng, S., Dawson, R. and Baoguo, L. (2006). Agricultural causes of desertification risk in Minquin, China. *Journal of Environmental Management*, Vol. 79, 348-356.

Daniel, W. W. (1999). Biostatistics: A foundation for Analysis in the Health Sciences. 7 edition. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

th

Darkoh, M.B.K. (2003). Regional perspectives on agriculture and biodiversity in the drylands of Africa. *Journal of Arid Environments* 54: 261–279.

Davoudi, S., Crawford, J. and Mehmood, A. (eds). (2010) Planning for climate change: strategies for mitigation and adaptation for spatial planners, Earthscan, London.

De Sherbinin, A., Schiller, A. and Pulsipher, A. (2007). The Vulnerability of Global Cities to Climate Hazards'. Environment and Urbanization 19(1): 39-64.

Deadman, P. (*nd*). Household decision making and patterns of land use change in LUCITA: An agent based simulation of the Altamira region, Brazil. Accessed May 8 2014, Available at:

http://www.mssanz.org.au/modsim05/papers/deadman.pdf

Delzon, S., Corona, P., Kolstrom, M., Lexer, M. J. and Marchetti, M. (2010). Climate change impacts, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of European forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management*, Vol. 259: 698–709.

Deng, J. S., Wang, K., Hong, Y. and Qi, J. G. (2009). Spatio-temporal dynamics and evolution of land use change and landscape pattern in response to rapid urbanization. *Landsc. Urban Plan.*,92, 187–198, doi:10.1016/j.landurbplan.2009.05.001

Department of Environment and Resource Management (2011). Climate Change: Adaptation for Queensland. State of Queensland, Office of Climate Change, Issue Paper Government, Brisbane. Available :<u>http://www</u>.climatechange.qld.gov.au/pdf/climateqreport/climateqreport.pdf accessed 19 December 2013

Ding, C. (2004). Urban spatial development in the land policy reform era: evidence from Beijing.

Urban Studies 41: 1889–1907.

Dousset, B., & Gourmelon, F. (2003). Satellite multi-sensor data analysis of urban surface temperatures and landcover. *Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing* 58: 43–54.

Dunn, C. E. (2007). Participatory GIS—a people's GIS?. *Progress in human geography* 31(5): 616-637.

Dutta, V. (2012). Land Use Dynamics and Peri-urban Growth Characteristics Reflections on Master Plan and Urban Suitability from a Sprawling North Indian City. *Environment and Urbanization ASIA* 3(2): 277–301.

Eledi, J. A. and Kuusaana, E. D. (2014). Uncontrolled Urbanization in Ghana: A Concern for Food Systems in the Wa Municipality. *Journal of Sustainable Development Studies* Vol. 6 (2):

260-293. Accessed on 21 January at: <u>http://scholar.lib.vt.edu/theses/available/etd-</u>102599160233/unrestricted/ReferencesFin.PDF

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA 2010). Sustainable Development Action Plan (SDAP) —Securing the Future for the next Generation of Ghanaians National Programme on Sustainable Consumption And Production (SCP) For Ghana (2011-2016) Volume 2, With support from United Nations Environment Programme and NREG (Natural Resources and Environmental Governance) Programme, 452pp.

Ezber, Y., O.L. Sen, T. Kindap, and Karaca M. (2007). Climatic effects of urbanization in Istanbul: A statistical and modeling analysis. *International Journal of Climatology* 27: 667–679.

Fall, S., Niyogi, D., Gluhovsky, A., Pielke Sr, R.A., Kalnay, E and Rochon, G. (2010). Impacts of LUL Con temperature trends over the continental United States: assessment using the North American Regional Reanalysis. *Int. J. Climatol. Vol.* 30: 1980–1993

Fenske, J. (2011). Land Tenure investment incentives: Evidence from West Africa. *Journal of Development Economics*, 95: 137-156.

Fiadzigbey, M. E. (2006). Customary Land Administrator in Ghana – Challenges and Prospects Shaping the Change XXIII FIG Congress Munich, Germany, October 8-13, 2006, 11pp.

Fischer G., M. Shah and H. van Velthuizen (2002). Climate Change and Agricultural Vulnerability, IIASA. Climate Data, Land Data, Dev. Data & Policy, http://www.iiasa.ac.at/Research/LUC/JB-Report.pdf

ANF

Foley, J.A., Defries, R., Asner, G.P. and others (2005). Global consequences of land use changes. Science 309: 570-574.

Foody G. M. (2002). Status of land cover classification accuracy assessment. Remote

th

Sensing Environment 80; 185–201. Accessed 18 November 2014 available at

http://www2.geog.ucl.ac.uk/~mdisney/teaching/GEOGG141/papers/foody.pdf

Forkuo, E.K. (2011). Flood Hazard Mapping using Aster Image data with GIS. *International* th *Journal of Geomatics and Geosciences* Vol. 1 (4): 21. Accessed on 20 January, 2014 at:

http://ipublishing.co.in/jggsvol1no12010/EIJGGS2051.pdf

Forsyth, T. (2008). Political ecology and the epistemology of social justice. *Geoforum* 39 (2008) 756–764. <u>http://personal.lse.ac.uk/forsytht/forsyth_geoforum_blaikie%20paper.pdf_accessed</u> 20 July 2015.

Fu, C.B. and Yuan, H. L. (2001). An virtual numerical experiment to understanding the impacts

of recovering natural vegetation on the summer climate and environmental conditions in East

Asia. Chinese Science Bulletin 46: 1199-1203.

Gallopin, G. (2006). Linkages between vulnerability, resilience, and adaptive capacity. Global

Environ Change 16(3):293–303.

Gambarova, Y., Gambarov, A., Rustamov, R., Sefikhanly, V., Kerimly, U., Zeynalova, M. (2013). Rare Vegetation Degradation in Relation to Cattle Grazing in Gobustan, Azerbaijan: Classification and Change Detection from Remotely-Sensed Images. *International Geoinformation Research and Development Journal 4*: 1–9.

Gao, X., Yong, L. and Lin, W. (2003). Simulation of effects of land use change by a regional climate model. *Advances in Atmospheric Sciences* 20: 583–592.

SANE NO

Gao, X.-J., Zhang, D.-F., Chen, Z.-X. and others (2007). Land use effects on climate in China as simulated by a regional climate model. *Science China Earth Sciences* 50: 620-628.

Garnaut, R. (2008). The Garnaut climate change review: final report. Cambridge University

Press: Cambridge, UK) 616.

Garschagen, M. (2010). Potential humanitarian crises and climate change adaptation in the coupled social-ecological systems of the Mekong Delta, Vietnam. In: Shen, X., Downing, T.E., Hamza, M. (eds) Tipping points in humanitarian crises: from hot spots to hot systems, 13.

Garschagen, M., Renaud, F.G., and Birkmann, J. (2011). Dynamic resilience of peri-urban agriculturalists in the Mekong Delta under pressures of socio-economic transformation and climate change. In Environmental change and agricultural sustainability in the Mekong Delta (pp. 141-163). Springer Netherlands.

Geist, H. J. and Lambin, E.F. (2004). Dynamic causal patterns of desertification. *Bioscience* 54:817–829.

Geist, H. and Lambin, E. (2002). Proximate causes and underlying driving forces of tropical deforestation. *Bioscience* 52: 143–150.

Mininstry of Lands and Forestry (1999). National Land Policy. Accra, June 1999, pp.1-11

Ghana Statistical Service (GSS, 2014). *The 2010 Population and Housing Census. District Analytical Report of the Bosomtwe District*; Ghana Statistical Service: Accra, Greater Accra Region, Ghana, 96p.

Gimona, A., Poggio, L., Brown, I., Castellazzi, M. (2012). Woodland networks in a changing climate: threats from land use change. *Biological Conservation* 149: 93–102.

J SANE N

M

Goldewijk, K. K., Beusen, A. van Drecht, G. and de Vos, M. (2011). The HYDE 3.1 GrêtRegamey, A., Kytzia, S. (2007) Integrating the valuation of ecosystem services into the input– output economics of an Alpine region. *Ecological Economics* 786–798.

Gurara, D. Z and Birhanu D. (2012). Large-scale land acquisitions in Africa. *African Economic Brief* 3 (5): 1-12.

Guy, S., and Henneberry, J. (2000). Understanding urban development processes: integrating the economic and the social in property research. Urban Studies, 37(13): 2399-2416.

Hacklay, M.E. (2002). Virtual reality and GIS. Virtual reality in geography: 47-57.

Hardie-Porter, K.R. (2012). Climate Change and Bush Fire Threats in Peri-urban Areas: A Critical Examination of Strategic Land Use Planning Practices Used in Achieving Community Resilience. Griffith University.

Harris, T.M., Weiner, D., Warner, T., and Levin, R. (1995). Pursuing social goals through participatory GIS: redressing South Africa's historical political ecology. Ground truth: The social implications of geographic information systems, 196-222.

Harshvardhan, S.E., Benkovitz, C.M., and Guo, G. (2002). Aerosol influence on cloud microphysics examined by satellite measurements and chemical transport modeling. *Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences*, 59: 714–725.

Heimlich, R. E. and Anderson, W.D. (2001). Development at the Urban Fringe and Beyond: Impacts on Agriculture and Rural Land. Economic Research Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture. *Agricultural Economic Report* No. 803, 80p.

Higginbottom, T. P. and Symeonakis, E. (2014). Assessing Land Degradation and Desertification Using Vegetation Index Data: Current Frameworks and Future Directions. *Remote Sensing* 6: 9552-9575.

Hines, J. (2010). In pursuit of experience: the postindustrial gentrification of the rural American West. *Ethnography* Vol. 11(2): 285–308.

Hofmeister, E., Moede, R.G., Wesenberg, K., Abbott, R., Work, T., Schuler, K., Sleeman, J., Winton, J. (2012). *Climate change and wildlife health: direct and indirect effects. Fact Sheet 2010–3017*, Revised 2012, USGS National Wildlife Health Center, 4pp.

Holling C. S. and Meffe G. K. (1996). Command and control and the pathology of natural resource management. *Conservation Biology* 10: 328–337.

Houghton, R. A., and Coauthors (2012). Chapter G2 Carbon emissions from land use and landcover change. *Biogeosciences Discussions* 9: 835-878.

Hoverter. S. P. (2012). Adapting to urban heat: a tool kit for local governments. Georgetown Climate Center, 92p. <u>programs/our-clinics/HIP/upload/Urban-Heat-Toolkit_RD2.pdf</u> (accessed 16 August 2014).

Huitt, W. (2009). Humanism and open education. Educational Psychology Interactive. Valdosta,

GA: Valdosta State University. Accessed 8 August, 2014 at http://www.edpsycinteractive.org/topics/affect/humed.html

Ino, A. and Hoyano, A. (1996). Development of a method to predict the heat island potential using remote sensing and GIS data. *Energy Building*, 23, 199–205.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2007). Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt K.B., Tignor, M. & Miller, H.L. (eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

http://oceanservice.noaa.gov/education/pd/climate/factsheets/whatrelationship.pdf (accessed 11 September 2014).

IPCC (2001). Climate Change in 2001; Synthesis report, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change *Cambridge University Press. Cambridge*.

IPCC (2007) —Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerabilityl, Working Group II Contribution to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, —Chapter 17: Assessment of Adaptation Practices, Options, Constraints and Capacityl, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 717-743.

IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2001) —Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability, Working Group II Contribution to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, —Chapter 18: Adaptation to Climate Change in the Context of Sustainable Development and Equity, Cambridge University Press,

Cambridge, pp. 877-912.

IPCC (2001). Climate Change in 2001; Synthesis report, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change *Cambridge University Press. Cambridge*.

IPCC (2008). Climate Change and Water, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, WMOUNEP, Technical Paper, VI, 214pp.

Irwin, E. G. and Geoghegan, J. (2001). Theory, Data, Methods: Developing Spatially Explicit Economic Models of Land Use change. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 85, 7–23.

IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature) (2007), *Gender and Climate Change*, <u>http://cmsdata.iucn.org/downloads/climate_change_gender.pdf</u>.

Jackson, B.; Dudley, N.; Jackson, W.; Jeanrenaud, J. -N.; Stolton, S.; Schlaepfer, R (2012). Assessing Forests at a Landscape Scale; Routledge: Oxford, UK, p.192.

Jepson, P, Jarvie J.K., MacKinnon, K., Monk, K.A. (2001). The end for Indonesia's lowland forests? *Science* 292: 859–61.

Jiménez-Muñoz, J. C., Sobrino, J. A., Gillespie, A., Sabol, D. and Gustafson, W. T. (2006). Improved land surface emissivities over agricultural areas using ASTER NDVI; *Remote Sensing of Environment* 103: 474–487. Jiménez-Muñoz, J. C. and Sobrino, J.A. (2013). Ageneralized single-channel method for retrieving land surface temperature from remote sensing data. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, Vol. 108 (D22): 1-9.

Joshi J. P. and Bhatt, B. (2012). Estimating Temporal Land Surface Temperature Using Remote Sensing: A Study of Vadodara Urban Area, Gujarat. *International Journal of Geology, Earth and Environmental Sciences Vol. 2 (1) May-August, pp.123-130.*

Kandji, S.T. and Verchot, L.V. (2007). Impacts of and Adaptation to Climate Variability and Climate Change in the East African Community: A Focus on the Agricultural Sector. ICRAF, Kang, Y., Khan, S. and Ma, X. (2009). Climate change impacts on crop yield, crop water productivity and food security –A review, *Progress in Natural Science*, Vol. 19 (12): 1665–1674

Kasanga, K. and Kotey, N. A. (2001). Land management in Ghana: building on tradition and modernity. International Institute of Environment and Development, London, 2001; 42pp. Accessed 19 June 2014. Available: www.pubs.iied.org/pdfs/9002IIED.pdf?pagewanted=all

Kepner, W.G., Watts, C.J., Edmonds, C.M., Maingi, J.K., Marsh, S.E. and Luna, G. (2000). A Landscape Approach for Detecting and Evaluating Change in a Semi-arid Environment.

Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, Vol. 64 (1): 179–95.

King, G. and Zeng, L. (2001). Logistic Regression in Rare Events Data. Society for Political Methodology, 2001; 27pp. Accessed 18 May 2013. Available: http://gking.harvard.edu/files/0s.pdf.

Klein G. K., Beusen, A., Van Drecht, G., and De Vos, M. (2011). The HYDE 3.1 spatially explicit database of human_induced global land_use change over the past 12,000 years. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, Vol. 20 (1): 73-86.

Kline, J. D., Alissa, M., Azuma, D. and Gray A. (2009). Evaluating Satellite Imagery–Based Land Use Data for Describing Forestland Development in Western Washington. *Western Journal of Applied Forestry* 24(4): 20-39.

Kline, J.D.; Azuma, D.L.; Moses A. (2003). Modeling the spatially dynamic distribution of humans in the Oregon (USA) Coast Range. *Landscape Ecology* 18(4): 347–361.

Kok, K., Farrow, A., Veldkamp, A., and Verburg, P. H. (2001). A method and application of multiscale validation in spatial land use models. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 85: 223-238.

Kok, M., Narain, V., Wonink, S. and Jaeger, J. (2006). Vulnerability of people and the Environment: An approach to UNEP's Global Environment Outlook. IN: Birkmann, J. (ed.) Measuring Vulnerability to Natural Hazards. Towards disaster resilient societies. UNU press, Hongkong, pp128-147.

Kombe, W. J. (2005). Land use dynamics in peri-urban areas and their implications on the urban growth and form: the case of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania Habitat International Vol. 29 (1): Pages 113–135.

Kruger, A.C. (2006). Observed Trends In Daily Precipitation Indices In South Africa: 1910–2004. *International Journal of Climatology* 26: 2275–2285. Published online 26 June 2006 in Wiley InterScience www.interscience.wiley.com DOI: 10.1002/joc.1368.

Kumar, R., Shankar, V., Kumar, M. (2011). Modelling of crop reference evapotranspiration: a review. *Universal Journal of Environmental Research & Technology* 1(3); 239-246. http://www.environmentaljournal.org/1-3/ujert-1-3-3.pdf (accessed 1 September 2014).

Kumar, S., M.V.K., Hansen, J. (2007). Climate Prediction and Agriculture. *Advances and Challenges*. Springer, Berlin, pp.306–309
Kumekpor, T. K. B. (2002). Research methods and techniques of social research. Son life press and services Accra, Ghana, 135p.

Kummer, D. M. and Turner, II B. L. (1994). The Human Causes of Deforestation in Southeast Asia Source. *BioScience*, Vol. 44 (5): 323-328 Published by American Institute of Biological Sciences.

Kusimi, J. M. (2008). Assessing land use and land cover change in the Wassa West District of Ghana using remote sensing. *GeoJournal*. 71: 249-259. Springer, Netherlands.

Lambin, E.F., Turner, II B.L., Geist H.J., Agbola S.B., Angelsen A., Bruce J.W., Coomes O., Dirzo R., Fischer G., Folke C. and others (2001) The Causes of Land-Use and Land-Cover Change: Moving Beyond the Myths. Global Environmental Change 11(4): 261-269

Lambin, E. F., Baulies X., Bockstael N. E., Fischer G., Krug T., Leemans R., Moran E. F., Rindfuss R. R., Sato Y., Skole D., Turner II B. L. and Vogel, C. (2000). Land-Use and LandCover Change (LUCC), Implementation Strategy. IGBP Report 48, IHDP Report 10 Stockholm, Bonn, IGBP, IHDP.

Lambin, E. F., Geist, H. J., and Lepers, E. (2003). Dynamics of Land-Use and Land Cover Change in Tropical Regions. *Annual Review of Environmental Resources* 28: 205–241.

Landis, J.R.; Koch, G.G. (1977). The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics 33*: 159–174.

Larbi, W O, and Kakraba-Ampeh, M. (2013). Securing Land Rights and Improving Land Use at the Grass Roots: Innovative Approaches to Secure Customary Land Rights in Ghana. Annual World Bank Conference on Land and Poverty. Washington D.C.

SANE

Larbi, W.O. (1996). Spatial planning and urban fragmentation in Accra. *Third World Planning Review* 18(2): 193-215.

Lawanson, T., Yadua, O., Salako, I.(2012). Environmental challenges of peri-urban settlements in the Lagos megacity.pp.275-285. In Manfred Schrenk, Vasily V. Popovich, Peter Zeile, Pietro Elisei (Eds): Proceedings of Real Corp 2012: Re-Mixing The City – Towards sustainability and resilience? Accessed August 5 2014, at: <u>http://www.corp.at/archive/CORP2012_40.pdf.</u>

Le, Q. B. Seidl, R and Scholz, R. W. (2012). Feedback loops and types of adaptation in the modelling of land-use decisions in an agent-based simulation. *Environmental Modelling & Software* Vols. 27-28: 83-96.

Lea, C. and Curtis, A. C. (2010). Thematic Accuracy Assessment Procedures: National Park Service Vegetation Inventory, Version 2.0. Natural Resource Report NPS/2010/NRR— 2010/204. National Park Service, Fort Collins, Colorado, 166p. Accessed on 21st November 2014 at http://www1.usgs.gov/vip/standards/NPSVI_Accuracy_Assessment_Guidelines_ver2.pdf

Leckebusch, C.G., Uibrich, U., Fröhlich, L., Pinto, J.G. (2007) Property loss potentials for European mid altitude storm in a changing climate. *Geophysical Research Letters* 34: 05703.

Leichenko, R. and O'Brien, K. (2002). The dynamics of rural vulnerability to global change; the case of Southern Africa. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 7 (1):1-18.

Lhomme, J., Mougou, R., Mansour, M. (2009). Potential impact of climate change ondurum wheat cropping in Tunisia. *Climatic Change* 96: 549–564.

Lian, L. and Shu, J. (2007). Numerical simulation of summer climate overcenter and east China using a regional climate model. *Journal of Tropical Meteorology* 23: 162–169.

Libby, L W. (2002). Rural Land Use Problems and Policy Options: Overview from A U.S. Perspective Paper prepared for the Research Workshop on Land Use Problems and Conflicts, Orlando, Florida, February 21-22, 2002.

Lindner M., Maroschek M., Netherer S., Kremer A., Barbati A., Garcia-Gonzalo J., Seidl R., Delzon S., Corona P., Kolstrom M., Lexer M.J., and Marchetti M. (2010). Climate change impacts,

adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of European forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management* 259: 698–709.

Lipton, A. E. and Ward, J. M. (1997). Satellite-view biases in retrieved surface temperatures in mountain areas. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 60: 92–100.

Little, P.E. (2007). Political ecology as ethnography: a theoretical and methodological guide. *Horizon Antropology*, Vol. 3: pp1-16. Accessed 20th July at 2015 <u>http://socialsciences.scielo.org/pdf/s_ha/v3nse/scs_a12.pdf</u>

Liu L. and Zhang Y. (2011). Urban Heat Island Analysis Using the Landsat TM Data and ASTER Data: A Case Study in Hong Kong. *Remote Sensing* Vol. 3: 1535-1552.

Longa, H., Gerhard K. Heilig, G.K., Lic, X. and Ming Zhang, M. (2007). Socio-economic development and land-use change: Analysis of rural housing land transition in the Transect of the Yangtse River, China. *Land Use Policy* 24: 141–153.

Longobardi, A. and Villani, P. (2009). Trend analysis of annual and seasonal rainfall time series in the Mediterranean area. *International Journal of Climatology*, Royal Meteorological Society, 9pp.

Loveland, T., Mahmood, R., Patel-Weynand, T., Karstensen, K., Beckendorf, K., Bliss, N., and Carleton, A. (2012). National climate assessment technical report on the impacts of climate and land use and land cover change. US Geological Survey Open-File Report, 1155, 87.

Lunetta, R.S., Ediriwickrema, J., Iiames, J., Johnson, D.M., Lyon, J.G., McKerrow, A., Pilant, A. A. (2003). Quantitative Assessment of a Combined Spectral and GIS Rule-Based LandCover Classification in the Neuse River Basin of North Carolina. *Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing*. *69*, 299–310.

Lunetta, R.S., Ediriwickrema, J., Iiames, J., Johnson, D.M., Lyon, J.G., McKerrow, A. Lupala, P. A. (2002). Peri-urban land management for rapid urbanisation: The case of Dar es Salaam. University of Dortmund. Faculty of spatial planning. SPRING centre.

Mackenzie, J. (2009). Land-Use/Land Cover Transitions in Delaware, 2002–2007. PhD Thesis, College of Agriculture & Natural Resources. University of Delaware, Newark, DE, USA, p. 7.

Maingi, J.K., Marsh S.E. (2002). An Accuracy Assessment of 1992 Landsat-MSS Derived Land cover for the Upper San Pedro Watershed (U.S./Mexico); United States Environmental Protection Agency: Washington, DC, USA, 2002; 29p.

Mallupattu, P.K.; Reddy, J.R.S. (2013). Analysis of Land Use/Land Cover Changes Using

Remote Sensing Data and GIS at an Urban Area, Tirupati, India. *Scientific World Journal*, 2013, doi:10.1155/2013/268623.

Mandere, M. N, Ness, B, and Anderberg, S. (2010). Peri-urban development, livelihood change

and household income: A case study of peri-urban Nyahururu, Kenya, Journal of Agricultural

Extension and Rural Development Vol. 2 (5): 73-83.

Manonmani, R.; Suganya, G.M.D. (2010). Remote Sensing and GIS Application in Change Detection Study In Urban Zone Using Multi Temporal Satellite. *International Journal of Geomatic and Geosciences* 1: 60–65.

Marshall, F., Waldman, L., McGregor, H., Mehta, L. and Randhawa, P. (2009). On the edge of sustainability: Perspectives on peri-urban dynamics. STEPS Working Paper 35, Brighton: STEPS Center.

Masanja, A.L. (2003). Drivers of Land Use Changes in Peri-Urban Areas of Dar es Salaam City, *Tanzania, 16p*.

WJ SANE NO

Mbithi, D. M., Demessie, E.T and Kashiri, T. (*nd*). The impact of LULC changes on LST; a case study of Addis Ababa City, Ethiopia, *Kenya Meteorological Services, Laikipia Airbase, Kenya, 8pp*.

McCall, Michael K. (2004). Nexus of GeoData Acquisition/Analysis & Indigenous Spatial Knowledge: Applications of GIS to ISK Issues: A Review. Enschede: ITC, PGM Dept. Draft (60p.).

McCarthy, J. (2008). Rural Geography: Globalizing the Countryside. *Progress in Human Geography* 32: 129–137.

McCusker, B., and Carr, E.R. (2006). The co-production of livelihoods and land use change: Case studies from South Africa and Ghana. *Geoforum*, **37**(5): 790-804.

McGee, T. (2009). Building Liveable Cities in the Twenty First Century Research and Policy Challenges for *the Urban Future of Asia*. Paper presented at the International Symposium on Sustainable Living.

Meehl, G. A., Stocker T.F., Collins, W.D, (2007). Global climate projections. In: Solomon S, Qin D, Manning M, *et al.*, editors. Climate change 2007: the physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. *Cambridge: Cambridge University Press*; 2007, pp. 749–844.

Mercer, J. (2010). Disaster Risk Reduction or climate change Adaptation: Are we reinventing the wheel? Journal of International Development, 22, pp. 247-264.

Meyer, W.B. (1996). Land use land cover change; challenges for geographers. Geo-Journal, 39 (3): 237-240.

Milly, P.C.D, Dunne K.A, Vecchia A.V. (2005). Global pattern of trends in stream flow and water availability in a changing climate. Nature, 438: 347-350.

Minia Z. (2004). Climate scenarios developed for climate change impact assessment in Ghana. The Netherlands Climate Change Studies Assistance Programme (NCCSAP). Phase 2—Part 1, Environmental Protection Agency, Ghana. Moser, S.C. and L. Dilling (eds.) (2007). *Creating a Climate for Change: Communicating Climate Change and Facilitating Social Change*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Moss, R.H., Edmonds, J.A., Hibbard, K.A., Manning, M.R., Rose, S.K., Van Vuuren, D.P., and Wilbanks, T.J. (2010). The next generation of scenarios for climate change research and assessment. Nature, 463(7282): 747-756.

Mousivand, A., Verhoef, W., Menenti, M. and Gorte, B. (2015). Modellin top of atmosphere Radiance over Heterogenous Non-Lambertian Rugged Terrain. *Remote Rensing*, 7 (2015): 80198044.

Muldavin, J. (2008). The time and place for political ecology: An introduction to the articles honoring the life-work of Piers Blaikie. *Geoforum* 39: 687–697. <u>http://joshuamuldavin.org/documents/publications/academic/time_place_political_ecology.pdf</u> accessed 20th July 2015.

Mustafa, A., Ahmed, S., Saroch E. and the Risk to Resilience Study Team, (2008). Pinning down Vulnerability: From narratives to numbers, From Risk to Resilience. Working Paper No 2, (eds.) Moench, M., Caspari, E. and Pokhrel, A., ISET, ISET-Nepal and ProVention, Kathmandu, Nepal. Pp 6-40.

Nagarajan, N.; Poongothai, S. (2011). Trend in Land Use/Land Cover Change Detection by RS and GIS Application. *Int. J. Eng. Technol.*, *3*, 263–269.

Naill, P. E. and Momani, M. (2009). Time series analysis model for rainfall data in Jordan: case study for using time series analysis. *American Journal of Environmental Science* 5(5); 599-604, <u>http://thescipub.com/PDF/ajessp.2009.599.604.pdf</u> (accessed 1 September 2014).

ANE

Naing, L. Winn, T. and Rusli B. N. (2006). Practical Issues in Calculating the Sample Size for Prevalence Studies. *Archives of Orofacial Sciences* 2006; 1: 9-149. Accessed August 16 2104, at:

http://www.kck.usm.my/ppsg/aos/Vol_1/09_14_Ayub.pdf

National Centre for Science Education (NCSE 2012). How will climate change affect the world and society? http://ncse.com/climate/climate-change-101/how-climate-change-affects-world-society

(accessed 13 September 2014).

National Development Planning Commission (NDPC 2005). Growth and Poverty Reduction Strategy (GPRS II) (2006 – 2009). 147 p. Accessed August 15 2014, at:

http://planipolis.iiep.unesco.org/upload/Ghana/PRSP/Ghana%20PRSP%20June%202006.pdf

National Research Council (NRC 2002). Down to Earth: Geographic Information for Sustainable

Development in Africa. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

O'Brien, K., Quinlan, T. and Ziervogel, G. (2009). Vulnerability interventions in the context ofmultiplestressors:Lessonsfrom theSouthernAfrica VulnerabilityInitiative(SAVI). Environmental Science and Policy 12: 23-32.

Obeng-Odoom, F. (2012). Land reforms in Africa: Theory, practice, and outcome. *Habitat International*, 36: 161-170.

OECD (2006). Promoting Pro-Poor Growth Private Sector Development, 84pp. Accessed August 5 2014 at: http://www.oecd.org/development/povertyreduction/36427804.pdf

OECD (2008). Statement of Progress on Integrating Climate Change Adaptation into Development Co-operation by the Development Assistance Committee at the DAC High Level Meeting, 21 May 2008, OECD, Paris, www.oecd.org/dataoecd/ 44/53/40909509.pdf.

Olesen, J. E., Bindi, M., (2002). Consequences of climate change for European agricultural productivity, land use and policy. *European Journal of Agronomy* Vol. 16, 239-262.

Olesen, J. E., Carter, T.R., Diaz-Ambrona, C.H., Fronzek, S., Heidmann, T., Hickler, T., Holt, T., Minguez, M.I. and others (2007). Uncertainties in projected impacts of climate change on

European agriculture and terrestrial ecosystems based on scenarios from regional climate models. Climate Change, 81:123–143.

Olokeogun, O. S., Iyiola, K. and Iyiola O. F. (2014). Application of remote sensing and GIS in land use/land cover mapping and change detection in Shasha forest reserve, Nigeria. The International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, Volume XL-8, 2014 ISPRS Technical Commission VIII Symposium, 09 – 12 December 2014, Hyderabad, India, pp.613-616.

Onoz, B. and Bayazit, M. (2003). The power of statistical tests for trend detection. *Turkish Journal of Engineering and Environmental Sciences* 27: 247–251.

Ottichilo, W., Becker, R. and Khamal, E. (2002). The use of High Resolution QuickBird Satellite Imagery in Urban Planning and Management: A Case of the City of Nairobi. In MAPS Geosystems Publications *pp*.1-5.

Owusu, G. and Agyei, J. (2007). Changes in Land Access, Rights and Livelihoods in Peri-urban Ghana: The case of Accra, Kumasi and Tamale metropolis. Institute of Statistical, Social and Economic Research (ISSER), Accra.

Owusu, G. (2008). Indigenes and Migrants' Access to Land in Peri-Urban Areas of Accra, Ghana *International Development Planning Review* Vol. 30 (2):177–198.

Paavola, J. (2008). Livelihoods, vulnerability and adaptation to climate change in Morogoro, Tanzania. *Environmental Science and Policy* 11: 642-654.

Pánek, J. (2011). Participatory and Public Participation GIS: A Phenomenon of Neocartography with a High Potential in Developing Countries. The Scale of Globalization, 235-243.

APLE

Parry, M.L., Rosenzweig, C., Iglesias, A., Livermore, M., Fischer, G. (2004). Effects of climate change on global food production under SRES emissions and socioeconomic scenarios. *Global Environmental Change*, 14: 53–67.

Paull, J. (2010). Mr. Carbon Farming. *Acres Australia*, Vol. 18 (1): 28 Accessed on 21 January at: http://orgprints.org/16641/1/16641.pdf

st

Pawan, G., Sundar, C. A. and Jun, W. (2006). Satellite remote sensing of particulate matter and air quality assessment over global cities. Atmospheric Environment, 40: 5880–5892.

Peck J. A, Green R. R, Shanahan T. M, King J. W, Overpeck J. T. and Scholz, C. A. (2004). A magnetic mineral record of Late Quaternary tropical climate variability from Lake Bosumtwi, Ghana. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 215, 37-57.

Peng, J., Wu, J., Yin, H.; Li, Z., Chang, Q. and Mu, T. (2008). Rural Land Use Change during 1986–2002 in Lijiang, China, Based on Remote Sensing and GIS Data. *Sensors 8*, 8201–8223.

Perera, H. K. W. I, Sonnadara D.U.J, Jayewardene D. R. (2002). Forecasting the occurrence of Rainfall in selected weather, stations in the wet and dry zones of Sri Lanka. *Sri Lankan Journal of Physics* 3, 39-52. <u>file:///C:/Users/Divine/Downloads/184-745-1</u> PB%20(1).pdf (accessed 1 September 2014).

Pielke, R.A (2005). Land Use and Climate Change. Cooperative Institute for Research in

Environmental Sciences (CIRES), University of Colorado, http://icecap.us/docs/change/Land%20Use%20and%20Climate%20Change.pdf.

Pielke, R. A., and Others, (2011). Land use/land cover changes and climate: modeling analysis and observational evidence. *Climate Change* 2: 828-850.

SANE

NC

Polyakov, M. and Zhang, D. (2008) Population Growth and Land Use Dynamics along Urban– Rural Gradient. *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics*

40 (2): 649–666.

Pongratz, J. and Ken Caldeira, K. (2012). Attribution of atmospheric CO2 and temperature increases to regions: importance of preindustrial land use Change. *Environmental Research Letters* 7; 1—8.

Praskievicz, S., and Chang, H. (2009) A review of hydrological modelling of basin-scale climate change and urban development impacts. *Progress in Physical Geography*, 33(5): 650-671.

Prenzel, B.G. (2002). Remote Sensing and GIS for Thematic Land Surface Analysis and Monitoring: A Case Study of the Tondano Study Area, Sulawesi, Indonesia. Master's Thesis, Department of Geography, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada, 2002; p.163.

Prenzel, B.G. (2004). Remote sensing-based quantification of land-cover and land-use change for planning. *Programme and Planning 61*, 281–299.

Puri, S.K. (2003). Challenges of Participation & Knowledge in GIS Implementation for Land Management: case studies from India. Oslo: University of Oslo, Institute of Informatics, PhD Thesis.

Quan, J., Oudwater, N., Pender, J. and Martin, A. (2001). GIS and Participatory Approaches in Natural Resources Research. Socio-economic Methodologies for Natural Resources Research. Best Practice Guidelines. Chatham, UK: Natural Resources Institute.

Rajeshwari, A and Mani, N.D. (2014). Estimation of land surface temperature of Dindigul District using Landsat 8 data. *International Journal of Research in Engineering and Technology*, Vol. 3(5): 122-126.

Rakodi, C. (ed.) (1997). The Urban Challenge in Africa: Growth and Management of its Large Cities. Tokyo: United Nations University Press.

SANE N

Ramachandran, M. (2010). Application of Remote Sensing and GIS

http://ocw.unu.edu/international-network-on-water-environment-and-health/unu-inweh-course1mangroves/Application-of-remote-sensing-and-GIS.pdf (*Date Accessed*; 10/05/2012).

Ramankutty, N. and Foley, J.A. (1999). Estimating historical changes in global land cover: Croplands from 1700 to 1992. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 13: 997–1027.

Rao L.Y, Sun G, Ford C.R, Vose J.M (2011). Modeling potential evapotranspiration of two forested watersheds in the Southern Appalachians. *Advanced Forest Hydrology* 54 (6); 2067-2078 2011. <u>http://coweeta.uga.edu/publications/10646.pdf</u> (accessed 13 September 2014).

Ravetz, J., Fertner, C., & Nielsen T. S. (2013). Remaking Cities Contradictions of the recent urban environment. In Nilsson K, Pauliet. S, Bell, S. Aalbers, C and Nielsen, S.T (2013, eds.) Peri-urban futures: Scenarios and models for land use change in Europe. pp. 13-44. DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-30529-0_2, Routledge Publications, New York, USA and Canada.

Regos, A., Ninyerola, M., Moré, G., and Pons, X. (2015). Linking land cover dynamics with driving forces in mountain landscape of the Northwestern Iberian Peninsula. *International Journal Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation 38*: 1–14.

Rimal, B. (2011). Application of Remote Sensing and GIS, Land Use/Land Cover Change in Kathmandu Metropolitan City, Nepal. *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Information Technology* 23: 80–86.

Roberts, D. (2008). Durban Adapts to Climate Changel, case study in *Cities and Climate Change*, ID21 Insights, Institute of Development Studies, January.

Rounsevell, M.D.A., Reginster, I., Arau´jo, M. B., Carter, T.R.; Dendoncker, N., Ewert, F., House, J. I., Kankaanpa, S., Leemans, R., Metzger, M. J., *et al.* (2006). A coherent set of future land use change scenarios for Europe. *Agriculture Ecosystem Environment 114:* 57–68.

Safari, B. (2012). Trend analysis of the mean annual temperature in Rwanda during the last fifty-

two years. Journal of Environmental Protection 3: 538-551

http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/jep.2012.36065 (accessed 1 September 2014).

Salvati, L. and Carlucci, M. (2014). Urban Growth and Land-Use Structure in Two Mediterranean Regions: An Exploratory Spatial Data Analysis. SAGE Open October-December st 2014: 1–13. Accessed on 21 January at: http://sgo.sagepub.com/content/spsgo/4/4/2158244014561199.full.pdf

Salvati, L., Saterianob, A. and Zitti, M. (2013). Long-term land cover changes and climate variations –A country-scale approach for a new policy target. *Land use Policy* 30; 401–407

Samat, N., Hasni, R., Elhadary, E. and Abdalla, Y. (2011). Modelling Land Use Changes at the Peri- Urban Areas Using Geographic Information Systems and Cellular Automata Model. *Journal of Sustainable Development*. 2011; 4(6): 72-84.

Satterthwaite, D. *et al.* (2007). Adapting to Climate Change in Urban Areas; the Possibilities and Constraints in Low- and Middle-Income Nations^{||}, *IIED Working Paper*, IIED, London.

Scafetta, N. (2010). Climate change and its causes; A discussion about some key issues Science & Public Policy Institute (SPPI), 56p. Accessed 11 September 2014 at http://scienceandpublicpolicy.org/images/stories/papers/originals/climate_change_cause.pdf.

Scherr S. J. and Sajal, S. (2009). Mitigating Climate Change through Food and Land Use. Worldwatch Report 179, Ecoagriculture Partners and World watch Institute, 2009 Washington, D.C. ISBN 978-1-878071-91-0. <u>www.ecoagriculture.org/publications.php.</u>

Schilling, J., Freier, K.P., Hertig, E., and Scheffran, J. (2012). Climate change, vulnerability and adaptation in North Africa with focus on Morocco. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 156: 12-26.

Schindler, J. (2009). A multi-agent system for simulating land-use and land-cover change in the Atankwidi catchment of Upper East Ghana. *Ecology and Development 68: 1-12*.

Schreiber, J. and Stein, P. (2005). Review of the literature on the evidenced-based Practice in Physical Therapy. The internet Journal of Allied Health Sciences and Practice 3(4): 1-10.

Sexton J., Everingham, Y. and Skocaj, D. (2013). Regional climate change projections for the Tully sugar region. 20th International Congress on Modelling and Simulation, Adelaide, Australia, 1–6 December 2013. <u>http://www.mssanz.org.au/modsim2013/L11/sexton.pdf</u> (accessed 16 August 2014).

Shalaby, A., Aboel Ghar, M., and Tateishi, R. (2004). Desertification impact assessment in Egypt using low resolution satellite data and GIS. *The International Journal of Environmental Studies*, 61(4), 375–384.

Shalaby, A and Gad, A. (2010). Urban Sprawl Impact Assessment on the Fertile Agricultural Land of Egypt Using Remote Sensing and Digital Soil Database, Case Study: Qalubiya Governorate; USEgypt Workshop on Space Technology and Geo-information for Sustainable Development: Cairo, Egypt, 14–17 June 2010.

Shanahan, T.M., Beck, W. J., Overpeck, J. T., Pigati, J. S., Peck, J. A., Scholz, C.A., Heil Jr., C.
W., and King, K. (2012). Late Quaternary sedimentological and climate changes at Lake Bosumtwi
Ghana: New constraints from laminae analysis and radiocarbon age modeling.

Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology Vols. 361–362 (2012) 49–60.

Shanahan, T.M., Overpeck J.T., Scholz C.A., Sharpe E. and Arko J. (2006). Simulating the response of a closed basin lake to recent climate and land-use changes in tropical West Africa (Lake Bosumtwi, Ghana). *Hydrological Processes* 1(13); 1678-1691. doi: 10.1002/hyp.6359

(accessed 19 August 2014).

Shirbinen, A.D.; Schiller, A. and Pulsipher, A. (2007). The vulnerability of global cities to climate hazards. *Environment and Urbanization* Vol. 19 (1), pp. 39-64.

Shu, J., Dearing, J.A., Morse, A.P., Yu, L., and Yuan N. (2001). Determining the sources of atmospheric particles in Shanghai, China, from magnetic and geochemical properties. Atmospheric Environment, 35: 2615–2625.

Simon, D., MacGregor, D., Nsiah-Gyabaah, K. and Thompson, D. (2003). Poverty Elimination, North-South Research Collaboration, and the Politics of Participatory Development. *Development in Practice* 13(1): 40-56.

Simon, D., McGregor, D., Nsiah-Gyabaah, K. (2004). The changing urban-rural interface of African cities: definitional issues and an application to Kumasi, Ghana. *Environmental Urban* 16(1): 235–47.

Simon, D. (2008). Urban Environments: Issues on the Peri-Urban Fringes. The Annual Review of Environmental Resources 33:167–85, Environ.annualreviews.org.

Simon, L. S., Xepapadeas, T., Crépin, A-S., Norberg, J., deZeeuw, A., Folke, C., Hughes, T., Daily, G., Arrow, K., Barrett, S., Ehrlich, P., Kautsky, N., Mäler, K- G., Polasky, S., Troell, M., Vincent J. R. and Walker, B. (2013). Social-ecological systems as complex adaptive systems: modeling and policy implications. *Environment and Development Economics*, 18: 111-132.

Simon, D., McGregor, D., Thompson, D. (2006). The search for peri-urban resources sustainability. In: McGregor D, Simon D, Thompson D (eds) The peri-urban interface: approaches to sustainable natural and human resource use. Earth scan, London, pp 1-17 *Sinica* 60: 1-16.

Siva Kumar, M.V.K. and Hansen, J. (2007) Climate Prediction and Agriculture. Advances and Challenges. Springer, Berlin, pp.306–309.

SANE NO

Siva kumar, M.V.K. (2007). Interactions between climate and desertification. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, Vol. 142, 143-155.

Slingo, J. (2013). Statistical models and the global temperature record.

accessed 10 September 2014 at http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/media/pdf/2/3/Statistical_Models_Climate_Change_May_2013.pdf

Smith, R. B. (2012). Introduction to Remote Sensing of Environments (RSE), with TNT Mips. Accessed 10th May 2013 at http://www.microimages.com. Sobrino, J A., El Kharraz, J and Li, Z-L (2003). Surface temperature and water vapour retrieval from MODIS data. *International Journal of Remote Sensing Vol.* 24; 5161–5182.

Sobrino, J. A., Jiménez-Muñoz, J. C. and Paolinib L. (2004). Land surface temperature retrieval from LANDSAT TM 5. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 90 (2004) 434–440.

Sowers, J., Vengosh, A., Weinthal, E. (2011). Climate change, water resources, and the politics of adaptation in the Middle East and North Africa. Climatic Change, 104: 599–627.

Sreenivasulu, V.; Bhaskar, P.U. (2010). Change Detection in Land use and land cover using Remote Sensing and GIS Techniques. *International Journal of Engineering, Science and Technology* 2: 7758–7762.

Srivastava, P.K., Majumdar, T. J and Bhattacharya A.K. (2010). Study of land surface temperature and spectral emissivity using multi-sensor satellite data. *Journal of Earth System Sciences Vol.* 119 (1): 67–74.

Stokols, D., Lejano, R. P and Hipp, J. (2013). Enhancing the Resilience of Human–Environmen Systems: a Social Ecological Perspective. *Ecology and Society* 18(1): 7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ES-05301-180107</u>. Accessed 20th July 2015.

Sulieman, H. M., and Elagib, N. A. (2012) Implications of climate, land-use and land-cover changes for pastoralism in eastern Sudan. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 85: 132-141.

Sunderlin, W.D., Angelsen A., Resosudarmo, D.P., Dermawan, A., and Rianto, E. (2001). Economic crisis, small farmer well-being, and forest cover change in Indonesia. *World Development*, 29(5):767–82 Suresh, Y., Balachandar, D., Murthy, K. R., Muruganandam, R., Kumaraswamy, K. (2011). Land Use/Land Cover Change Detection Through Using Remote Sensing and GIS Technology—A Case Study of St. Thomas Mount Block, Kancheepuram District, Tamil Nadu. *International Journal of Current Research 3:* 501–504.

Thomas, A. (2008). Agricultural irrigation demand under present and future climate scenarios in China. *Global Planetary Change* 60: 306–326.

Thomas, R. J. (2008). Opportunities to reduce the vulnerability of dryland farmers in Central and West Asia and North Africa to climate change. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment*, 126: 36–45.

Thurman, K. G. (2010). Land Use Regulations and Urban Planning Initiatives in Accra, Ghana. PLAN A6211.001 Advanced Issues in Development Planning, 35pp.

Toulmin, C. and Quan, J. (eds) (2000). Evolving Land Rights, Policy and Tenure in Africa DFID/IIED/NRI, London.

Tsai, K. S. (2015). Financing Small and Medium Enterprises in China: Recent Trends and Prospects beyond Shadow Banking. HKUST IEMS working papers are distributed for discussion and comment purposes. Accessed 22nd January 2016 at http://iems.ust.hk/wpcontent/uploads/2015/05/IEMSWP2015-24.pdf.

Turner, B.L., II, Cortina Villar, S., Foster, D., Geoghegan, J., Keys, E., Klepeis, P., Lawrence, D., Macario Mendoza, P. (2001). Deforestation in the southern Yucatán peninsular region: An integrative approach. Forest Ecology and Management, 154 (3): 343-370.

Uchegbulam, O.; Ayolabi, E.A. (2013). Satellite Image Analysis using Remote Sensing Data in Parts of Western Niger Delta, Nigeria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Engineering Applied Sciences*, *4*; 612–617.

United Nations Environment Programme and NREG (Natural Resources and Environmental Governance) Programme, 452pp.

Van Asselen, S. and Verburg, P.H. (2013). Land cover change or land-use intensification: simulating land system change with a global-scale land change model. *Global Change and Biology* 19: 3648–3667.

Van Vuuren, D.P., Meinshausen, M., Plattner, G.K., Joos, F., Strassmann, K.M., Smith, S.J., and Reilly, J.M. (2008). Temperature increase of 21st century mitigation scenarios. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105 (40): 15258-15262.

Vejre, H. (2008). Land Use Planning and Management in Urban and Peri-urban areas. *Land Use, Land Cover and Soil Science* Vol. 4:1-5.

Veldkamp, A. and Lambin E.F. (2001). Predicting land-use change. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 85: 1–6.

Verburg, P. H., Neumann, K., and Nol, L. (2011) Challenges in using land use and land cover data for global change studies. Global Change Biology, 17(2): 974-989.

Verstraete, M. M., Brink, A. B., Scholes, R.J., Beniston, M. and Stafford, S. M. (2008). Climate change and desertification: Where do we stand, where should we go? *Global and Planetary Change*, Vol. 64(3-4):105-110.

Virgilio, N., and Marshall, S. (2009). Forest Carbon Strategies in Climate Change Mitigation: Confronting Challenges Through On-the-Ground Experience; The Nature Conservancy: Arlington, VA, USA, 64p.

Vitousek, P.M., Mooney, H. A., Lubchenco, J. and Melillo, J. M. (1997). Human domination of Earth's ecosystems Science, 277: 494-499.

Vizzari, M. (2011). Peri-Urban Transformations in Agricultural Landscapes of Perugia, Italy. *Journal of Geographic Information System 3:* 145–152.

Vlassova, L., Pérez-Cabello, F., Mimbrero, M.R., Llovería, R. M. and García-Martín, A. (2014). Analysis of the Relationship between Land Surface Temperature and Wildfire Severity in a Series of Landsat Images. *Remote Sensing Vol. 6*; 6136-6162.

Vlek, P.L., Le Q.B. and Tamene, L. (2010). Assessment of Land Degradation, Its Possible Causes, and Threat to Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa. In; Food Security and Soil Quality, edited by R. Lal and B. A. Stewart, 2010; 57–86. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.

Voogt, J. A and Oke, T.R. (2003). Thermal remote sensing of urban climates. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, Vol. 86 (2003): 370–384.

Vrolijk, F. (2013). The local impacts of land grabbing for biofuel feedstock plantations in Ghana.
Van Hall Larenstein University of Applied Sciences, Tropenbos International,
August2013 Velp, Netherland. 61p Accessed June 21st 2014 at: <u>http://edepot.wur.nl/279722</u>

 Walker, P. A. (2006). Political ecology: where is the policy? Progress in Human Geography 30, 3

 (2006):
 382–395.

 http://www.geog.uoregon.edu/walker/Where%20is%20the%20policy.pdf

 accessed 20th July 2015.

Walz, A., Lardelli, C., Behrendt, H., Grêt-Regamey, A., Lundström, C., Kytzia, S., and Bebi, P. (2007) Participatory scenario analysis for integrated regional modelling. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 81(1): 114-131.

WaterAid (2009). A study on land tenure in urban areas report, WaterAid, April, 2009, 60p.

Weerakoon, K.G.P.K. (2013). GIS Assisted Suitability Analysis For urban Agriculture; as a Strategy for Improving Green Spaces in Colombo Urban Area. *International Journal of Remote Sensing and Geosciences*, 2: 56–62.

Weng, Q. (2001). A remote sensing–GIS evaluation of urban expansion and its impact on surface temperature in the Zhujiang Delta, China. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, Vol. 22, (10); 1999–2014.

Weng, Q., Lu, D. and Schubring, J. (2004). Estimation of land surface temperature–vegetation abundance relationship for urban heat island studies. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 89;

467-483.

Widyasamratri, H., Souma, K., Suetsugi T., Ishidaira H., Ichikawa Y., Kobayashi H., and Inagaki, I. (2013). Air Temperature Estimation from Satellite Remote Sensing to Detect the Effect of Urbanization in Jakarta, Indonesia. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Engineering and Applied Sciences* Vol. 4(6): 800-805.

Willmott, C. J., Robeson, S.M and Kenji M. K. (2012). Short Communication A refined index of model performance. *International Journal of Climatology* 32: 2088–2094.

Yaro, J. A. (2013). The perception of and adaptation to climate variability/change in Ghana by small-scale and commercial farmers. *Regional Environmental Change* 13, 1259-1272. https://www.academia.edu/3185222/The perception of and adaptation to climate variab ility change in Ghana by smallscale and commercial farmers. Regional Environmental Change. 2013. DOI 10.1007 s1011 3-013-0443-5 DOI

10.1007/s10113-013-0443-5 (accessed 10 September 2014).

Yuan, F. and Bauer M. E. (2007). Comparison of impervious surface area and normalized difference vegetation index as indicators of surface urban heat island effects in Landsat imagery. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 106: 375–386.

Zheng Y., Qian Y., Manqian, M., *et al.* (2002). The effects of Vegetation change on regional climate I: Simulation results. *Acta Meteorologica Sinica* 60: 1–16.

Zhou, Q., Li, B. and Chen, Y. (2011). Remote Sensing Change Detection and Process Analysis of Long-Term Land Use Change and Human Impacts. *Ambio* 40: 807–818.

Zimmerer, K. S. (2004). Cultural Ecology: Placing Households in Human-Environment Studies– The Cases of Tropical Forest Transitions and Agrobiodiversity Change. *Progress in Human Geography* Vol. 28 (6): 795 – 806.



THESIS TOPIC: GEOINFORMATION MODELLING OF PERI-URBAN LAND USE/LAND COVER AND VARIABILITY CLIMATE CHANGE IN THE BOSOMTWE DISTRICT, ASHANTI REGION, GHANA

Dear Respondents

This questionnaire is administered to solicit your response on the peri-urban land use and its dynamic relationship to climate change in the Bosomtwe District. Your responses will go a long way in enabling the researcher acquire the requisite data to write a thesis for a purely an academic exercise. Your candid answers and opinions are therefore solicited. Be assured that your responses would be treated with the utmost confidentiality and the anonymity of your personality is assured. Thank you.

Name of Community_____

Category of respondent_

DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS OF RESPONDENTS

| 1.Position of respondent in the household | 1.Head | |
|---|-------------------|--|
| | 2.Spouse | |
| | 3.Daughter/son | |
| | 4.Parents | |
| | 5.Other (specify) | |
| | | |

| 2. Gender of household head | | | | |
|--|---|--|--|--|
| | 1.Male | | | |
| | 2. Female | | | |
| | | | | |
| 3. Age of household's head | 1. 20-35 years | | | |
| | 2. 36-45 years | | | |
| 1.2.10.11 | 3. 46-55 years | | | |
| | 4. 56-65 years | | | |
| | 5. 66-75 years | | | |
| | 6. 76+ years | | | |
| 5. Head of Household's educational level | 1. No formal education | | | |
| | 2. Primary | | | |
| | 3. JHS/Middle Sch. | | | |
| N 6 | 4. SHS/Tec/voc | | | |
| | 5. Tertiary | | | |
| | 6. Other, (specify) | | | |
| | | | | |
| 6 Marital Status of head of household | 1. Married | | | |
| | 2 Single | | | |
| | 3 Widow/widower | | | |
| | 4 Divorced | | | |
| CEN !! | I. Diviced | | | |
| | R/T | | | |
| 7. Size of Household | 1.1-5 people | | | |
| (A household is a person living alone or a group of people | 2. 6-10 people | | | |
| who eat from the same pot) GLSS, 2005/06. | 3. 11-15 people | | | |
| E C.Se | 4. 16-20 people | | | |
| - marco | 5. 20+ people | | | |
| | | | | |
| 8. Type of Household | 1. Single Household | | | |
| Z | 2. Multiple Household | | | |
| 121 22 | | | | |
| | 1.Couple only [] | | | |
| household? | 2.rarents with children [] 3 Couple and other relatives [] | | | |
| | 4.Parents, children and other relatives [] | | | |

DRIVERS OF PERI-URBANISATION AND LAND USE

| 17. in your opinion which of these describe |
|---|
| periurbanisation? |

| 1.Increasing population | |
|--|--|
| 2.Increasing infrastructure | |
| 4.Increasing population and infrastructure | |
| 5. Increasing residential activities | |

| | 6. Other | | |
|---|---|--|--|
| | | | |
| | Give reason (s) | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| 18. What use can peri-urban land be put to? | 1.Land for residential activities | | |
| LZN | 2. Land for commercial activities | | |
| | 3. Land for recreational activities | | |
| | 4. Land for administrative activities | | |
| | 5. A mixture of all land uses | | |
| 19. What are the causes of peri-urbanisation in this | 1.Availability of Physical infrastructure | | |
| district? | 2.Avaialability of land | | |
| | 3.Availability of social amenities | | |
| N N | 4.Easy Access to land | | |
| | 5.Availability of new markets | | |
| | 6. Congestion in the urban centres | | |
| | 8 A combination of the factors above 7 | | |
| | Other (please | | |
| | specify) | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| 20. What are the challenges associated with the peri-urban land use plans in the Bosomtwe area? | 1Rapid population growth | | |
| | 2. Unplanned settlements | | |
| and a | 3. Unauthorized Physical structures | | |
| 1 State | 4. Land use for administrative activities | | |
| | 5. Land encroachments onto public spaces | | |
| | 6. Other | | |
| 21. What are the challenges associated with the peri-urban in the Bosomtwe area? | | | |
| | | | |
| | Human and vehicular traffic convestion | | |
| Z | 2.Social vices | | |
| 121 | 3.Multiple sales of land | | |
| 12 - | 4.Land guardism | | |
| 4.0 | 5. Other | | |
| - A | | | |
| | | | |

| 22. What human activities affect land uses and cover in | | |
|--|--|----------|
| the Bosomtwe district? | 1.Subsistence agriculture | ٦ |
| | 2.Residential expansion | |
| | 3.Booming Commercial activities | - |
| | 4.Recreation and Hospitality | |
| | 5.Industrial (small to medium) | |
| E . 27. 16 | Others specify | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | — |
| 23. What are the factors determining the land use and land cover changes in the Bosomtwe peri-urban areas? | 1Easy access to land | _ |
| | 2. Changing demand trends in land use | _ |
| | 3. Deteriorating livelihoods of land owners | _ |
| | 4. Economic incentives for land use conversion | |
| | 5. Others specify | |
| | | |
| 24. What influence the household decision in conversion | 1Excess land sizes | + |
| of land to other uses in the peri-urban setting? | 2. Changing demand trends in land use | - |
| | 3. Deteriorating livelihoods of household | - |
| | 4. Economic incentives for land use conversion | - |
| | 5 Others specify | - |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| 25 What factors account for speculative domand for rural | | |
| and peri-urban land in the community? | 1 Delared tenure error coment | ٦ |
| | | _ |
| 1 Contra | 2.Easy access to land | _ |
| ma | 3.Relatively cheaper grounds rent | _ |
| | 4. Other | |
| | | |
| | | |
| 121 | 3 | |
| 26 What income categories of people are predominantly | 54 | |
| settling in the peri-urban areas? | 1 High income category (owner occupiers 3 | Т |
| | bedrooms +) | |
| W | 2.Middle income category (owner occupiers 2 | _ |
| SAN | bedrooms) | |
| | 3.Low income category (tenants up to 2 bedrooms) | |
| | 4. Mixed income categories (all rentals) | |
| 27. How do you respond to the conversion of | 1. Leased part for such activities | ╡ |
| agrarian/arable to residential? | 2. Relocate farmland to a farther place | \neg |
| | 3. Restrict the conversions | \neg |
| | | |







Appendix 2: Samples of Mean Monthly Rainfall figures for the 30 year period



Appendix 3: Land Surface Temperature Profile of the District in 1986



Appendix 4: Jeffries-Matusita Separability Distance for the 2010 Landsat ETM+

| Appendix 5: Data | Table for | Classical | Time Series | Analysis o | of Temperature |
|------------------|-----------|-----------|--------------------|------------|----------------|
|------------------|-----------|-----------|--------------------|------------|----------------|

| | | | | | | | · | |
|------|--------|------|--------|--------|-----|----------------|----------------|-------------------|
| Year | Series | T⁰ C | MA (3) | St, It | St | Deseasonalized | Trend (T°C) | Forecast (T°C) |
| 1981 | 1 | 31.1 | ° | N | 1 | 31 | 31.26 | 31.38 |
| 1982 | 2 | 31.2 | 31.3 | 1 | 1 | 31.1 | 31.32 | 31.44 |
| 1983 | 3 | 31.6 | 31.6 | | SAN | 31.6 | 31.38 | 31.39 |
| 1984 | 4 | 31.9 | 31.5 | 1.01 | 1 | 32 | 31.44 | 31.42 |
| 1985 | 5 | 30.9 | 31.4 | 0.99 | 1 | 31 | 31.5 | 31.4 |
| 1986 | 6 | 31.4 | 31.4 | 1 | 1 | 31.3 | 31.55 | 31.59 |
| 1987 | 7 | 31.8 | 31.6 | 1.01 | 1 | 31.8 | 31.61 | 31.67 |
| 1988 | 8 | 31.7 | 31.8 | 1 | 1 | 31.7 | 31.67 | 31.66 |

| 1989 | 9 | 31.8 | 31.8 | 1 | 1 | 31.8 | 31.73 | 31.73 |
|--------------------------|----|------|------|------|----|------|-------|---------------|
| 1990 | 10 | 31.8 | 31.8 | 1 | 1 | 31.8 | 31.79 | 31.8 |
| 1991 | 11 | 31.7 | 31.8 | 1 | 1 | 31.8 | 31.84 | 31.78 |
| 1992 | 12 | 31.8 | 31.7 | 1 | 1 | 31.8 | 31.9 | 31.86 |
| 1993 | 13 | 31.6 | 31.8 | 0.99 | 1 | 31.5 | 31.96 | 32.02 |
| 1994 | 14 | 32.1 | 32.1 | 1 | 1 | 32.1 | 32.02 | 32.01 |
| 1995 | 15 | 32.5 | 32.1 | 1.01 | 1 | 32.5 | 32.07 | 32.08 |
| 1996 | 16 | 31.7 | 32.2 | 0.99 | 1 | 31.8 | 32.13 | 32.09 |
| 1997 | 17 | 32.3 | 32.2 | 1 | 1 | 32.2 | 32.19 | 32.23 |
| 1998 | 18 | 32.6 | 32.4 | 1.01 | 1 | 32.6 | 32.25 | 32.31 |
| 1999 | 19 | 32.3 | 32.5 | 0.99 | 1 | 32.3 | 32.31 | 32.26 |
| 2000 | 20 | 32.5 | 32.3 | 1 | 1 | 32.5 | 32.36 | 32.35 |
| 2001 | 21 | 32.3 | 32.4 | 1 | 1 | 32.3 | 32.42 | 32.38 |
| 2002 | 22 | 32.4 | 32.4 | 1 | 1 | 32.4 | 32.48 | 32.43 |
| 2003 | 23 | 32.7 | 32.6 | 1 | 1 | 32.6 | 32.54 | 32.59 |
| 2004 | 24 | 32.8 | 32.9 | 1 | 1 | 32.7 | 32.59 | 32.67 |
| 2005 | 25 | 33.3 | 33.1 | 1.01 | 1 | 33.4 | 32.65 | 32.6 |
| 2006 | 26 | 33.1 | 33 | 1 | 1 | 33.1 | 32.71 | 32.72 |
| 2007 | 27 | 32.5 | 33 | 0.98 | 1 | 32.5 | 32.77 | 32.83 |
| 2008 | 28 | 33.5 | 33.1 | 1.01 | 1 | 33.4 | 32.77 | <u>32</u> .92 |
| 2009 | 29 | 33.3 | 33 | 1.01 | 1 | 33.2 | 32.88 | 32.9 |
| 2010 | 30 | 32.1 | 32.4 | 0.99 | 1 | 32.4 | 32.94 | 32.7 |
| 2011 | 31 | 31.7 | X | | 21 | 32 | 33 | 32.76 |
| 2012 | 32 | | | | 1 | | 33.06 | 32.82 |
| 2013 | 33 | | | | 1 | | 33.11 | 32.88 |
| 2014 | 34 | | | | 1 | | 33.17 | 32.93 |
| 2015 | 35 | | | | 1 | | 33.23 | 32.99 |
| THE TANK THE TO BROWLING | | | | | | | | |

255